Rayonier

Value From The Ground Up™




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(Dollars in millions)

2014 2013
SALES & EARNINGS
Sales $604 $660
Operating Income 98 109
Pro Forma Operating Income® 104 93
Net Income attributable to Rayonier® 99 372
Pro Forma Net Income? 66 88
ADJUSTED EBITDA BY SEGMENT «
Southern Timber $98 $87
Pacific Northwest Timber 51 54
New Zealand Timber 45 38
Real Estate 70 84
Trading 2 2
(=) Corporate / Other (31 (45)
Total Adjusted EBITDA $235 $220
CASH FLOW
Cash Provided by Operating Activities® $317 $545
Cash Available for Distribution® 115 83
DEBT & DEBT RATIOS
Debt $752 $1,574
Cash 162 200
Net Debt 590 1,374
Net Debt to Enterprise Value? 14% N/M

(a) These non-GAAP measures are defined and reconciled on Page 7.

(b) Includes discontinued operations.

(c) Adjusted EBITDA and Cash Available for Distribution are non-GAAP measures defined and reconciled on pages 27 and 46, respectively, of the annual report on Form 10-K.
(d) Enterprise Value based on equity market capitalization plus net debt at year end.
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DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS:

This past year was both historic and challenging for Rayonier. At the
end of the second quarter, after extensive preparation, the company
completed the spin-off of its Performance Fibers business into a new
publicly traded company, Rayonier Advanced Materials. Rayonier
shareholders received one share in the new company for every three
shares owned of Rayonier common stock. Rayonier also received an
infusion of cash associated with the spin-off, which was used to pay
down debt. This spin-off marked the culmination of Rayonier’s 88-year
history as a pulp manufacturer, and ushered in a new era as a pure-play
international timberland REIT with 2.7 million acres of timberland in the
U.S. and New Zealand.

I joined Rayonier in early June and, following the spin-off later that month, became its new President
and CEO. | was attracted to Rayonier based on its high-quality timberland portfolio, favorable market
position, and strong post-spin balance sheet. Our 1.9 million acre ownership across nine states in the
U.S. South is comprised of highly productive properties located in some very strong pulpwood and
sawlog markets. A subset of this southern portfolio, particularly along the Atlantic coastal corridor

in Florida and Georgia, contains lands with meaningful higher-and-better-use ("HBU") real estate
potential. In the Pacific Northwest, we own 372,000 acres in western Washington, which are well
positioned for both domestic and export markets. Our 65% ownership interest in the Matariki joint
venture consists of a highly productive 451,000-acre timberland portfolio across New Zealand that
gives us access to strong domestic and export markets. In addition, our New Zealand operation
includes a log trading business that provides export services to both Matariki and other timberland
owners in New Zealand and Australia, thereby providing us with valuable market intelligence.

In summary, our timberland portfolio is in some of the most productive timber growing geographies
and strongest log markets in the U.S. and New Zealand. In addition to an outstanding timberland
portfolio, we are blessed with a talented and dedicated group of employees who take great pride

in working for Rayonier. Combined with a balance sheet that has one of the lowest levels of debt as
measured against enterprise value, Rayonier is well positioned to grow.

2014 in Review

Full year 2014 net income attributable to Rayonier was $99 million, or $0.76 per share, compared to
$372 million, or $2.86 per share, in the prior year. The full year results for 2014 include $43 million of
income from discontinued operations and $10 million of charges associated with the spin-off of our
Performance Fibers business and the subsequent internal review and restatement. The prior year
results included $268 million of income from discontinued operations and a $16 million gain related
to the consolidation of the Company’s 65%-owned New Zealand joint venture. Excluding these items,
pro forma net income for full year 2014 was $66 million, or $0.50 per share, compared to $88 million,
or $0.68 per share, in the prior year.

Following the spin-off, we revamped our segment reporting to better reflect how we measure our
operational performance internally and to provide our investors with more meaningful metrics

with which to evaluate our financial performance from period to period. Beginning with our 2014
Form 10-K, we have disaggregated our previously reported Forest Resources segment into three
geographically and operationally distinct segments — Southern Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber and
New Zealand Timber. Within our Real Estate segment, we have realigned our sales categories with
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conservation sales now reported within the Non-Strategic / Timberlands sales category, while Development
sales are now reported as Development Improved and Development Unimproved to reflect the value
created through our capital investment in development projects. Our final segment, Trading, reflects the
log trading activities conducted by our New Zealand JV. We believe that this new approach to segment
reporting will help current and prospective investors to better understand the value of our assets and the
key drivers of our financial performance.

Our total Adjusted EBITDA, which excludes the discontinued Performance Fibers business, was $235 million
in 2014, representing a 7% improvement over the prior year results of $220 million. While the spin-off of

the Performance Fibers business in June 2014 distorts the comparability of our consolidated results to

prior years, our segment results illustrate the underlying strength of our business. Adjusted EBITDA in our
Southern Timber segment increased 12% to $98 million, driven by strong pricing improvements on roughly
flat volume. Adjusted EBITDA in our Pacific Northwest Timber segment declined 6% to $51 million, as strong
pricing improvements early in the year partially offset a 16% reduction in volume due to the implementation
of our revised harvest strategy in that region. Notably, both of our U.S. timber segments registered increases
in Adjusted EBITDA per ton of harvest volume, reflecting improved market conditions and prudent cost
management. Adjusted EBITDA in our New Zealand Timber segment was $45 million, reflecting a strong
contribution in its first full year of consolidation. Our Real Estate segment generated Adjusted EBITDA of
$70 million, with a 13% increase to $2,417 per acre in the weighted average HBU sales price for rural and
development sales. Lastly, our Trading segment contributed Adjusted EBITDA of $2 million.

Internal Review and Realigned Strategy

With the announcement of third quarter financial results, we disclosed the findings of an internal review
that the new management team had conducted following the spin-off. As part of this disclosure, we
acknowledged that for roughly a decade the company had been harvesting timber in Washington at an
average rate that exceeded the rate those timberlands could support on a long-term basis. We also disclosed
that the volume of merchantable timber inventory included in our 2013 Form 10-K was overstated by
approximately 10% due to the inclusion of timber volume that was not economically accessible or in areas
the company was not legally allowed to harvest. This overstatement of merchantable timber inventory
volume, in turn, resulted in an understatement of depletion expense for the first half of 2014. As a result, we
restated our earnings for each of the first two quarters of the year and disclosed a material weakness in our
internal controls over financial reporting related to timber inventory.

Once the material weakness was identified, we took prompt action to correct and strengthen our internal
controls. These actions included implementing closer coordination among our timber inventory technical
personnel, timber operations management, and finance staff; formal annual sign-offs from our technical
team on timber inventory volumes; detailed analysis of variations in merchantable timber volumes to ensure
consistent compliance with our policies; and enhanced review and oversight by finance management of the
timber inventory control processes and depletion rate calculations.

These disclosures contributed to a significant drop in the value of our shares during the fourth quarter and
resulted in, among other things, the filing of a number of previously disclosed class-action lawsuits. We are
working with outside counsel to defend these lawsuits, which we expect may take a few years to resolve.
As part of our third quarter disclosures, we also outlined a realigned strategy going forward that contains
five key elements:

1. Sustainable Management. We are dedicated to operating our timberlands on a sustainable yield basis
to maximize long-term shareholder value. We disclosed detailed inventory data and our long-term
sustainable harvest for each of our timberland geographies and will report any material deviations from
this harvest level going forward.
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2. Growth Through Acquisitions. We are committed to growing the size and improving the quality of our
timberland portfolio. We will look to selectively add timberlands that meet our acquisition criteria, while
also looking to improve the quality of our portfolio by adding timberlands that complement our existing
ownership and age-class structure.

3. Portfolio Value Optimization. We will work to optimize the value of our portfolio by pursuing the sale
of HBU properties and, where appropriate, investing in entitlements and infrastructure to add value to
selected properties.

4. De-emphasis of Non-HBU Land Sales. We will de-emphasize the sale of core timberland properties to
augment cash flow. Roughly half of the company’s Real Estate sales over the past five years were non-
HBU timberland packages. Going forward, we will focus on the sale of lands that either capture HBU
values or improve the quality of our portfolio by divesting below average quality timberlands.

5. Best-in-Class Disclosures. We are striving to be the industry leader in transparent investor
communications. We have already begun to improve the data in our quarterly and annual filings with the
intent to give investors more and better information with which to value the company.

As we adjust to our new smaller sized company post spin, we are also working to streamline our processes, improve
efficiency, and take cost out of the system. As part of this effort, we are looking for ways to push operational
decision making deeper down within the organization. I believe these changes will lead to improved morale, better
teamwork across our business operations, and ultimately better long-term, value-enhancing decisions.

An important complement to our realigned strategy is a revamped incentive compensation system. Following the
spin-off, we determined that our incentive compensation system was too complex and needed to better reflect
the long-term nature of our assets and decision making. We developed a new system, approved by our Board in
early 2015, which places greater emphasis on our long-term incentive program and reduces the weighting and
leverage of our annual short-term bonus program. The bonus program will no longer focus on net income and will
instead focus solely on recurring cash flow generation, with considerable Board discretion to factor in the quality of
our earnings. We believe these incentive compensation system changes will enhance long-term value creation and
better align management compensation with the long-term interests of our shareholders.

The rollout of this realigned strategy and revised incentive compensation system has been well received by our
employees and the investment community. Employees are excited about the direction we are headed and feel

more empowered to make sound long-term decisions. Investors and analysts have welcomed the new disclosures
regarding our assets and financial performance within each of our new segments, including inventory and acreage
data by age class, harvest volume data and pricing data by key product category, as well as additional detail on costs,
non-timber income and capital expenditures.

Capital Allocation Priorities

Currently, our primary capital allocation priorities are focused on growing the scale and improving the performance
of our core timber and real estate businesses. In 2014, we acquired 62,000 acres of timberland, almost all of which was
located in the U.S. South. In executing our growth strategy, we focus on properties that are above-average in quality
and complementary to our existing landholdings. Specifically, the properties that we acquired in 2014 had average
merchantable inventory stocking of 46 tons per acre, an average site index of 75, and average productivity of 5.7 tons
per acre per year (based on a 10-year harvest forecast). These properties served to upgrade our timberland portfolio
and are representative of the types of properties that we will continue to pursue as we seek to grow our land base and
increase our sustainable cash flow.

We also invested in upgrading our real estate development capabilities to unlock value on a small portion of

our coastal corridor timberland holdings in Florida and Georgia. After undertaking a detailed land classification
analysis of the 200,000 acres of timberland we own between Savannah, Georgia and Daytona Beach, Florida,
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2014 ADJUSTED EBITDA BREAKDOWN Rayonier vs. Timberland REIT Peer Group

Rayonier is a leading
“pure-play” timberland
REIT that generates the
significant majority

of its Adjusted EBITDA
from recurring timber Timber
harvest operations. Segment(s)
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Rayonier Peer Group

Timber
Segment(s)

47%

73%

Note: Timberland REIT Peer Group comprised of Weyerhaeuser Company, Plum Creek Timber Company, Potlatch Corporation and CatchMark Timber Trust.
Figures reflect aggregate Timberland REIT Peer Group Adjusted EBITDA excluding corporate expenses. Other includes real estate, manufacturing and
other reported segments.

we selected a handful of projects on which to focus our efforts in the coming years. Specifically, our near-term
development activities are focused on a 936-acre industrial park south of Savannah, Georgia and a 285-acre mixed-use
project north of Jacksonville, Florida. We will pursue the necessary land-use entitlements and look to make selective
infrastructure investments to add value to these properties and our surrounding timberland holdings over time.

We are developing a view on our optimal debt level following the spin-off and the rollout of our realigned strategy,
which will inform our appetite for growth. Our debt capacity will also inform our ability to repurchase stock. We have
instituted a process for periodically reviewing our net asset value in order to make informed decisions about stock
repurchases. We currently have no repurchase plan in place, but we continue to actively evaluate share repurchases as
part of our capital allocation strategy.

Dividend

As we developed our realigned strategy that was announced in November 2014, we also took a hard look at our
dividend and our ability to fund that dividend going forward. We ultimately made the decision to reset our dividend
to an annual rate of $1.00 per share beginning in the fourth quarter of 2014. This decision was based on a number of
factors, including our anticipated cash available for distribution as well as our required distribution based on our REIT
taxable income. Cash flow generation is expected to decline in the near term for two reasons. First, in accordance with
our announced harvest reductions in the Pacific Northwest, we will see significantly decreased cash flow generation
from this region. Second, with little non-strategic timberland in our portfolio, we do not intend to augment our
dividend from the non-recurring sale of core timberlands. Over the short term, our new dividend level is based on
meeting our required REIT distribution. While we expect our 2015 cash flow generation will fall short of the new
dividend level, we anticipate that we will fully fund the dividend through recurring cash flow over the next few years as
our product mix shifts to a higher percentage of sawlogs, our overall log markets improve, and we are able to take cost
out of the system.

Outlook for 2015 and Vision for the Future
Looking forward to 2015 and beyond, we are optimistic about our business prospects. While the housing market recovery
has been slower than many had anticipated, we have nevertheless continued to see steady year-over-year increases in
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U.S. SOUTH STUMPAGE PRICING COMPARISON Rayonier vs. South-wide Average

$18.48 $26.45
Pulpwood ($/ton) Sawtimber ($/ton)
$1612 $24.06
. . $14.36 422,52
Rayonier’s timberland $21.36
portfolio is strategically $20.44
: $9.68 $10.35 $19.29
located in some of the 4877 -
strongest log markets in
the U.S.
2012 2013 2014 2012 2013 2014
Il Timber Mart-South I Rayonier B Timber Mart-South B Rayonier

Note: Timber Mart-South figures represent average of quarterly reported South-wide average stumpage prices. Timber Mart-South sawtimber prices reflect
average of reported sawtimber and chip-n-saw prices. Rayonier sawtimber prices reflect actual price realizations and product mix (including chip-n-saw).

housing starts and corresponding increases in log prices. We are confident that this trend will continue and believe we

are well positioned, with a growing mix of sawlogs, to capitalize on this gradually strengthening market. Moreover, we
believe the China export market, which was largely non-existent at the top of the last housing cycle, should continue to
buoy demand for wood products from North America and New Zealand over the long term. Structural supply constraints
impacting both western Canada, with the mountain pine beetle epidemic, and eastern Canada, with reductions in
allowable annual cuts in response to environmental concerns, will drive a significant portion of marginal wood demand to
U.S. markets, where we believe the U.S. South is poised to benefit the most. Overall, these trends bode well for log markets
generally and for Rayonier in particular, as our assets are located in key softwood fiber baskets serving the U.S. housing and
export markets.

As | near my one-year anniversary in this role, | am energized by the response | am seeing from our employees. We have

a great group of employees who are reacting well to the challenge of making Rayonier a more nimble competitor and in
making daily decisions that are in the long-term interests of our shareholders. They are beginning to see the impacts of our
efforts to push decision making down deeper within the organization and are excited by our vision and ability to grow the
company into the premier pure-play timberland REIT.

| recognize that it has been a bumpy ride for shareholders over the past six months, but | also strongly believe that we are
on the right track. We have a new management team in place who, along with a largely new Board, are collectively taking a
fresh look at how we run the company. I've also been encouraged by the response we have had from within the investment
community, and in particular, the response to ourimproved transparency. These changes, in combination with the high
quality of our asset base, strong competitive position, and improving market dynamics, position us well for the future.

| feel honored to have been given the responsibility to lead Rayonier into the next chapter of its proud history and am

excited about our future. | would like to thank our Board for their guidance, our outstanding management team and
employees for their dedication to making Rayonier a stronger company, and our investors for your continued faith in our

company and our team.
Daef A A—

David L. Nunes
President and CEO
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TOTAL TIMBERLANDS

2.7 million acres

451

>

New Zealand Joint Venture

RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP MEASURES

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2014 2013
a
Operating Income $98 $109
Internal review and restatement costs 3 -
Gain related to consolidation of New Zealand joint venture - (16)
Cumulative out-of-period adjustment for depletion expense® 3 -
Pro Forma Operating Income $104 $93
per diluted share per diluted share

Net income attributable to Rayonier Inc. $99 $0.76 $372 $2.86
Gain related to consolidation of New Zealand joint venture - - (16) 0.12)
Cost related to the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business 4 0.03 - -
Internal review and restatement costs 3 0.02 - -
Cumulative out-of-period adjustment for depletion expense® 3 0.02 - -
Discontinued operations (43) (0.33) (268) (2.06)
Pro Forma Net Income $66 $0.50 $88 $50.68

(a) Pro Forma Operating Income is defined as operating income adjusted for internal review and restatement costs, the gain related to consolidation of the New Zealand joint venture
and a cumulative out-of-period adjustment for depletion expense.

(b) In reviewing its depletion expense calculation, the Company determined that prior years included immaterial understatements of depletion expense as a result of including in
merchantable timber inventory certain volumes that should have been excluded. The estimated cumulative effect of these prior year immaterial adjustments was recorded as
additional depletion expense in the third quarter of 2014.

(c) Pro Forma Net Income is defined as net income attributable to Rayonier Inc. adjusted for separation costs related to the Performance Fibers spin-off, internal review and restatement
costs, the gain related to consolidation of the New Zealand joint venture, discontinued operations and a cumulative out-of-period adjustment for depletion expense
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PART 1

2 ¢ 2 EENT3

When we refer to “we,” “us,” “our,” “the Company,” or “Rayonier,” we mean Rayonier Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
References herein to “Notes to Financial Statements” refer to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of Rayonier Inc.
included in Item 8 of this Report.

Note About Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this document regarding anticipated financial outcomes including Rayonier’s earnings guidance, if any,
business and market conditions, outlook, expected dividend rate, Rayonier’s realigned business strategy, including expected harvest
schedules, timberland acquisitions and sales of non-strategic timberlands, the anticipated benefits of Rayonier’s realigned business
strategy, and other similar statements relating to Rayonier’s future events, developments, or financial or operational performance
or results, are “forward-looking statements” made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995 and other federal securities laws. These forward-looking statements are identified by the use of words such as “may,”
“will,” “should,” “expect,” “estimate,” “believe,” “intend,” “project,” “anticipate” and other similar language. However, the absence
of these or similar words or expressions does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. While management believes that
these forward-looking statements are reasonable when made, forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance
or events and undue reliance should not be placed on these statements. The risk factors contained in Item 1A — Risk Factors in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, among others, could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the Company’s
historical experience and those expressed in forward-looking statements made in this document.

29 ¢

Forward-looking statements are only as of the date they are made, and the Company undertakes no duty to update its forward-
looking statements except as required by law. You are advised, however, to review any further disclosures the Company makes
on related subjects in our subsequent Forms 10-K, Forms 10-Q and Forms 8-K, any amendments thereto, and other reports filed
with the SEC.

Item 1. BUSINESS
General

We are a leading timberland real estate investment trust (“REIT”) with assets located in some of the most productive timber
growing regions in the U.S. and New Zealand. The focus of our business is to invest in timberlands and to actively manage such
assets to provide current income and attractive long-term returns to our shareholders. As of December 31,2014, we owned, leased
or managed approximately 2.7 million acres of timberlands located in the U.S. South (1.9 million acres), U.S. Pacific Northwest
(372,000 acres) and New Zealand (451,000 gross acres, or 309,000 net plantable acres). In addition, we engage in the trading of
logs from New Zealand and Australia to Pacific Rim markets, primarily to support our New Zealand export operations. We have
an added focus to optimize the value of our land portfolio by pursuing higher and better use (“HBU”) land sales opportunities.

We originated as the Rainier Pulp & Paper Company founded in Shelton, Washington in 1926. On June 27, 2014, Rayonier
completed the tax-free spin-off of its Performance Fibers manufacturing business from its timberland and real estate operations,
thereby becoming a “pure-play” timberland REIT.

Under our REIT structure, we are generally not required to pay U.S. federal income taxes on our earnings from timber harvest
operations and other REIT-qualifying activities contingent upon meeting applicable distribution, income, asset, shareholder and
other tests. As of December 31, 2014 and as of the date of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe the Company
is in compliance with all REIT tests.

Our U.S. and New Zealand timber operations are primarily conducted by our wholly-owned and majority-owned REIT
subsidiaries, respectively. Our non-REIT qualifying operations, which are subject to corporate-level tax, are held by various taxable
REIT subsidiaries. These operations include our log trading business and certain real estate activities, such as the sale and entitlement
of development HBU properties.

Our shares are publicly traded on the NYSE under the symbol RYN. We are a North Carolina corporation with executive
offices located at 225 Water Street, Jacksonville, Florida 32202. Our telephone number is (904) 357-9100.

For information on sales and operating income by reportable segment and geographic region, see Item 7 — Management s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 5 — Segment and Geographical Information.



Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that we distinguish ourselves from other timberland owners and managers through the following competitive
strengths:

*  Leading Pure-Play Timberland REIT. We are differentiated from other publicly-traded timberland REITs in that we are
invested exclusively in timberlands and do not own any pulp, paper or wood products manufacturing assets. We are the
largest publicly-traded “pure-play” timberland REIT, which provides our investors with a focused, large-scale timberland
investment alternative without taking on the risks inherent in direct ownership of forest products manufacturing assets.

*  Located in Premier Growing Regions with Access to Strong Markets. Our geographically diverse timberland holdings
are strategically located in core softwood producing regions, including the U.S. South, U.S. Pacific Northwest and New
Zealand. Our most significant timberland holdings are strategically located in the U.S. South, in close proximity to a
variety of established pulp, paper and wood products manufacturing facilities, which provide a steady source of competitive
demand for both pulpwood and higher-value sawtimber products. Our Pacific Northwest and New Zealand timberlands
benefit from strong domestic sawmilling markets and are strategically positioned near ports to capitalize on export markets
serving the Pacific Rim.

»  Sophisticated Log Marketing Capabilities Serving Various Pacific Rim Markets. We conduct a log trading operation based
in New Zealand that serves timberland owners in New Zealand and Australia, providing access to key export markets in
China, South Korea and India. This operation provides us with superior market intelligence and economies of scale, both
of which add value to our New Zealand timber portfolio. It also contributes to the Company’s earnings and cash flows,
with minimal investment.

*  Attractive Land Portfolio with High HBU Potential. We own approximately 200,000 acres of timberlands located in the
vicinity of Interstate 95 primarily north of Daytona Beach, FL and south of Savannah, GA, of which approximately 39,000
acres currently have land-use entitlements and are well positioned to capture higher sales values per acre as real estate
markets strengthen. These properties provide us with opportunities to selectively add value to our portfolio through
additional land-use entitlements and infrastructure improvements, which we believe will allow us to periodically sell
parcels of such land at favorable valuations relative to timberland values through one of our taxable REIT subsidiaries.

*  Dedicated HBU Platform with Established Track Record. We have a dedicated HBU platform led by an experienced team
with an established track record of selling rural and development HBU properties throughout our U.S. South holdings at
strong premiums to timberland values. We maintain a detailed land classification analysis of our portfolio, which allows
us to identify the highest-value use of our lands and then capitalize on identified HBU opportunities through strategies
uniquely tailored to maximize value, including selectively pursuing land-use entitlements and infrastructure
improvements.

*  Advantageous Structure and Capitalization. Under our REIT structure, we are generally not required to pay federal income
taxes on our earnings from timber harvest operations and other REIT-qualifying activities, which allows us to optimize
the value of our portfolio in a tax efficient manner. We also maintain a strong credit profile and have an investment grade
debt rating. As of December 31, 2014, our net debt to enterprise value was 14%. We believe that our advantageous REIT
structure and conservative capitalization provide us with a competitive cost of capital and significant financial flexibility
to pursue growth initiatives relative to other owners, managers and buyers of timberlands.

Our Strategy

Our business strategy consists of the following key elements:

*  Manage our Timberlands on a Sustainable Yield Basis for Long-term Results. We generate recurring income and cash
flow from the harvest and sale of timber and intend to actively manage our timberlands to maximize net present value
over the long term by achieving an optimal balance among biological timber growth, generation of cash flow from
harvesting activities, and responsible environmental stewardship. Our harvesting strategy is designed to produce a long-
term, sustainable yield, although we may adjust harvest levels periodically to capitalize on then-current economic
conditions in our markets.

»  Apply Advanced Silviculture to Increase the Productivity of our Timberlands. We use our forestry expertise and disciplined
financial approach to determine the appropriate silviculture programs and investments to maximize returns. This includes
re-planting a significant portion of our harvested acres with improved seedlings we have developed through many years
of research and cultivation. Over time, we expect these improved seedlings will result in higher volumes per acre and a
higher value product mix.



» Increase the Size and Quality of our Timberland Holdings through Acquisitions. We intend to selectively pursue timberland
acquisition opportunities that improve the average productivity of our timberland holdings and support cash flow
generation from our annual harvesting activities. We expect there will be an ample supply of attractive timberlands
available for sale as a result of anticipated sales from a number of Timberland Investment Management Organizations
(“TIMOs”). This acquisition strategy requires a disciplined approach and rigorous adherence to strategic and financial
metrics. Generally, we expect to focus our acquisition efforts on the most commercially desirable timber-producing regions
of the U.S. South and U.S. Pacific Northwest, particularly on timberlands with an age class profile that complements the
age class profile of our existing timberland holdings. We acquired 62,000 acres of timberland in 2014, 17,000 acres in
2013, and 88,000 acres in 2012.

*  Optimize our Portfolio Value. We continuously assess potential alternative uses of our timberlands, as some of our
properties may become more valuable for development, residential, recreation or other purposes. We intend to capitalize
on the value of our portfolio by opportunistically monetizing such HBU properties. While the majority of our HBU sales
involve rural and recreational land, we also selectively pursue various land-use entitlements on certain properties for
residential, commercial and industrial development in order to enhance the long-term value potential of such properties.
For selected development properties, we also invest in infrastructure improvements, such as roadways and utilities, to
accelerate the marketability and improve the value of such properties. We generally expect that sales of HBU property
(i.e., rural HBU and development HBU) will comprise approximately 1% of our Southern timberland holdings on an
annual basis.

»  Focus on Timberland Operations to Support Cash Flow Generation. As described above, we rely primarily on annual
harvesting activities and ongoing sales of rural and development HBU to generate cash flow from our timberland holdings.
However, we also periodically generate income and cash flow from the sale of non-strategic (i.e., non-HBU) timberlands,
in particular as we seek to optimize our portfolio by disposing of less desirable properties. Our strategy is to limit reliance
on planned sales of non-HBU timberlands to augment cash flow generation and instead rely primarily on supporting cash
flow from the operation, rather than sale, of our timberlands. We believe this strategy will support the sustainability of
our harvesting activities over the long term.

*  Promote Best-in-Class Disclosure and Responsible Stewardship. We intend to be an industry leader in transparent
disclosure, particularly relating to our timberland holdings, harvest schedules, inventory and age-class profiles. In addition,
we are committed to responsible stewardship and environmentally and economically sustainable forestry. We believe our
continued commitment to transparency and the stewardship of our assets and capital will allow us to maintain our
timberlands’ productivity, more effectively attract and deploy capital and enhance our reputation as a preferred timber
supplier.

Segment Information

We previously reported our financial results in three segments — Forest Resources, Real Estate and Other Operations. Effective
with the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company realigned its segment reporting into five segments to reflect the way management
now assesses the performance of the Company's business units. As part of this realignment, the previously reported Forest Resources
segment has been disaggregated into three geographically distinct segments: Southern Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber and New
Zealand Timber. These three segments reflect all activities related to the harvesting of timber and other value-added activities,
such as recreational leases, within each respective geography. The New Zealand Timber segment also reflects any land sales that
occur within our New Zealand portfolio. Our Real Estate segment continues to reflect all U.S. land sales; however, within our
Real Estate segment we have realigned our sales categories. In particular, conservation sales previously reported as Rural are now
reported within the Non-Strategic / Timberlands sales category, while Development sales are now reported as Development
Improved and Development Unimproved. Our final segment, Trading, reflects the log trading activities conducted by our New
Zealand JV, which were previously reported in Other Operations. All prior period amounts previously reported have been reclassified
to reflect the realigned segments.

Discussion of Timber Inventory and Sustainable Yield

We define gross timber inventory as an estimate of all standing timber volume beyond the specified age at which we commence
calculating our timber inventory for inclusion in our inventory tracking systems. The age at which we commence calculating our
timber inventory is 10 years for our Southern timberlands, 20 years for our Pacific Northwest timberlands, and 20 years for our
New Zealand timberlands. Our estimate of gross timber inventory is based on an inventory system that involves periodic statistical
sampling and growth modeling. Periodic adjustments are made on the basis of growth estimates, harvest information, and
environmental and operational restrictions. Gross timber inventory includes certain timber that we do not deem to be of a
merchantable age as well as certain timber located in restricted, environmentally sensitive or economically inaccessible areas.



We define merchantable timber inventory as an estimate of timber volume beyond a specified age that approximates such
timber’s earliest economically harvestable age. Our estimate includes certain timber located in restricted or environmentally
sensitive areas based on an estimate of lawfully recoverable volumes from such areas. The estimate does not include volumes in
restricted or environmentally sensitive areas that may not be lawfully harvested or volumes located in economically inaccessible
areas. The merchantable age (i.e., the age at which timber moves from pre-merchantable to merchantable) is 15 years for our
Southern timberlands, with the exception of Oklahoma which is 17 years, 35 years for our Pacific Northwest timberlands, and 20
years for radiata pine in our New Zealand timberlands. Our estimated merchantable timber inventory changes over time as timber
is harvested, as pre-merchantable timber converts to merchantable timber, as existing merchantable timber inventory grows, and
as we periodically update our statistical sampling and growth and yield models. We estimate our merchantable timber inventory
annually for purposes of calculating a per unit depletion rate.

Timber inventory is generally measured and expressed in short green tons (SGT) in our Southern Timberlands, in thousand
board feet (MBF) or million board feet (MMBF) in our Pacific Northwest Timberlands, and in cubic meters (m’) in our New
Zealand Timberlands. For conversion purposes, one MBF and one m’ is equal to approximately 8.0 and 1.13 short green tons,
respectively. For comparison purposes, we provide inventory estimates for our Pacific Northwest and New Zealand timberlands
in MBF and cubic meters, respectively, as well as in short green tons.

The following table sets forth the estimated volumes of merchantable timber inventory by location in short green tons as of
September 30, 2014 for the South and Pacific Northwest and as of December 31, 2014 for New Zealand:

(in thousands of short green tons)

Merchantable
Location Inventory (a) %
T e1 114 o SRRSO 64,241 75
PaCIfIC NOTTIWEST ......eeieeiieeeeie e ettt e e e e e e et e e et e e eenaeeeenaeeeenteeeeeneeeeenneeeenteeeenns 6,323 7
LS =T: 1 F: Y s o TR 15,123 18

85,687 100

(a) Depletion rate calculations for the upcoming year are based on estimated volumes of merchantable inventory at December
31, 2014 for all regions.

We define sustainable yield as the average harvest level that can be sustained into perpetuity based on our estimates of biological
growth and the expected productivity resulting from our reforestation and silvicultural efforts. Our estimated sustainable yield
may change over time based on changes in silvicultural techniques and resulting timber yields, changes in environmental laws
and restrictions, changes in the statistical sampling and estimates of our merchantable timber inventory, acquisitions and dispositions
of timberlands, the expiration or renewal of timberland leases, casualty losses, and other factors. Moreover, our harvest level in
any given year may deviate from our estimated sustainable yield due to variations in the age class of our timberlands, the product
mix of our harvest (i.e., pulpwood versus sawtimber), our deliberate acceleration or deferral of harvest in response to market
conditions, our thinning activity (in which we periodically remove smaller trees to enhance long-term sawtimber potential), or
other factors.

We manage our U.S. timberlands in accordance with the requirements of the Sustainable Forestry Initiative”™ (“SFI”) program,
a comprehensive system of environmental principles, objectives and performance measures that combines the perpetual growing
and harvesting of trees with the protection of wildlife, plants, soil and water quality. Through application of our site-specific
silvicultural expertise and financial discipline, we manage timber in a way that is designed to optimize site preparation, tree species
selection, competition control, fertilization, timing of thinning and final harvest. We also have a genetic seedling improvement
program to enhance the productivity and quality of our timberlands and overall forest health. In addition, non-timber income
opportunities associated with our timberlands such as recreational leases, as well as considerations for the future higher and better
uses of the land, are integral parts of our site-specific management philosophy. All these activities are designed to maximize value
while complying with SFI requirements.

The timberland holdings of the Matariki Forestry Group, a joint venture (“New Zealand JV”) are certified under the Forest
Stewardship Certification® (“FSC”) program. FSC provides an internationally recognized standard for responsible forest
management.



Southern Timber

As of December 31, 2014, our Southern timberlands acreage consisted of approximately 1.9 million acres (including
approximately 273,000 acres of leased lands) located in Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Louisiana, Mississippi, Oklahoma,
Tennessee and Texas. Approximately two-thirds of this land supports intensively managed plantations of predominantly loblolly
and slash pine. The other one-third of this land is too wet to support pine plantations, but supports productive natural stands
primarily consisting of a variety of hardwood species. In the Southern region, rotation ages range from 21 to 28 years for pine
plantations and from 35 to 60 years for natural hardwood stands. Key consumers of our timber include pulp, paper, wood products
and biomass facilities.

We estimate that the gross timber inventory and merchantable timber inventory of our Southern timberlands was 82 million
tons and 64 million tons, respectively, as of September 30, 2014. We estimate that the sustainable yield of our Southern timberlands,
including both pine and hardwoods, is approximately 5.4 to 5.7 million tons annually. We expect that the average annual harvest
volume of our Southern timberlands over the next five years (2015 to 2019) will be at or near the lower end of this range. For
additional information, see Item 1 — Business — Discussion of Timber Inventory and Sustainable Yield.

In 2014, we acquired approximately 62,000 acres of U.S. timberlands located almost exclusively in the South. For additional
information, see Note 8 — Timberland Acquisitions.

The following table provides a breakdown of our Southern timberlands acreage and timber inventory by product as of
September 30, 2014 (inventory volumes are estimated at December 31 to calculate a depletion rate for the upcoming year):

(volumes in thousands of SGT)

Acres Pine Pine Hardwood Hardwood
Age Class (000°s) Pulpwood Sawtimber Pulpwood Sawtimber Total
Pine Plantation
010 4 YIS ..cccveveieiereieiecieieeeeie e 228 — — — — —
5109 YEATS..eevuvieiieeieeieeve e 244 — — — — —
10 t0 14 yearS......coveveeeerieieeieieeieienne 269 8,707 999 50 1 9,757
1510 19 yearS....ocovevueeeeieeeieceereevieneans 249 12,193 5,614 74 2 17,883
20 t0 24 YEAIS ..ccueeveeieieeeieieeeeie e 134 5,259 5,625 82 3 10,969
2510 29 YRArS ....veeueetieiecteereeeereeeerene 64 1,978 4,076 92 4 6,150
R LU T ¢ 27 730 1,925 74 8 2,737
Total Pine Plantation..............cccoeeveevueene 1,215 28,867 18,239 372 18 47,496
Natural Pine (Plantable) (a)................... 71 899 1,963 1,519 301 4,682
Natural Mixed Pine/Hardwood (b) ........ 544 4,200 6,631 15,359 4,065 30,255
Forested Acres and Gross Inventory.... 1,830 33,966 26,833 17,250 4,384 82,433
Plus: Non-Forested Acres (C)................... 71
GIOSS ACKES......oooeeiveiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaeeeen 1,901
Less: Pre-Merchantable Age Class -
TIVENLOTY (A) 1eivviieiiiieiecieeece ettt ettt ettt et e et esbeessesbeesbesseesseeseesseeseesseessenseassesseessesseessesseessesseessenssensensennsenns (10,165)
Less: Volume in Environmentally
Sensitive/Legally RESIIICIEA ATCAS ......c..ccviiiiriiiiiieciesie ettt ettt ettt e tee st e e e e sae e b e saaesbeeseesbeessesbeessesseessesseensenes (8,027)
Merchantable Timber INVENLOTY ..............cccooiiiiiiiiiieieitee ettt et e bt st esseeae s s e ensesseensesseensesseensesseensenns 64,241

(a) Consists of natural stands that are convertible to pine plantation once harvested.

(b) Consists of all non-plantable natural stands, including those that are in environmentally sensitive or economically
inaccessible areas.

(c) Includes roads, rights of way and all other non-forested areas.

(d) Includes inventory that is less than 15 years old or less than 17 years old in Oklahoma.



Pacific Northwest Timber

As of December 31, 2014, our Pacific Northwest timberlands consisted of approximately 372,000 acres located in the state
of Washington, of which approximately 286,000 acres were designated as productive acres, meaning land that is capable of growing
merchantable timber and where the harvesting of timber is not constrained by physical, environmental or regulatory restrictions.
These timberlands primarily comprise second and third rotation western hemlock and Douglas-fir, as well as a small amount of
of other softwood species, such as western red cedar. A small percentage also consists of natural hardwood stands of predominantly
red alder. In the Pacific Northwest, rotation ages range from 35 to 50 years. Our product mix in the Pacific Northwest is heavily
weighted to sawtimber, which is sold to domestic wood products facilities as well as into exports markets primarily serving the
Pacific Rim.

We estimate that the gross timber inventory and merchantable timber inventory of our Pacific Northwest timberlands was
2,005 MMBF and 791 MMBF, respectively, as of September 30,2014.We estimate that the sustainable yield of our Pacific Northwest
timberlands is approximately 160 MMBF (or 1.3 million tons) annually. However, due to historical harvesting in excess of our
sustainable yield in this region, we anticipate reducing the harvest level in our Pacific Northwest timberlands to 125 MMBF (or
1.0 million tons) by 2017 and maintaining that level for approximately five to ten years thereafter in order to allow for inventory
replenishment and age class smoothing. We expect to gradually reach our long-term sustainable yield of 160 MMBF (or 1.3 million
tons) during the course of the next full rotation cycle. We expect that the average annual harvest volume of our Pacific Northwest
timberlands over the next five years (2015 to 2019) will be approximately 140 MMBF (or 1.1 million tons). For additional
information, see Item 1 — Business — Discussion of Timber Inventory and Sustainable Yield.

The following table provides a breakdown of our Pacific Northwest timberlands acreage and timber inventory by product
and age class as of September 30, 2014 (inventory volumes are estimated at December 31 to calculate a depletion rate for the
upcoming year):

(volumes in MBF)
Acres Softwood Softwood
Age Class (000’>s)  Pulpwood (a) Sawtimber (a) Total
Commercial Forest
010 4 YEATS oottt e 44 — — —
5809 YOATS ..ovviiiiieiieitt ettt e 52 — — —
TO 10 14 YEATS c.eeiiieiieeieeiee sttt s 32 — — —
1510 19 YEATS c.eeeiiieiieeieeiee et 20 — — —
200 24 YEATS ...ttt ettt 28 34,974 96,611 131,585
2510 29 YEATS c..euviteieieteiete ettt 43 61,521 375,052 436,573
300 34 YEATS ..ttt 29 54,272 398,964 453,236
3510 39 YEATS c.vevitiieietciee ettt 17 33,433 289,245 322,678
40 10 44 YEATS ..ottt 7 15,740 145,454 161,194
4510 49 YEATS ...ttt 2 5,524 51,583 57,107
50 YEATS ...eueiiriiriiriietiete ettt ettt 7 18,908 200,483 219,391
Total Commercial FOrest..........ooovvvvivvivioiieicieeeieeeeeee e 281 224,372 1,557,392 1,781,764
Non-Commercial Forest (B) .................cccoooeveveeeeiveveneennnan, 5 3,830 42,089 45,919
Productive Forested Acres................ccoovvvieniecieneenieneeiennnn 286
Restricted FOrest (C) .oooveviriinirriinieiieieri et 27 15,029 162,048 177,077
Total Forested Acres and Gross Inventory.......................... 313 243,231 1,761,529 2,004,760
Plus: Non-Forested Acres (d) ......ccevvvevenircieninieneeieseeeennn 59
GIOSS ACIES.......ouiiiiiiiiiienieniet ettt ettt 372
Less: Pre-Merchantable Age Class INVENLOTY (€).......ccevverierienierienieeienieeiesieeeesseeseesseesesseessesseessesseessessaessesssensenns (1,022,433)
Less: Volume in Environmentally
Sensitive/Legally RESIIICIEA ATCAS ......c.cueviviveeeeieieireeeeeeescsceeeeecececssseseassssssesesesssssssssssssssssssssessssasssssssassssssssssssssssssssens (190,919)
Merchantable Timber Inventory (MBE)............ccooiiiiii ettt sttt ens 791,408
Conversion factor fOr MBE 10 SGT .......oooiiiiiicieeieeeee ettt ettt ettt et e v e e sbaesabe e taesabeebaesaseesseessbesaseennnas 7.99
Merchantable Timber INVENtOrY (SGT).........cooi ittt st sttt te s e e 6,323,350

(a) Includes a negligible amount of red alder hardwood.

(b) Includes non-commercial forests with limited productivity.

(c) Includes significant portions of riparian management zones, legally restricted forests, and environmentally sensitive areas.
(d) Includes core riparian management zones, roads, rights of way, and all other non-forested areas.

(e) Includes commercial forest and non-commercial forest inventory that is less than 35 years old.



New Zealand Timber

As of December 31, 2014, our New Zealand timberlands consisted of approximately 451,000 acres (including approximately
266,000 acres of leased lands), of which approximately 309,000 acres (including approximately 174,000 acres of leased lands)
were designated as productive or plantation acres, meaning land that is capable of growing merchantable timber and where the
harvesting of timber is not constrained by physical, environmental or regulatory restrictions. The leased acres are generally leased
through long-term arrangements including Crown Forest Licenses (“CFLs”), forestry rights and other leases. Rayonier’s wholly
owned subsidiary, Rayonier New Zealand Limited (“RNZ”) serves as the manager of the New Zealand JV timberlands. Our New
Zealand timberlands serve a domestic sawmilling market and also export logs to Pacific Rim markets. For additional information,
see Note 4 — Joint Venture Investment.

In April 2013, we acquired an additional 39 percent interest in the New Zealand JV, bringing our total ownership to 65 percent.
As a result, the New Zealand JV’s results of operations have been consolidated and comprise the New Zealand Timber segment.
The minority owner’s interest in the New Zealand JV and its earnings are reported as noncontrolling interest in our financial
statements.

We estimate that the gross timber inventory and merchantable timber inventory of our New Zealand timberlands was 13.4
million cubic meters as of December 31, 2014. We estimate that the sustainable yield of our New Zealand timberlands is
approximately 2 million cubic meters (or 2.3 million tons) annually. We expect that the average annual harvest volume of our New
Zealand timberlands over the next five years (2015 to 2019) will be generally in line with our sustainable yield. For additional
information, see Item 1 — Business — Discussion of Timber Inventory and Sustainable Yield.

The following table provides a breakdown of our New Zealand timberlands acreage and merchantable timber inventory by
age class estimated as of December 31, 2014 (inventory volumes at December 31 are used to calculate a depletion rate for the
upcoming year):

(volumes in M m?)

Age Class Acres (000’s)  Pulpwood  Sawtimber Total
Radiata Pine
010 4 YEATS ..ottt ettt 61 — — —
580 9 YEATS ..eeviieiieeieeiee ettt ettt ettt eae e ens 44 — — —
1O £0 14 YEAIS ...eviiiriieieeieetcetereeet ettt 53 — — —
1510 19 YEATS .uvieiieeiieiieeeete ettt 52 — — —
20 10 24 JEATS ..evveenveteeieeieeteeteete et e et eteeee e eeesae e e ennesreennens 31 1,326 4,198 5,524
2510 29 YOATS ...veeeveieeereeteeieete ettt ettt ettt sae e s enae e ennens 21 1,274 3,023 4,297
30 JOATS 1.veeueeieeiectieieettete et ettt et e et e e st este et e saeenesneennesreennens 6 400 861 1,261
Total Radiata Pine..........cccccveieiieiiiicieiececceeeeeeee e 268 3,000 8,082 11,082
OIREF (@) ...ttt 41 1,204 1,097 2,301
Forested Acres and Merchantable Timber Inventory.............. 309 4,204 9,179 13,383
Conversion factor for M t0 SGT .....o.eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeene - 1.13
Total Merchantable Timber (thousands of SGT)...................... 15,123
Plus: Non-Productive ACres (D) ......cceeeievieeviieciieiieeieeceeeieeeinns 142 -
GIOSS ACIES......c.eeieeiieiieeiieie et ete et siteeteestte e teesaaesnbaesnaeenseenens 451

(a) Includes primarily Douglas-fir age 30 and over.

(b) Includes natural forest and other non-planted acres.



Real Estate

All of our U.S. land sales, including HBU and non-HBU, are reported in our Real Estate segment. Beginning in the fourth
quarter of 2014, we realigned our Real Estate sales categories to include four types of property sales: Unimproved Development,
Improved Development, Rural and Non-Strategic / Timberlands. Sales categories for 2014 and for prior periods presented have
been reclassified to conform to these new category definitions.

The Improved Development category comprises properties sold for development for which Rayonier, through a taxable REIT
subsidiary, has invested in site improvements such as infrastructure, roadways, utilities, amenities and/or other improvements
designed to enhance marketability and create parcels, pads and/or lots for sale. The Unimproved Development category comprises
properties sold for development, which Rayonier has not invested in site improvements such as infrastructure.

The Rural category comprises properties sold in rural markets to buyers interested in the property for rural residential or
recreational use. Previously, Rural included sales of properties for conservation purposes; however, under the new sales category
definitions, conservation sales are now included with Non-Strategic / Timberland sales.

The Non-Strategic / Timberland category includes: 1) sales of non-core timberlands that do not meet our strategic criteria, 2)
sales of core timberlands for which we obtain attractive values, and 3) sales of properties to conservation interests that wish to
preserve the land for habitat, public recreation, natural growth, buffer zones or other environmental purposes.

We maintain a detailed land classification analysis for all of our timberland and HBU acres. The vast majority of our HBU
properties are managed as timberland and generate cash flow from timber operations prior to their sale or, in the case of Improved
Development properties, prior to improvement.

Trading

Our Trading segment reflects log trading activities in New Zealand and Australia conducted by our New Zealand JV. Our
Trading segment complements the New Zealand Timber segment by providing added market intelligence, increasing the scale of
export operations and achieving cost savings that directly benefit the New Zealand Timber segment.

Trading activities are broadly categorized as either managed export services or procured logs. For managed export services,
the New Zealand JV does not take title to the log cargo but arranges sales, shipping and export documentation services for other
forest owners for an agreed commission. For procured logs, the New Zealand JV buys logs directly from other forest owners at
New Zealand ports and exports them in its own name. Income from this business is generated by achieving a sales margin over
the purchase price of the procured logs. The Trading segment generally utilizes a managed export service arrangement for logs
sourced from third parties outside of New Zealand, and generally utilizes a procured log arrangement for logs sourced from third
parties within New Zealand. For managed export services, Trading segment revenues reflect only the commission earned on the
sale. For procured logs sales, Trading segment revenues reflect the full sales price of the logs.

In 2014, Trading volume was approximately 1.7 million cubic meters of logs. Approximately 1.0 million cubic meters of logs
were sourced from outside New Zealand, primarily Australia, of which over 98 percent were undertaken through managed export
service arrangements. Approximately 0.7 million cubic meters of logs were purchased directly from third parties in New Zealand
through procured log arrangements, with 54 percent purchased from two key suppliers. Approximately 61 percent of third-party
purchases in New Zealand were purchased at spot prices, with the New Zealand JV thereby assuming some price risk on subsequent
resale. The remaining 39 percent were purchased on a fixed margin basis, with the New Zealand JV thereby earning a spread on
the resale price irrespective of subsequent price fluctuations. The New Zealand JV generally seeks to mitigate its risk of loss on
procured logs by securing export orders prior to or concurrent with its spot purchases of logs.

Discontinued Operations and Dispositions

In June 2014, we completed the tax-free spin-off of our Performance Fibers business. The spin-off resulted in two independent,
publicly-traded companies, with the Performance Fibers business being spun off to Rayonier shareholders as a newly formed
public company named Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc. ("Rayonier Advanced Materials"). On June 27, 2014, the shareholders
of record received one share of Rayonier Advanced Materials common stock for every three common shares of Rayonier held as
of the close of business on the record date of June 18, 2014. In March 2013, the Company sold its Wood Products business to
International Forest Products Limited for $80 million plus a working capital adjustment. Accordingly, the operating results of the
Performance Fibers and Wood Products business segments are reported as discontinued operations in the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for all periods presented. Certain administrative and general costs historically
allocated to the businesses that remained with Rayonier are reported in continuing operations.



The December 31, 2014 Consolidated Balance Sheet reports only continuing operations and reflects the contribution of
approximately $1.2 billion of assets and corresponding liabilities and equity to Rayonier Advanced Materials in connection with
the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business. The December 31, 2013 Consolidated Balance Sheet includes the Performance
Fibers business.

The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for 2014, 2013 and 2012 have not been restated to exclude Performance Fibers
and Wood Products cash flows. Cash flows for the year ended December 31,2014 also reflect transactions related to the Performance
Fibers spin-off, including borrowings to arrange the capital structure prior to the separation, proceeds received upon the spin-off
and the use of proceeds to pay down debt and pay a special dividend.

See Note 3 — Discontinued Operations for additional information regarding the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business
and sale of the Wood Products business.

The December 31, 2013 Consolidated Balance Sheet includes environmental liabilities relating to prior dispositions and
discontinued operations, including a former dissolving pulp mill site, former wood treating sites and other miscellaneous
environmentally-impacted sites. In connection with the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business, all prior dispositions and
discontinued operations were contributed to Rayonier Advanced Materials. As part of the separation agreement, Rayonier has been
indemnified, released and discharged from any liability related to these sites. See Note 17 — Liabilities for Dispositions and
Discontinued Operations for additional information.

Foreign Sales and Operations

Sales from non-U.S. operations originate from our New Zealand Timber and Trading operations and comprised approximately
47 percent of consolidated 2014 sales. See Note 5 — Segment and Geographical Information for additional information.

Competition
Timber

Timber markets in our Southern and Pacific Northwest regions are relatively fragmented. In the Southern region, we compete
with Plum Creek Timber Company, Weyerhaeuser Company and TIMOs such as Hancock Timber Resource Group, Resource
Management Service, Forest Investment Associates and Campbell Global, as well as numerous other large and small privately
held timber companies. In the Pacific Northwest region, we compete with Weyerhaecuser Company, Hancock Timber Resource
Group, Green Diamond Resource Company, Campbell Global, Port Blakely Tree Farms, Pope Resources, the State of Washington
Department of Natural Resources and the Bureau of Indian Affairs. Other competition in the Pacific Northwest region consists of
log imports from Canada. In all markets, price is the principal method of competition.

InNew Zealand, there are four major private timberland owners — Hancock Natural Resources Group, Kaingaroa Timberlands,
Matariki Forests (our New Zealand JV) and Ernslaw One. These owners account for approximately 39 percent of New Zealand
planted forests. The New Zealand JV competes with these and other smaller New Zealand timber companies for supply into New
Zealand domestic and export markets, predominantly China, South Korea and India. Logs supplied into Asian markets compete
with export supply from both Russia and North America.

Real Estate

In our Real Estate business, we compete with other owners of entitled and unentitled properties. Each property has unique
attributes, but overall quantity of supply and price for residential, commercial, industrial and rural properties in the geographic
areas in which we operate are the most significant competitive drivers.

Trading

Our log trading operations are based out of New Zealand and performed by our New Zealand JV. The New Zealand market
remains very competitive with over 20 entities competing for export log supply at different ports across the country. We are one
of the larger log trading companies in the region with access to multiple export ports and a range of different export markets.

Customers

On a post-spin basis, no individual customer (or group of customers under common control) represented 10 percent or more
of 2014 consolidated sales. As such, there is not a risk that the loss of one customer would have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations.



Seasonality

Our Southern Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber, New Zealand Timber, Real Estate and Trading segments’ results are normally
not impacted by seasonal changes. However, particularly wet weather in areas of our Southern Timber operations can hinder access
for harvesting, thereby temporarily reducing supply in the affected areas and generally strengthening prices. Conversely, extended
dry weather in an area tends to suppress prices as timber is more accessible for harvesting.

Environmental Matters

See Item 1A — Risk Factors and Note 17 — Liabilities for Dispositions and Discontinued Operations.

Research and Development

The research and development activities of our timber operations include genetic seedling improvement, growth and yield
modeling, and applied silvicultural programs to identify management practices that will improve financial returns from our
timberlands. We also contribute to research cooperatives that undertake forestry research and development.

Employee Relations

We currently employ approximately 320 people, of which approximately 240 are in the United States. We believe relations
with our employees are satisfactory.

Availability of Reports and Other Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) or 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are made
available to the public free of charge in the Investor Relations section of our website www.rayonier.com, shortly after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish them to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Our corporate
governance guidelines and charters of all committees of our board of directors are also available on our website. The information
on the Company’s website is not incorporated by reference into this annual report on Form 10-K.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our operations are subject to a number of risks. When considering an investment in our securities, you should carefully
read and consider these risks, together with all other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If any of the events
described in the following risk factors actually occur, our business, financial condition or operating results, as well as the
market price of our securities, could be materially adversely affected.

We are exposed to the cyclicality of the markets in which we operate and other factors beyond our control, which could adversely
affect our results of operations.

Some of the industries in which our end-use customers participate, such as the construction and home building industries, the
global pulp and paper industries and the real estate industry, are cyclical in nature, exposing us to risks beyond our control, including
general macroeconomic conditions, both in the U.S. and globally, as well as local economic conditions.

In our Timber segments, the level of new residential construction activity and, to a lesser extent, home repair and remodeling
activity, is the primary driver of sawtimber demand. In addition, demand for logs can be affected by the demand for wood chips
in the pulp and paper and engineered wood products markets, as well as the bio-energy production markets. The ongoing level of
activity in these markets is subject to fluctuation due to future changes in economic conditions, interest rates, credit availability,
population growth, weather conditions and other factors. Changes in global economic conditions, such as new timber supply
sources and changes in currency exchange rates, foreign interest rates and foreign and domestic trade policies, can also negatively
impact demand for our timber and logs. In addition, the industries in which these customers participate are highly competitive and
may experience overcapacity or reductions in demand, all of which may affect demand for and pricing of our products. For example,
the supply of timber and logs has historically increased during favorable pricing environments, which then causes downward
pressure on prices, which can have an adverse effect on our business.

In our Real Estate segment, our inability to sell our HBU properties at attractive prices could have a significant effect on our
results of operations. Demand for real estate can be affected by the availability of capital, changes in interest rates, availability
and terms of financing governmental agencies, developers, conservation organizations, individuals and others seeking to purchase
our timberlands, our ability to obtain land use entitlements and other permits necessary for our development activities, local real
estate market economic conditions, competition from other sellers of land and real estate developers, the relative illiquidity of real
estate investments, employment rates, new housing starts, population growth, demographics and federal, state and local land use,
zoning and environmental protections laws or regulations (including any changes in laws or regulations). In addition, changes in
investor interest in purchasing timberlands could reduce our ability to execute sales of non-strategic timberlands.

These macroeconomic and cyclical factors impacting our operations are beyond our control and, if such conditions deteriorate
or do not continue to improve, could have an adverse effect on our business.

Weather and other natural conditions may limit our timber harvest and sales.

Weather conditions and extreme events, timber growth cycles and restrictions on access (for example, due to prolonged wet
conditions) and other factors, including damage by fire, insect infestation, disease, prolonged drought and natural disasters such
as wind storms and hurricanes, may limit harvesting of our timberlands. The volume and value of timber that can be harvested
from our timberlands may be reduced by any such fire, insect infestation, disease, severe weather, prolonged drought, natural
disasters and other causes beyond our control. As is typical in the forestry industry, we do not maintain insurance for any loss to
our timber, including losses due to fire and these other causes. These and other factors beyond our control could reduce our timber
inventory and accordingly, our sustainable yield, thereby adversely affecting our financial results and cash flows.

Entitlement and development of real estate entail a lengthy, uncertain and costly approval process, which could adversely affect
our ability to grow the businesses in our Real Estate segment.

Entitlement and development of real estate entail extensive approval processes involving multiple regulatory jurisdictions. It
is common for a project to require multiple approvals, permits and consents from U.S. federal, state and local governing and
regulatory bodies. For example, in Florida, real estate projects must generally comply with the provisions of the Community
Planning Act and local land use, zoning and development regulations. In addition, development projects in Florida that exceed
certain specified regulatory thresholds (and are not located in a jurisdiction classified as a dense urban land area) require approval
of a comprehensive Development of Regional Impact (“DRI”) application. Compliance with these and other regulations and the
DRI process is usually lengthy and costly, and significant conditions can be imposed on a developer with respect to a particular
project. In addition, development of properties containing delineated wetlands may require one or more permits from the U.S.
federal government and/or state and local governmental agencies. Any of these issues can materially affect the cost, timing and
economic viability of our real estate projects.
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The real estate entitlement process is frequently a political one, which involves uncertainty and often extensive negotiation
and concessions in order to secure the necessary approvals and permits. In the U.S., a significant amount of our development
property is located in counties in which local governments face challenging issues relating to growth and development, including
zoning and future land use, public services, water availability, transportation and other infrastructure, and funding for same, and
the requirements of state law, especially in the case of Florida under the Community Planning Act and DRI process. In addition,
anti-development groups are active, especially in Florida, in filing litigation to oppose particular entitlement activities and
development projects, and in seeking legislation and other anti-development limitations on real estate development activities. We
expect this type of anti-development activity to continue in the future.

Issues affecting real estate development also include the availability of potable water for new development projects. For
example, the Georgia Legislature enacted the Comprehensive Statewide Watershed Management Planning Act, which, among
other things, created a governmental entity called the Georgia Water Council which was charged with preparing a comprehensive
water management plan for the state and presenting it to the Georgia Legislature. It is unclear at this time how the plan will affect
the cost and timing of real estate development along the southern Georgia coast, where the Company has significant timberland
holdings with downstream real estate development potential. Concerns about the availability of potable water also exist in certain
Florida counties, which could impact future growth opportunities.

Changes in the laws, or interpretation or enforcement thereof, regarding the use and development of real estate, changes in
the political composition of state and local governmental bodies, and the identification of new facts regarding our properties could
lead to new or greater costs and delays and liabilities that could materially adversely affect our business, profitability or financial
condition.

Changes in energy and fuel costs could affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Energy costs are a significant operating expense for our logging and hauling contractors and for the contractors who support
the customers of our standing timber. Energy costs can be volatile and are susceptible to rapid and substantial increases or decreases
due to factors beyond our control, such as changing economic conditions, political unrest, instability in energy-producing nations,
and supply and demand considerations. Although the price of oil has recently decreased, increases in the price of oil could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, an increase in fuel costs, and its impact on the cost
and availability of transportation for our products, both domestically and internationally, and the cost and availability of third party
logging and hauling contractors, could have a material adverse effect on the operating costs of our contractors and our standing
timber customers, as well as in defining economically accessible timber stands. Such factors could in turn have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, particularly in our Timber segments and Trading segment.

We depend on third parties for logging and transportation services and increases in the costs or decreases in the availability
of quality service providers could adversely affect our business.

Our Timber segments depend on logging and transportation services provided by third parties, both domestically and
internationally, including by railroad, trucks, or ships. If any of our transportation providers were to fail to deliver timber supply
or logs to our customers in a timely manner, or were to damage timber supply or logs during transport, we may be unable to sell
it at full value, or at all. During the global financial crisis and subsequent downturn in U.S. housing starts, timber harvest volumes
declined significantly. As a result, many logging contractors, particularly cable logging operators in the U.S. West, permanently
shut down their operations. As harvest levels have returned to higher levels with the recovery in U.S. housing starts, this shortage
of logging contractors has resulted in sharp increases in logging costs and in the availability of logging contractors. It is expected
that the supply of qualified logging contractors will be impacted by the availability of debt financing for equipment purchases as
well as a sufficient supply of adequately trained loggers. As housing starts continue to recover, harvest levels are expected to
increase, placing more pressure on the existing supply of logging contractors. Any significant failure or unavailability of third-
party logging or transportation providers, or increases in transportation rates or fuel costs, may result in higher logging costs or
the inability to capitalize on stronger log prices to the extent logging contractors cannot be secured at a competitive cost. Such
events could harm our reputation, negatively affect our customer relationships and adversely affect our business.
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We are subject to risks associated with doing business outside of the U.S.

Although the majority of our customers are in the U.S., a portion of our sales are to end markets outside of the U.S., including
China, South Korea, Japan, Taiwan, India and New Zealand. The export of our products into international markets results in risks
inherent in conducting business pursuant to international laws, regulations and customs. We expect that international sales will
continue to contribute to future growth. The risks associated with our business outside the U.S. include:

+ changes in and reinterpretations of the laws, regulations and enforcement priorities of the countries in which our
products are sold;

»  responsibility to comply with anti-bribery laws such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar anti-
bribery laws in other jurisdictions;

+ trade protection laws, policies and measures and other regulatory requirements affecting trade and investment,
including loss or modification of exemptions for taxes and tariffs, imposition of new tariffs and duties and import
and export licensing requirements;

« difficulty in establishing, staffing and managing non-U.S. operations;
*  product damage or losses incurred during shipping;
*  potentially negative consequences from changes in or interpretations of tax laws;
* economic or political instability, inflation, recessions and interest rate and exchange rate fluctuations; and
* uncertainties regarding non-U.S. judicial systems, rules and procedures.
These risks could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We and certain of our current and former officers and directors have been named as parties to various lawsuits relating to
matters arising out of our previously announced internal review and the restatement of our consolidated financial statements,
and may be named in further litigation or become subject to regulatory proceedings or government enforcement actions.

The matters that led to our internal review and the restatement of our consolidated financial statements have exposed us to
greater risks associated with litigation, regulatory proceedings and government enforcement actions. We and certain of our current
and former officers and directors are the subjects of a number of purported class action lawsuits and demand letters. In addition,
we are currently the subject of an ongoing private SEC inquiry. These actions arise from our announcement on November 10,
2014 regarding the results of our internal review and the restatement of our consolidated financial statements for the first and
second quarters of 2014. We and our current and former officers and directors may, in the future, be subject to additional private
and governmental actions relating to such matters. We cannot predict the duration, outcome or impact of these pending matters,
but the lawsuits could result in judgments against us and officers and directors who are now or may become named as defendants.
In addition, subject to certain limitations, we are obligated to indemnify and advance expenses for our current and former officers
and directors in connection with such lawsuits and regulatory proceedings or government enforcement actions and any related
litigation or settlements amounts.

Regardless of the outcome, these lawsuits, and any other litigation, regulatory proceedings, or government enforcement actions
that may be brought against us or our current or former officers and directors, could be time-consuming, result in significant
expense, and divert the attention and resources of our management and other key employees. Our legal expenses incurred in
defending the lawsuits and responding to any government inquiries could be significant. In addition, an unfavorable outcome in
any of these matters could exceed coverage provided under potentially applicable insurance policies, which is limited. Any such
unfavorable outcomes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows. Further, we could be required to pay damages or additional penalties, or have other remedies imposed against us, or our
current or former directors or officers, which could harm our reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows.
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Our estimates of timber inventories and growth rates may be inaccurate, include risks inherent to such estimates and may
impair our ability to realize expected revenues.

We rely upon estimates of merchantable timber inventories (which include judgments regarding inventories that may be
lawfully and economically harvested), timber growth rates and end-product yields when acquiring and managing working forests.
These estimates, which are inherently inexact and uncertain in nature, are central to forecasting our anticipated timber revenues
and expected cash flows. Growth rates and end-product yield estimates are developed using statistical sampling and growth and
yield modeling in conjunction with industry research cooperatives and by in-house forest biometricians using measurements of
trees in research plots spread across our timberland holdings. The growth equations predict the rate of height and diameter growth
of trees so that foresters can estimate the volume of timber that may be present in the tree stand at a given age. Tree growth varies
by soil type, geographic area, and climate. Inappropriate application of growth equations in forest management planning may lead
to inaccurate estimates of future volumes. If the assumptions we rely upon change or these estimates are inaccurate, our ability to
manage our timberlands in a sustainable or profitable manner may be diminished, which may cause our results of operations and
our stock price to be adversely affected.

Our businesses are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations that may restrict or adversely affect our ability to
conduct our business.

Environmental laws and regulations are constantly changing and are generally becoming more restrictive. Laws, regulations
and related judicial decisions and administrative interpretations affecting our business are subject to change, and new laws and
regulations are frequently enacted. These changes may adversely affect our ability to harvest and sell timber, remediate contaminated
properties and/or entitle real estate. These laws and regulations may relate to, among other things, the protection of timberlands
and endangered species, recreation and aesthetics, protection and restoration of natural resources, wastewater discharges, receiving
water quality, timber harvesting practices, and remedial standards for contaminated property and groundwater. Over time, the
complexity and stringency of these laws and regulations have increased and the enforcement of these laws and regulations has
intensified. Moreover, environmental policies of the current U.S. administration are more restrictive in the aggregate for industry
and landowners than those of the previous administration. For example, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) has
pursued a number of initiatives that, if implemented, could impose additional operational and pollution control obligations on
industrial facilities like those of Rayonier’s customers, especially in the area of air emissions and wastewater and stormwater
control. In addition, as a result of certain judicial rulings and EPA initiatives, including some that would require timberland operators
to obtain permits to conduct certain ordinary course forestry activities, silvicultural practices on our timberlands could be impacted
in the future. Environmental laws and regulations will likely continue to become more restrictive and over time could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If regulatory and environmental permits are delayed, restricted or rejected, a variety of our operations could be adversely
affected. We are required to seek permission from government agencies in the states and countries in which we operate to perform
certain activities related to our properties. Any of these agencies could delay review of, or reject, any of our filings. In our Southern
Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber and New Zealand Timber segments, any delay associated with a filing could result in a delay
or restriction in replanting, thinning, insect control, fire control or harvesting, any of which could have an adverse effect on our
operating results. For example, in Washington State, we are required to file a Forest Practice Application for each unit of timberland
to be harvested. These applications may be denied, conditioned or restricted by the regulatory agency. Actions by the regulatory
agencies could delay or restrict timber harvest activities pursuant to these permits. Delays or harvest restrictions on a significant
number of applications could have an adverse effect on our operating results. Delays in obtaining these environmental permits
could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

Environmental groups and interested individuals may seek to delay or prevent a variety of operations. We expect that
environmental groups and interested individuals will intervene with increasing frequency in the regulatory processes in the states
and countries where we own, lease or manage timberlands. For example, in Washington State, environmental groups and interested
individuals may appeal individual forest practice applications or file petitions with the Forest Practices Board to challenge the
regulations under which forest practices are approved. These and other challenges could materially delay or prevent operations
on our properties. For example, interveners at times may bring legal action in Florida in opposition to entitlement and change of
use of timberlands to commercial, industrial or residential use. Delays or restrictions due to the intervention of environmental
groups or interested individuals could adversely affect our operating results. In addition to intervention in regulatory proceedings,
interested groups and individuals may file or threaten to file lawsuits that seek to prevent us from obtaining permits, implementing
capital improvements or pursuing operating plans. Any threatened or actual lawsuit could delay harvesting on our timberlands,
affect how we operate or limit our ability to modify or invest in our real estate. Among the remedies that could be enforced in a
lawsuit is a judgment preventing or restricting harvesting on a portion of our timberlands.
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The impact of existing regulatory restrictions on future harvesting activities may be significant. U.S. federal, state and local
laws and regulations, as well as those of other countries, which are intended to protect threatened and endangered species, as well
as waterways and wetlands, limit and may prevent timber harvesting, road building and other activities on our timberlands.
Restrictions relating to threatened and endangered species apply to activities that would adversely impact a protected species or
significantly degrade its habitat. The size of the restricted area varies depending on the protected species, the time of year and
other factors, but can range from less than one acre to several thousand acres. A number of species that naturally live on or near
our timberlands, including, among others, the northern spotted owl, marbled murrelet, several species of salmon and trout in the
Pacific Northwest, and the red cockaded woodpecker, Red Hills salamander and flatwoods salamander in the Southeast, are
protected under the Federal Endangered Species Act (the “ESA™) or similar U.S. federal and state laws. A significant number of
other species, such as the gopher tortoise and long-eared bat are currently under review for possible protection under the ESA. As
we gain additional information regarding the presence of threatened or endangered species on our timberlands, or if other regulations,
such as those that require buffers to protect water bodies, become more restrictive, the amount of our timberlands subject to harvest
restrictions could increase.

We formerly owned or operated or may own or acquire timberlands or properties that may require environmental remediation
or otherwise be subject to environmental and other liabilities. We owned or operated manufacturing facilities and discontinued
operations that we do not currently own, and we may currently own or may acquire timberlands and other properties in the future
that are subject to environmental liabilities, such as remediation of soil, sediment and groundwater contamination and other existing
or potential liabilities. In connection with the spin-off of our Performance Fibers business, and pursuant to the related Separation
and Distribution Agreement between us and Rayonier Advanced Materials, Rayonier Advanced Materials has assumed any
environmental liability of ours in connection with the manufacturing facilities and discontinued operations related to the
Performance Fibers business and has agreed to indemnify and hold us harmless in connection with such environmental liabilities.
However, in the event we seek indemnification from Rayonier Advanced Materials, we cannot provide any assurance that a court
will enforce our indemnification right if challenged by Rayonier Advanced Materials or that Rayonier Advanced Materials will
be able to fund any amounts for indemnification owed to us. In addition, the cost of investigation and remediation of contaminated
timberlands and properties that we currently own or acquire in the future could increase operating costs and adversely affect
financial results. We could also incur substantial costs, such as civil or criminal fines, sanctions and enforcement actions (including
orders limiting our operations or requiring corrective measures, installation of pollution control equipment or other remedial
actions), clean-up and closure costs, and third-party claims for property damage and personal injury as a result of violations of, or
liabilities under, environmental laws and regulations related to such timberlands or properties.

The industries in which we operate are highly competitive.

The markets in which we operate are highly competitive, and we compete with companies that have substantially greater
financial resources that we do in each of these businesses. The competitive pressures relating to our Timber segments are primarily
driven by quantity of product supply and quality of the timber offered by competitors in the domestic and export markets, each of
which may impact pricing. With respect to our Real Estate segment, we compete with other owners of entitled and unentitled
properties. Each property has unique attributes, but overall quantity of supply and price for residential, commercial, industrial and
rural properties in the geographic areas in which we operate are the most significant competitive drivers. The market in which our
Trading segment operates remains very competitive with over 20 entities competing for export log supply at different ports across
New Zealand.

Our business will be adversely affected if we are unable to make future acquisitions.

We have pursued, and intend to continue to pursue, acquisitions of timberland and real estate properties that meet our investment
criteria and achieve our strategic goals of growing the size and average quality of our land base. The ability to grow through
acquisitions or other investments depends upon our ability to identify, negotiate, complete and integrate suitable acquisitions or
joint venture partnerships. In addition, the discount rate we use in our acquisition underwriting has to meet our internal hurdle rate
while also being competitive with that of other timberland REITs and TIMOs. In particular, our future success and growth depend
upon our ability to make acquisitions that increase merchantable timber inventory and complement the existing age class structure
of our ownership. If we are unable to make acquisitions on acceptable terms or that do not support our strategic goals, our revenues
and cash flows may stagnate or decline.
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Our inability to access the capital markets could adversely affect our business and competitive position.

Due to the REIT income distribution requirements, we rely significantly on external sources of capital to finance growth and
acquisitions. Both our ability to obtain financing and the related costs of borrowing are affected by a number of factors, many of
which are outside of our control, including a decline in general market conditions, decreased market liquidity, a downgrade to our
public debt rating, increases in interest rates, an unfavorable market perception of our growth potential, a decrease in our current
or estimated future earnings or a decrease in the market price of our common stock. If capital is not available when needed, or is
available only on unfavorable terms relative to other timberland REITs or TIMOs, or not at all, we may be unable to complete
acquisitions or otherwise take advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures. In July 2014, Standard &
Poor’s Ratings Services (S&P) lowered our credit ratings, including our corporate credit rating, to “BBB” from “BBB+.” In
November 2014, S&P further lowered our credit ratings to “BBB-.” As of December 31, 2014, our credit ratings from S&P and
Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s) were BBB- and Baa2, respectively. Any combination of the factors described above, including
our failure to maintain our investment grade credit rating, could prevent us from obtaining the capital we require on terms that are
acceptable to us, or at all, which could adversely affect our business, liquidity and competitive position.

Increases in market interest rates may adversely affect the price of our common shares.

One of the factors that may influence the price of our common shares is our annual dividend yield as compared to yields on
other financial instruments. Thus, an increase in market interest rates will result in higher yields on other financial instruments,
which could adversely affect relative attractiveness of an investment in the Company and, accordingly, the price of our common
shares.

There are risks to the Company associated with the recently completed spin-off of our Performance Fibers business.

The Company faces a number of risks related to the spin-off of our Performance Fibers business on June 27, 2014, including
the following:

. We may not achieve the expected benefits from the spin-off. After the spin-off, we believe that we will be able to, among
other things, better focus our financial and operational resources, and design and implement corporate strategies and
policies targeted toward our specific businesses, growth profile and strategic priorities, implement and maintain a capital
structure designed to meet our specific needs and more effectively respond to industry dynamics. However, the Company
may not achieve some or all of the expected benefits of the spin-off, and the spin-off could lead to disruption of our
operations, loss of, or inability to recruit or retain, and key personnel needed to operate and grow our business. If we fail
to achieve some or all of the benefits that we expect to achieve as a standalone company, or do not achieve them in a
timely or cost-effective manner, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and
adversely affected.

. Our business is less diversified. Our operational and financial profile has changed as a result of the spin-off of the
Performance Fibers business. As a result, our diversification of revenue sources has diminished without the revenue
previously generated by the Performance Fibers business, and it is possible that our results of operations, cash flows,
working capital and financing requirements may be subject to increased volatility related to the timber business and the
markets we serve. If we are unable to manage that volatility, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be materially and adversely affected.

Investment returns on pension assets may be lower than expected or interest rates may decline, requiring us to make significant
additional cash contributions to our benefit plans.

We sponsor defined benefit pension plans, which cover a portion of our salaried and hourly employees. The Federal Pension
Protection Act of 2006 requires that certain capitalization levels be maintained in each of these benefit plans. At December 31,
2014, our qualified plan was underfunded by $32 million, but we are not subject to any pension contribution requirements in 2015.
Because it is unknown what the investment return on pension assets will be in future years or what interest rates may be at any
point in time, we cannot provide any assurance that applicable law will not require us to make future material plan contributions.
Any such contributions could adversely affect our financial condition. See Item 7 — Management s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates for additional information
about these plans, including funding status.
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The impacts of climate-related initiatives, at the international, U.S. federal and state levels, remain uncertain at this time.

There continue to be numerous international, U.S. federal and state-level initiatives and proposals to address domestic and
global climate issues. Within the U.S., most of these proposals would regulate and/or tax the production of carbon dioxide and
other “greenhouse gases” to facilitate the reduction of carbon compound emissions into the atmosphere, and provide tax and other
incentives to produce and use “cleaner” energy.

In late 2009, the EPA issued an “endangerment finding” under the Clean Air Act with respect to certain greenhouse gases,
leading to the regulation of carbon dioxide as a pollutant under the Clean Air Act and having significant ramifications for Rayonier
and the industry in general. In this regard, the EPA has published various regulations, affecting the operation of existing and new
industrial facilities that emit carbon dioxide. As a result of the EPA’s decision to regulate greenhouse gases under the Clean Air
Act, states will now have to consider them in permitting new or modified facilities.

Overall, it is reasonably likely that legislative and regulatory activity in this area will in some way affect Rayonier and the
U.S. customers of our Southern Timber and Pacific Northwest Timber segments, but it is unclear at this time what the nature of
the impact will be. We continue to monitor political and regulatory developments in this area, but their overall impact on Rayonier,
from a cost, benefit and financial performance standpoint remains uncertain at this time. In addition, the EPA has yet to finalize
the treatment of biomass under greenhouse gas regulatory schemes leaving Rayonier’s biomass customers in a position of
uncertainty.

REIT and Tax-Related Risks

If we fail to remain qualified as a REIT, we will have reduced funds available for distribution to our shareholders because our
REIT income will be subject to taxation.

We intend to continue to operate in accordance with REIT requirements pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”), and related U.S. Treasury regulations and administrative guidance. Qualification as a REIT involves the
application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code, which are subject to change, perhaps retroactively, and which
are not within our control. We cannot assure that we will remain qualified as a REIT or that new legislation, U.S. Treasury
regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions will not significantly affect our ability to remain qualified as a REIT
or the U.S. federal income tax consequences of such qualification.

We continually monitor and test our compliance with all REIT requirements. In particular, we regularly test our compliance
with the REIT “asset tests,” which require generally that, at the close of each calendar quarter, (1) at least 75 percent of the market
value of our total assets must consist of REIT-qualifying interests in real property (such as timberlands), including leaseholds and
options to acquire real property and leascholds, as well as cash and cash items and certain other specified assets and (2) no more
than 25 percent of the market value of our total assets may consist of the securities of one or more “taxable REIT subsidiaries” or
other assets that are not qualifying assets for purposes of the 75 percent test in clause (1) above.

If in any taxable year we fail to qualify as a REIT, we will not be allowed a deduction for dividends paid to shareholders in
computing our taxable income and we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income. In addition, we will be
disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which the qualification was lost, unless
we are entitled to relief under certain provisions of the Code. As a result, our net income and the cash available for distribution to
our shareholders could be reduced for up to five years or longer.

As of December 31, 2014, Rayonier is in compliance with the asset tests described above. A failure to comply with the asset
tests ultimately could cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT and to lose the associated benefits of REIT status, which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition.

If we fail to remain qualified as a REIT, we may need to borrow funds or liquidate some investments or assets to pay any
resulting additional tax liability. Accordingly, cash available for distribution to our shareholders would be reduced.

Certain of our business activities are potentially subject to prohibited transactions tax.

As a REIT, we will be subject to a 100 percent tax on any net income from “prohibited transactions.” In general, prohibited
transactions are sales or other dispositions of property to customers in the ordinary course of business. Sales of logs, and dealer
sales of timberlands or other real estate, constitute prohibited transactions.
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We intend to avoid the 100 percent prohibited transactions tax by conducting activities that would otherwise be prohibited
transactions through one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. We may not, however, always be able to identify timberland properties
that become part of our “dealer” real estate sales business. Therefore, if we sell timberlands which we incorrectly identify as
property not held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or which subsequently become properties held for sale
to customers in the ordinary course of business, we may be subject to the 100 percent prohibited transactions tax.

Our cash dividends are not guaranteed and may fluctuate.

Generally, REITs are required to distribute 90 percent of their ordinary taxable income, but not their net capital gains income.
Accordingly, we do not generally believe that we are required to distribute material amounts of cash since substantially all of our
taxable income is generally treated as capital gains income. However, a REIT must pay corporate level tax on its undistributed
taxable income and capital gains.

Our Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, determines the amount of quarterly dividends to be paid to our shareholders
based on consideration of a number of factors. These factors include, but are not limited to, our results of operations, cash flow
and capital requirements, economic conditions, tax considerations, borrowing capacity and other factors, including debt covenant
restrictions that may impose limitations on cash payments, future acquisitions and divestitures, harvest levels, changes in the price
and demand for our products and general market demand for timberlands, including those timberland properties that have higher
and better uses. Consequently, our dividend levels may fluctuate.

Lack of shareholder ownership and transfer restrictions in our articles of incorporation may affect our ability to qualify as a
REIT.

In order to qualify as a REIT, an entity cannot have five or fewer individuals who own, directly or indirectly after applying
attribution of ownership rules, 50 percent or more of the value of its outstanding shares during the last six months in each calendar
year. Although it is not required by law or the REIT provisions of the Code, almost all REITs have adopted ownership and transfer
restrictions in their articles of incorporation or organizational documents which seek to assure compliance with that rule. While
we are not in violation of the ownership rules, we do not have, nor do we have any current plans to adopt, share ownership and
transfer restrictions. As such, the possibility exists that five or fewer individuals could acquire 50 percent or more of the value of
our outstanding shares, which could result in our disqualification as a REIT.
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Item 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

The following table provides a breakdown of our timberland holdings as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2014:

(acres in 000s) As of September 30, 2014 As of December 31, 2014
Owned Leased Total Owned Leased Total
Southern
Alabama..........ccooeveeievinienieieee 294 24 318 309 24 333
Arkansas .........cceveeeieieniiieeienen, — 19 19 — 18 18
Florida......cccccvvevevieieieieeeee 282 105 387 281 105 386
GECOIZIA .vvevreeeeieeeeereeeere e 576 129 705 575 125 700
Louisiana.........ccooceeevevercienieciennnnne 127 1 128 126 1 127
MIiSSISSIPPL ..oviererieeieieeireireeveieens 92 — 92 91 — 91
Oklahoma.........ccceevereveierireieeee 92 — 92 92 — 92
Tennessee........cccvevveecreenveenueennnnnn 1 — 1 1 — 1
TeXAS .eevieeieeeeieie e 159 — 159 158 — 158
1,623 278 1,901 1,633 273 1,906

Pacific Northwest

Washington ............ccocoeeeveineenenn. 371 1 372 371 1 372
New Zealand (2) .........occcovvveereennennnn 188 266 454 185 266 451
Total......cooooviieiieieeeeeeeee 2,182 545 2,727 2,189 540 2,729

(a) Represents legal acres owned and leased by the New Zealand JV, in which Rayonier owns a 65 percent interest. As of
December 31, 2014, legal acres in New Zealand were comprised of 309,000 plantable acres and 142,000 non-productive
acres. We have historically reported only net plantable acres for our New Zealand timberland holdings, which resulted in
total timberland holdings of 2.6 million acres versus the 2.7 million acres shown above.
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The following tables detail activity for owned and leased acres in our timberland holdings by state from December 31, 2013
to December 31, 2014:

(acres in 000s) Acres Owned
December 31, December 31,
2013 Acquisitions Sales Other (a) 2014
Southern
Alabama........ccccecevivoeniinininininenene 295 19 &) — 309
Florida.......cccovivienieiecieeeieeeee 292 15 (26) — 281
GCOIZI.uvivienrieeieiieireereeee e 566 17 ®) — 575
Louisiana.........cceeeveeeieenveecieenieesieeenenn 128 — 2) — 126
MIiSSISSIPPL cvvevveneeveeieeieeieeieeee e 92 — €8 — 91
OKIahoma.......ccceeveveeerieieeiee e 92 — — — 92
Tennessee.....c..cocueveeveneecrineenreneennene 1 — — — 1
TeXAS .ovieiieieieeieeeeee e 149 11 2) — 158
1,615 62 (44) — 1,633
Pacific Northwest
Washington ..........ccceeveeveevieeenieeeennne, 371 — — — 371
New Zealand (b) .....c.ccoovveveininiiniiinene 188 — 2) €)) 185
Total......cocoiiie e 2,174 62 (46) (1) 2,189
(a) Includes changes in classifications between acres owned and leased.
(b) Represents legal acres owned by the New Zealand JV, in which Rayonier has a 65 percent interest.
(acres in 000s) Acres Leased
December 31, Expired December 31,
2013 New Leases Leases (a) Other (b) 2014
Southern
Alabama.........ccoceeviviiiiiniiiiee. 24 — — — 24
ATKansas ......c.cocevvenenininenen 18 — — — 18
Florida......cccooviiiniiiiiiiciceee, 105 — — — 105
(€ 11014 T: U 130 — “4) (D 125
Louisiana........ccoceeeeirenenenesenenne. 1 — — — 1
278 — @) (1 273
Pacific Northwest
Washington ...........cccoeceevevieieennnen. 1 — — — 1
New Zealand (€).........cccoceevvveeenieinnne 267 — 2) 1 266
Total.......cooooiiieee 546 — (6) — 540

(a) Includes acres previously under lease that have been harvested.
(b) Includes activity for the purchase of leased acres and changes in classification between owned and leased acres.

(c) Represents legal acres leased by the New Zealand JV, in which Rayonier has a 65 percent interest.
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U.S. leases typically have initial terms of approximately 30 to 65 years, with renewal provisions in some cases. New Zealand
timberland lease terms range between 30 and 99 years. Such leases are generally non-cancellable and require minimum annual
rental payments. The New Zealand JV also has a number of CFLs with the New Zealand government. A CFL consists of a license
to use public or government owned land to operate a commercial forest. The CFLs extend indefinitely and may only be terminated
upon a 35 year termination notice from the government. If no termination notice is given, the CFLs renew automatically each year
for a one year term.

As of December 31, 2014, the New Zealand JV has four CFLs (18,000 acres) under termination notice, terminating in 2034,
2046 and 2049 and two fixed term CFLs (2,000 acres) expiring in 2062. The following table details the Company’s acres under
lease as of December 31, 2014 by type of lease and lease expiration:

(acres in 000s)

Location Type of Lease Total 2015-2024  2025-2034 2035-2044 Thereafter

Southern U.S........... Fixed Term 244 151 47 40 6
Fixed Term with Renewal Option 29 28 1 — —

Pacific Northwest.... Fixed Term 1 1 — — —

New Zealand (a) ..... CFL - Perpetual 95 64 — — 31
CFL - Fixed Term 2 — — — 2
CFL - Terminating 18 — 2 — 16
Forestry Right 135 58 5 53 19
Fixed Term 16 — — — 16

Total Acres under Long-term Leases............................ 540 302 55 93 90

(a) Represents all legal acres leased by the New Zealand JV, in which Rayonier has a 65 percent interest.

In addition to our timberland holdings, we lease properties for our office locations. Our significant leased properties include
our corporate headquarters in Jacksonville, Florida; our Southern Timber and Real Estate operations in Fernandina Beach, Florida
and Lufkin, Texas; our Pacific Northwest Timber operations in Hoquiam, Washington and our New Zealand Timber and Trading
headquarters in Auckland, New Zealand.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information set forth under “Contingencies” in Note 18 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements under
Item 15 of Part IV of this report “Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules,” is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART 11

Item S. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Prices of our Common Shares; Dividends

The table below reflects, for the quarters indicated, the dividends declared per share and the range of market prices of our
common shares as reported in the consolidated transaction reporting system of the NYSE, the only exchange on which our shares
are listed, under the trading symbol RYN.

OnJune 27,2014, we spun off our Performance Fibers business to our shareholders as a newly formed publicly traded company
named Rayonier Advanced Materials. On June 27, 2014, the shareholders of record received one share of Rayonier Advanced
Materials common stock for every three common shares of Rayonier held as of the close of business on the record date of June
18, 2014. The low end of the second quarter 2014 range as well as the third and fourth quarter 2014 ranges in the following table
reflect post-spin market price information and therefore are not comparable to pre-spin share prices from earlier periods.

High Low Dividends
2014
FOUth QUATTET.........oviviieeieeeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt eaene e $34.04 $25.87 $0.25
Third QUATTET ......oveeveeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt ettt ereereeneeneeae s eesenes $35.79 $30.46 $0.80 (a)
SECONA QUATTET..........vvevieeeeeeteeceeteteeeeeet et et eeeeeee et eeeeesesees s eseseeseseeeseseseesesesesnasesesens $48.82  $34.76 $0.49
FIST QUATLET ......veeeveeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt ettt ettt e et ere et eneeseneeaeneeseneene $47.29 $40.81 $0.49
2013
FOUIth QUATTET........eoviieiereceeeetece ettt ettt e eteeete e ereeneeenis $58.84 $39.49 $0.49
Third QUATTET ..veeceveevieiieeieeciie et eetee et e st e e be et e e ae e beeesaeeteessseesseessseensaessseesseenssennne $59.87 $53.84 $0.49
SECONA QUATTET........eevevireeeieeeeeeee ettt ettt e e e ere et e e e et e s eeae s e s e s eaeneenseneenes $60.62 $51.04 $0.44
FIISE QUATTET ...ttt ettt ettt et et e en s eneae s $59.72 $52.17 $0.44

(a) Third quarter 2014 dividends include a $0.50 per share special dividend related to restricted cash proceeds received from
Rayonier Advanced Materials in connection with the spin-off.

In February 2012, we filed a universal shelf registration giving us the ability to issue and sell an indeterminate amount of
various types of debt and equity securities. In March 2012, we issued $325 million of 3.75% Senior Notes due 2022 under the
universal shelf registration statement. In May 2004, we completed a Form S-4 acquisition shelf registration to offer and issue
7.0 million common shares for the acquisition of other businesses, assets or properties. As of December 31, 2014, no common
shares have been offered or issued under the Form S-4 shelf registration.

See Note 21 — [Incentive Stock Plans for information on securities that are authorized for issuance under The Rayonier
Incentive Stock Plan (“the Stock Plan”).

On March 2, 2015, the Company announced a first quarter dividend of 25 cents per share payable March 31, 2015, to
shareholders of record on March 17, 2015. There were approximately 7,237 shareholders of record of our Common Shares on
February 20, 2015.
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Issuer Repurchases

In 1996, we began a Common Share repurchase program (the “anti-dilutive program”) to minimize the dilutive effect of our
employee incentive stock plans on earnings per share. This program limits the number of shares that may be purchased each year
to the greater of 1.5 percent of outstanding shares at the beginning of the year or the number of incentive shares issued to employees
during the year. In October 2000, July 2003 and October 2011, our board of directors authorized the purchase of additional shares
totaling 2.1 million. These shares were authorized separately from the anti-dilutive program, and do not have expiration dates. In

2014, there were no shares repurchased under these plans. As of December 31, 2014, there were 3,828,927 shares available for
repurchase under these plans.

The following table provides information regarding our purchases of Rayonier common stock during the quarter ended
December 31, 2014:

Maximum
Total Number of  Number of Shares
Average  Shares Purchased that May Yet Be
Total Number Price as Part of Publicly Purchased Under

of Shares Paid per = Announced Plans the Plans or
Period Purchased (a) Share or Programs Programs
October 1 to October 31.......cccoeeveieieeieieeieeeeee, — — — 3,828,927
November 1 to November 30........cc.cccoevvvvenveennn.. — — — 3,828,927
December 1 to December 31.......ccocvvvveviiivnenennen. 684 $27.94 — 3,828,927
TOtal e 684 — 3,828,927

(a) Repurchased to satisfy the minimum tax withholding requirements related to the vesting of restricted shares under the Rayonier
Incentive Stock Plan.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the performance of Rayonier’s Common Shares (assuming reinvestment of dividends) with a
broad-based market index (Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) 500), and two industry-specific indices (the Financial Times Stock
Exchange (“FTSE”) National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) All Equity REITs Index and the S&P
1500 Paper and Forest Products Index). This graph represents a mix of Rayonier’s stock price before the June 27, 2014 spin-off
of the Performance Fibers business and its stock price post-spin. The graph has not been adjusted to reflect the value of the spin-
off of the Performance Fibers business and thus the post-spin share price is not comparable to pre-spin share prices from earlier
periods.

The table and related information shall not be deemed to be “filed” with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated
by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except
to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing.
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The data in the following table was used to create the above graph as of December 31:

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

RAYONIET INC. 1.ttt $100 $130 $172 $207 $174 $164
S&P 500% ......cooeeeeeeeees e 100 115 117 136 180 205
FTSE NAREIT All Equity REITS ...c..ccoviiiiiriiiriicieniccnecnecneeneeeeeaes 100 128 139 166 171 218
S&P® 1500 Paper & Forest Products INdex .............cocovvveeeververeesvesrsennn. 100 108 118 155 199 216
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following financial data should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements.

At or For the Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Profitability:

SALES (). veeueeueeteeterte ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt sttt et e et nnens $604 $660 $379 $391 $355
Operating inCOME (2)(D)...eevveveeieeieiert ettt 98 109 32 55 55
Income from continuing operations attributable to Rayonier Inc. (a)(b)....... 56 104 17 58 49
Diluted earnings per common share from continuing operations.................. 0.43 0.80 0.13 0.47 0.40

Financial Condition:

TOtAl ASSELS (@)..c.veverererteieieet ettt $2,453  $3,686  $3,123  $2,569  $2,364
TOtal AEDE (2)(C).vevevererrerreienierieeie ettt ettt ettt sttt 752 1,574 1,270 847 768
Shareholders’ EqUILY........ceoereeriieieieiee ettt 1,575 1,755 1,438 1,323 1,252
Sharcholders’ equity — per Share..........ccoecvevierierienieiiereecieeeeee e 12.51 13.90 11.66 10.84 10.34
Cash Flows:

Cash provided by operating activities (d) ......c.eccevvrverieererereresesesiesiereene $317 $545 $446 $432 $495
Cash used for INVeSting ACtIVItIES ......ccvveverreerrerieeieseeieseeieereeaeseeeseereesens 193 469 473 489 143
Cash used for (provided by) financing activities ...........cccerererereeriesiereeneenen. 161 157 (229) 215 78
Depreciation, depletion and amortization .............eceevereereenereeneseeseeeeeens 120 117 85 77 82
Cash dividends Paid .........ccceevuieieriieierie et 258 237 207 185 164
Dividends paid — per Share............c.ccooveveeeeeceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $2.03 $1.86 $1.68 $1.52 $1.36

Non-GAAP Financial Measures:

Adjusted EBITDA (e)
SOULhEIN TIMDET .......vovieieiieieeceeeeeeeeceeeee ettt $98 $87 $76 $56 $70
Pacific Northwest Timber........ccccccveeeiiiiiiiiieciiceeee e 51 54 43 48 26
New Zealand TimbDer ..........ccocveieririenieiereee e 45 38 2 4 —
REAL ESTALE ....ovviviiiiciiiciieieettee ettt et sae e nas 70 84 45 63 82
TTAAING ..ottt e 2 2 — 1 1
Corporate and Other .........ccccveviieierieiere e (€2))] (45) (44) (36) 47)
Total Adjusted EBITDA (€)....cccevveieierienieeieirereeveereereeveevesveseeneas $235 $220 $122 $136 $132
Other:
Timberland and real estate acres — owned, leased, or managed, in
MIIIONS OF ACTES ...vvveiiieiie et 2.7 2.7 2.7 2.7 2.4
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Selected Operating Data:
Timber
Sales volume (thousands of tons)
SOULNEITN <. 5,296 5,292 5,322 4,741 4,930
Pacific Northwest () ...c.ooveoeieieieieeee e 1,664 1,979 1,947 1,665 1,369
New Zealand Domestic (£) ..ovveeververreereerierienieeieieeiese e seeenees 1,463 1,271 — — —
New Zealand EXPort (€)....cccovvevvereerieiieieiieieeiereeiesre e eveennns 897 651 — — —
TOtAL. .ottt 9,320 9,193 7,269 6,406 6,299
Real Estate — acres sold -
Development (Unimproved) .........ccoovveeeeveevieieeienieieeeereeeeenns 852 281 261 606 472
Development (IMProved) .........ceceeeerieinieneniene e — 45 — — —
RUTAL ...ttt 18,077 13,833 13,307 10,880 7,911
Non-Strategic / Timberlands (h)..........ccoccevvvevincienieieiieieeenen, 25,919 162,788 17,355 16,132 52,514
Total Acres SOId .......ooveieieieieieece e 44,848 176,947 30,923 27,618 60,897

(a) On April 4, 2013, the Company increased its interest in the New Zealand JV to 65 percent and began consolidating the New
Zealand JV's results of operations and balance sheet.

(b) The 2013 results included a $16 million gain related to the consolidation of the New Zealand JV. The 2010 results included a
gain of $12 million from the sale of a portion of the Company’s interest in its New Zealand JV.

(c) 2011 included $105 million of notes assumed in a timberland acquisition.
(d) The 2010 results included a cash refund from the IRS of $189 million related to the Alternative Fuel Mixture Credit (“AFMC”).

(e) Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, depletion, amortization, the non-cash cost of real
estate sold (excluding strategic divestitures), the gain related to the consolidation of the New Zealand joint venture, discontinued
operations, separation costs related to Performance Fibers spin-off and internal review and restatement costs.

(f) 2013 and prior results include sales volumes from New York timberlands.
(g) New Zealand sales volume for 2013 includes volumes sold subsequent to the April 2013 consolidation.

(h) The 2013 results included a fourth quarter sale of approximately 128,000 acres of New York timberlands.
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Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) by Segment to Adjusted EBITDA by Segment

(dollars in millions)

2014
Operating iNCOME.........c..ceeeveereecreereeneans

Add: Depreciation, depletion and
AMOItiZation ........cecvveeeveeeneenne

Add: Non-cash cost of land sold..........

Add: Internal review and restatement

Adjusted EBITDA (@)...c.ccooeoeevvecrrerrenen.
2013
Operating income (b).......cccceeeevvieeennans

Add: Depreciation, depletion and
AMOItiZation .......cceevveeveneeeeene

Add: Non-cash cost of land sold..........

Less: Gain related to consolidation of
New Zealand JV ...

Adjusted EBITDA (2)...ccccoveeveevereerrennen.
2012
Operating income (10SS)......cccovvevvevvennnnne

Add: Depreciation, depletion and
amortization ..........cecceeevevennene

Add: Non-cash cost of land sold..........
Adjusted EBITDA (2)..ccccccveevevverireerennene
2011

Operating inCoOMme.........ccovevvrviniieninnnrns

Add: Depreciation, depletion and

amortization ............ccceeeevveeennns
Add: Non-cash cost of land sold..........
Adjusted EBITDA (2)..ccceeovevereeeeienene

2010
Operating income (C) ......ccocevvevvevvenvennenns

Add: Depreciation, depletion and
AMOItiZation ........cecvvevereeeneenne

Add: Non-cash cost of land sold..........

Less: Gain on sale of portion of New
Zealand JV interest..................

Adjusted EBITDA (@)...ccccoevveeeverreerrenene

Pacific New Corporate
Southern Northwest Zealand Real and
Timber Timber Timber Estate Trading other Total
$46 $30 $9 $48 $2 $37) $98
52 21 32 13 — 2 120
— — 4 9 — — 13
— — — — — 4 4
$98 $51 $45 $70 $2 $(331) $235
$38 $33 $10 $56 $2 $(30) $109
49 21 28 18 — 1 117
— — — 10 — — 10
— — — — — (16) (16)
$87 $54 $38 $84 $2 $(45) $220
$23 $21 $2 $32 — $(46) $32
53 22 — 8 — 2 85
— — — 5 — — 5
$76 $43 $2 $45 — $(44) $122
$13 $29 $4 $47 $1 $(39) $55
43 19 — 12 — 3 77
— — — 4 — — 4
$56 $48 $4 $63 $1 $(36) $136
$29 $8 — $53 $1 $(36) $55
41 18 — 22 — 1 82
— — — 7 — — 7
— T T T T (12) (12)
$70 $26 — $82 $1 $(47) $132

(a) Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, depletion, amortization, the non-cash cost of real
estate sold (excluding strategic divestitures), the gain related to the consolidation of the New Zealand joint venture, discontinued
operations, separation costs related to Performance Fibers spin-off and internal review and restatement costs.

(b) Corporate and other included a $16 million gain related to the consolidation of the New Zealand JV.

(¢c) Corporate and other included a gain of $12 million from the sale of a portion of the Company’s interest in the New Zealand JV.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Executive Summary
Our Company

We are a leading timberland real estate investment trust (“REIT”’) with assets located in some of the most productive timber
growing regions in the U.S. and New Zealand. Our revenues, operating income and cash flows are primarily derived from the
following core business segments: Southern Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber, New Zealand Timber, Real Estate and Trading.
‘We own or lease under long-term agreements approximately 2.3 million acres of timberland and real estate in Alabama, Arkansas,
Florida, Georgia, Louisiana, Mississippi, Oklahoma, Tennessee, Texas and Washington. We also have a 65 percent ownership
interest in Matariki Forestry Group, a joint venture (“New Zealand JV”), that owns or leases approximately 0.4 million gross acres
(0.3 million net plantable acres) of New Zealand timberlands.

Across our timberland management segments, we sell standing timber (primarily at auction to third parties) and delivered
logs. Sales from these segments also include all activities related to the harvesting of timber and other value-added activities such
as the leasing of properties for hunting, mineral extraction and cell towers. We believe we are the third largest publicly-traded
timberland REIT and the seventh largest private landowner in the United States. Our Real Estate business manages all property
sales and seeks to maximize the value of our properties that are more valuable for development, recreational or residential uses
than for growing timber, and opportunistically sells non-strategic timberlands. Our Trading segment, also part of the New Zealand
JV, markets and sells timber owned or acquired from third parties in New Zealand and Australia.

Current Year Developments

On June 27, 2014, we spun off our Performance Fibers business to our shareholders as a newly formed publicly-traded
company, Rayonier Advanced Materials. Following the spin-off, new management conducted a review of our operations and
business strategies and identified issues related to our historical timber harvest levels, our estimate of merchantable timber inventory
and the effect of such estimate on our calculation of depletion expense. At the direction of our Board of Directors, management
conducted an internal review into these matters with the assistance of independent counsel, forensic accountants and financial
advisors. The results of this internal review were previously disclosed in Item 2 — Management Discussion and Analysis —
Overview — Background in Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, as filed with the SEC on November 14, 2014.
For additional information, see Note 23 — Quarterly Results for 2014 and 2013 (Unaudited).

Industry and Market Conditions

In 2014, we benefited from improved pricing in the South due to modest improvements in the U.S. economy and housing
market. We anticipate that U.S. housing will continue its gradual recovery in 2015 and sawlog prices will continue to strengthen.
In our New Zealand Timber segment, we experienced increased domestic demand in the first half of 2014 that leveled off later in
the year. After a strong first quarter, both New Zealand and the Pacific Northwest were negatively impacted by weaker demand
from China. While we expect the demand for logs in Asia to be strong over the long term, the devaluation of the Russian ruble is
expected to increase Russia’s share of the China log export market, which will likely impact demand and pricing in our Pacific
Northwest segment and, to a lesser extent, our New Zealand Timber segment.

In Real Estate, we expect the demand for development property to slowly return with the modestly improving housing market
and overall economic climate. There is stronger development interest in some local markets, particularly around our properties in
St. Johns County, Florida. All of our properties in north St. Johns County are now under contract with staggered closings scheduled
in 2015 and continuing through 2018. Activity in the rural market is strong; however, there is increased price competition in
Alabama and Georgia coming from strong timberland markets. Prices are steady in Texas and Louisiana but we are seeing decreased
activity, possibly due to uncertainty in the region caused by lower oil prices.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires us to establish accounting policies and make estimates, assumptions and
judgments that affect our assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and to disclose contingent assets and liabilities in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We base these estimates and assumptions on historical data and trends, current fact patterns, expectations
and other sources of information we believe are reasonable. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Merchantable inventory and depletion costs as determined by forestry timber harvest models

Timber is stated at the lower of cost or market value. Costs related to acquiring, planting and growing timber including real
estate taxes, lease rental payments, site preparation and direct support costs relating to facilities, vehicles and supplies are capitalized.
Payroll and other employee benefit costs are capitalized only for time spent on these activities, while interest or any other intangible
costs aside from those mentioned above are not capitalized.

An annual depletion rate is established for each particular region by dividing merchantable inventory book cost by standing
merchantable inventory volume. Pre-merchantable records are maintained for each planted year age class, recording acres planted,
stems per acre and costs of planting and tending.

Significant assumptions and estimates are used in recording of timber inventory and depletion costs. Factors that can impact
timber volume include weather changes, losses due to natural causes, differences in actual versus estimated growth rates and
changes in the age when timber is considered merchantable. A three percent company-wide change in estimated standing
merchantable inventory would cause annual depletion expense to change by approximately $3 million.

Merchantable standing timber inventory is estimated by our land information services group annually, using industry-standard
computer software. The inventory calculation takes into account growth, in-growth (annual transfer of oldest pre-merchantable
age class into merchantable inventory), timberland sales and the annual harvest specific to each business unit. The age at which
timber is considered merchantable is reviewed periodically and updated for changing harvest practices, future harvest age profiles
and biological growth factors.

Acquisitions of timberland can also affect the depletion rate. Upon the acquisition of timberland, we make a determination
whether to combine the newly acquired merchantable timber with an existing depletion pool or to create a new separate pool. The
determination is based on the geographic location of the new timber, the customers/markets that will be served and species mix.
During 2014, we acquired approximately 62,000 acres of timberlands primarily in Alabama, Florida, Georgia and Texas. These
acquisitions increased 2014 depletion expense by $1.8 million and are expected to increase 2015 depletion expense by
approximately $4.8 million.

Revenue recognition for timber sales

Revenue from the sale of timber is recognized when title passes to the buyer. We utilize two primary methods or sales channels
for the sale of timber, a stumpage, or standing timber, model and delivered logs. Under the stumpage model, standing timber is
sold generally under pay-as-cut contracts, with specified duration (typically one year or less) and fixed prices, whereby revenue
is recognized as timber is severed and the sales volume is determined. We also sell stumpage under lump-sum contracts where
the Company receives cash for the full agreed value of the timber prior to harvest and title and risk of loss pass to the buyer upon
signing the contract. Any uncut timber remaining at the end of the contract period reverts to the Company. We recognize revenue
for lump-sum timber sales when cash is received, the contract is signed and title and risk of loss pass to the buyer. A third type of
stumpage sale is an agreed-volume sale whereby revenue is recognized as periodic physical observations are made of the percentage
of acreage harvested.

In delivered log sales, the Company hires third-party loggers and haulers to harvest timber and deliver it to a buyer. Revenue
is recognized when the logs are delivered and title and risk of loss transfer to the buyer. Sales of delivered logs generally do not
require an initial payment and are made to third-party customers on open credit terms. The sales method the Company employs
depends upon local market conditions and which method management believes will provide the best overall margins.

In the Trading business, revenue on sales of logs is recognized when title and risk of loss passes to the buyer. For domestic
log sales, title and risk are considered passed to the buyer as the logs are delivered to the customer. For export log sales, title and
risk are considered passed to the buyer at the time the ship leaves the port.

Non-timber income included in “Other Operating Income, Net” primarily comprises hunting and recreational leases. Lease
income is recognized ratably over the period of the lease.
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Revenue recognition for real estate sales

The Company recognizes revenue on sales of real estate generally when cash has been received, the sale has closed, and title
and risk of loss have passed to the buyer. Cost of sales associated with real estate sold comprises the cost of the land, the cost of
any timber on the property that was conveyed to the buyer, and any closing costs including sales commissions that may be borne
by the Company. Costs incurred to obtain land use entitlements or for infrastructure such as utilities, roads or other improvements
are allocated ratably to the acres benefiting from such expenditures and charged to cost of sales as the acres are sold. Sales of
improved or entitled land have been limited but the Company expects such sales to increase in future years.

Determining the adequacy of pension and other postretirement benefit assets and liabilities

During the first half of 2014, we had four qualified benefit plans covering most of our U.S. workforce and an unfunded plan
to provide benefits in excess of amounts allowable under current tax law to certain participants in the qualified plans. In connection
with the June 27, 2014 spin-off of the Performance Fibers business, Rayonier Advanced Materials employees no longer participate
in benefit plans sponsored or maintained by Rayonier. Upon separation, we transferred assets and obligations related to all Rayonier
Advanced Materials employees to the Rayonier Advanced Materials Pension Plans, resulting in a net decrease in sponsored pension
plan obligations of $100 million after a revaluation of plan obligations using a 4.0 percent discount rate. We now have one qualified
non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering a portion of our employees and an unfunded plan that provides benefits
in excess of amounts allowable under current tax law in the qualified plan. The qualified plan is closed to new participants.

In the first half of 2014, prior to the spin-off, pension and postretirement expense for all plans was $6 million. In the second
half of 2014, we recognized $2 million of pension and postretirement expense. Numerous estimates and assumptions are required
to determine the proper amount of pension and postretirement liabilities and annual expense to record in our financial statements.
The key assumptions include discount rate, return on assets, salary increases, health care cost trends, mortality rates, longevity
and service lives of employees. Although there is authoritative guidance on how to select most of the assumptions, some degree
of judgment is exercised in selecting these assumptions based on input from our actuary. Different assumptions, as well as actual
versus expected results, would change the periodic benefit cost and funded status of the benefit plans recognized in the financial
statements. See Note 22 — Employee Benefit Plans for additional information.

Realizability of both recorded and unrecorded tax assets and tax liabilities

The Timber and Real Estate operations conducted within our REIT are generally not subject to U.S. income taxation. Prior
to the June 27, 2014 spin-off of Rayonier Advanced Materials, our taxable REIT subsidiary operations included the Performance
Fibers business. As such, during 2014 and prior periods, our income taxes varied significantly. Therefore, our projection of estimated
income tax for the year and our provision for quarterly income taxes, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
may have varied significantly. Going forward, we do not expect significant variability in our effective tax rate and the amount of
cash taxes to be paid as the majority of our business operations are conducted within our REIT. However, the assessment of the
ability to realize certain deferred tax assets, or estimate deferred tax liabilities, remains subjective. See Note 10 — Income Taxes
for additional information about our unrecognized tax benefits.
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Summary of our results of operations for the three years ended December 31:

Financial Information (in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Sales
SOULNETN TIMDET ..ottt ettt ettt ettt a et s et et st as s easeseans $142 $124 $109
Pacific NOrthwest TImMDeT........cccuiiiieeiicic e et saaeeanees 102 110 110
New Zealand TimDEr (2)........ccerieriererieriieieseeiesieeteseete et este st estesseessesseessesssessesnsessesnnens 182 148 11
Real Estate
Development (Unimproved)..........eecueeierieeieniieiene ettt sbe et enee e 5 3 2
Development (IMProved) .......cocveeierieeieiieiee ettt sreense e nseeneenes — —
RUTAL ...ttt ettt et et e e st e s aeesae s seesaesseenbesaeesbeeseesseesaenseeseenes 41 27 32
Non-Strategic / TImberlands (B)........ccooeririeiieieiieeeee e 31 117 23
Total REal EStAte.......ccuieiiieiieiieieie ettt sttt sreenae s enee s 77 149 57
TTAINZ ..vveeeietieteeeet ettt ettt ettt e e s te et e st e esb e seesbeeseesseesaesseeseesseessesseessesseessesseensansaensenseenns 104 132 94
Intersegment EIIMINAtIONS ......cc.eeiiiiiriiiieierie ettt ettt st esae st e saeeneens 3) 3) 2)
TOtAL SALLS .......o.ooviiieiiieiieetcet ettt ettt bttt e b e st b eseebes st e ssese s ese s se b eneebens $604 $660 $379

Operating Income

SOULNEIN TIHMDET ......cviviiiietetieiieieteeccet ettt ettt b et es et ss e s b ess st esetsse s s sesnas e $46 $38 $23
Pacific NOTthWESt TIMDET ......cccuieiiiiieieii ettt ettt e st esesneessesnnesnesnnens 30 33 21
New Zealand TIMDET (@) ....c..cceerviiieriieieiieiesieeteeeest et steetesteeaesteesesteessesseesseessessesssesseessesseennas 9 10 2
REALI ESTALC......coueiieieitieee ettt sttt ettt ee e bt es et e e bt et e eae e bt eaeenbeeneenaeeneens 48 56 32
TTAINZ ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e st esb e e st e e e esee st eneesseensesseensesseenseeseensenseenteeneenes 2 2 —
Corporate and OtHET (€) c.vevieieriieierieiiesieeie st ete st eet et et e eteebeeteesesseesseessesseessesseessesssessesseessenseenss 37 (30) (46)
OPperating INCOMIE ..............c.oooiiiiiiiiieie ettt sttt e s eete e s sae e beessaeenbeesssaenseeens 98 109 32
INEEIESt EXPEIISE ...eeuvieiieiieieitieieeitet ettt ettt st te st et e st e e sse et e ent e seeneesseensesneensesneesesneensennnens (44) (41) (43)
Interest/Other (EXPense) INCOME .........ccuiiiiiiieiiiiieiieieieeeete ettt se b eneenns (10) 2 1
INCOME TaX BENETIL......eiuiiiiitieiieiie ettt ettt sbe s aeesae e 10 36 27
Income from Continuing OPerations ................cccccoiieiiiiiiirieeeeeeee e 54 106 17
Discontinued Operations, Net.............ccoooiiriiiiiiiiiice ettt eaeesene e 44 268 262
INEE IICOMMIC ...ttt ettt ettt e e ettt e e bt et e eae e besaeenbesaeenaeeneans 98 374 279
Less: Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling INterest ............cocceeverenenenenicnieieeeenennenn €)) 2 —
Net Income Attributable to Rayonier INC....................ccooooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceceeeee e $99 $372 $279
Adjusted EBITDA (d)
SOULNEIT TIMDET ......cvcviuiievetieiieieteiiiete ettt ettt es bt ssesesesess s ebesassesesesesesesesesensane $98 $87 $76
Pacific NOTthwWeSt TIMDET ......cocuiiiiiiiiiie ettt st s sae e 51 54 43
New Zealand TimDEE (Q) ......cccvererieriieieriieieseeieeeeteetesteetesteeeesteesesseesesseenseeseeseessenseensesseenses 45 38 2
REAL ESLALE. ...c..etititetieet ettt ettt ettt b e sttt b e sttt et ene et eae e 70 84 45
TTAINE ...ttt ettt h et h et e et e et e st e bt e a e e sbe et e e bt et e ebe et e ebe e teeneenes 2 2 —
Corporate and OHET........cccvieieiieieie ettt et ettt et e et e st ense s st ensesseensesseensenseenes 31 (45) (44)
Total Adjusted EBITDA (d)......cccoiiiiiiiieieiee ettt $235 $220 $122

(a) 2012 sales, operating income and Adjusted EBITDA reflect a 26% minority interest in the New Zealand JV. 2013 included
$146 million in sales from the consolidation of the New Zealand JV.

(b) The 2013 results included a fourth quarter sale of approximately 128,000 acres of New York timberland holdings for $57
million.

(c) The 2013 results included a $16 million gain related to the consolidation of the New Zealand JV.
(d) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.
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Southern Timber Overview

Sales Volume (in thousands of tons)

Pine Pulpwood .........ccoouiiiiiiieiiicieceeeeee e
Pine SaWHIMDET .......ccooiviiiiiiiciicieciccteceeeee et
Total Pine Volume...............ccocooviiiiiiiiiiiieee e
HardWood.........c.ooouiiiiiiieeceeeceeeee e
Total VOIuE.........cc.coviiiiiiiiiiiecece e

Percentage Delivered Sales..........ccooieviieieriieieniicienie e

Percentage Stumpage Sales..........ccoeievvieieiieiieiciece e

Net Stumpage Pricing (dollars per ton)

Pine Pulpwood ........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiieeee e
Pine SaWtimDET .......ccveieiiiieiieiieiiee e
Weighted Average Pine...................ocoviiiiniinininiincicncne
Hardwood........co.ooiiiiiieieeee e
Weighted Average Total..................ccccooiiininininice

Summary Financial Data (in millions of dollars)

Operating INCOME..........ccveevieiieieeiiereeee ettt
Adjusted EBITDA (@) ...ccceieeieiiieiieiieieeeeteeeere et eae e

Other Data

Non-Timber Income (in millions of dollars).............ccceevereeereiernens

Year-End Acres (in thousands)..........cccceevvevieeeeniiieenescienecieseeenens

(a) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Iltem 6 — Selected Financial Data.
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2014 2013 2012
3,284 3,181 3,450
1,701 1,676 1,455
4,985 4,857 4,905

311 435 417
5,296 5,292 5,322
33% 28% 24%
67% 72% 76%
$18.48 $16.12 $14.36
26.45 24.06 22.52
$21.20 $18.86 $16.78
13.01 12.89 10.76
$20.72 $18.37 $16.31
$142 $124 $109
(32) (26) (23)
$110 $98 $86
$46 $38 $23
$98 $87 $76
$17 $20 $17
1,906 1,893 1,837



Pacific Northwest Timber Overview

Sales Volume (in thousands of tons)

Northwest PUIpWoOd..........ccveviiiieiiiieieciceceeeeee e
Northwest SAWtIMDET..........ccocoviiiiiiiicieceeeeceeeere e
Total Northwest VOIumeE...........ccoeovievieiieieiieieiccieie e
Northeast - New YOrK......cccoveviiiiiviiiiiieieeieeeceeeeeere e
Total VOIuE.........cc.coviiiiiiiiiiiecece e

Northwest Sales Volume (converted to MBF)

Northwest PUlpwood..........cooveeviivieiiiiiecceeceeeeeeee e
Northwest SAWHMDET.........c..cooovviiiiiiiciiece e
Total Northwest Volume...................cccovvvimiiiiiiiiiiiieee,

Percentage Delivered Sales..........cooeievvieeeciieieiicieceeeecveeee e,

Percentage Stumpage Sales..........cccoeeeviieieriieieniicieecee e

Delivered Log Pricing (in dollars per ton)

Northwest PUlpwWood..........cooveviiiiiiiiieceeeeeeeeeve e
Northwest SAWHIMDET.........ccccccviiieiiiieieciee s
Weighted Average Log Price........ccocvevvieieviieiieiciececeeeeeeeee

Summary Financial Data (in millions of dollars)

Operating INCOME...........c.oovieiiriieiiieeie et
Adjusted EBITDA (@) ...ccoveoueeiieieeieeeeeeeeteeeeeeeeete et

Other Data

Non-Timber Income (in millions of dollars)...........cccccoeeveeverennnnnnn.
Year-End Acres (in thousands)...........cccoeveevieieeiiieceeiececieeieee,
Northwest Sawtimber (in dollars per MBF) .........ccccovvvviivieiinnnnen.

Estimated Percentage of Export Volume...........c..ccceveviinieieinene,

(a) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.
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2014 2013 2012

262 305 342
1,402 1,538 1,450
1,664 1,843 1,792
— 136 155
1,664 1,979 1,947
24,761 28,840 32,089
178,898 197,431 193,925
203,659 226,271 226,014
55% 56% 85%
45% 44% 15%
$39.20 $37.14 $43.38
82.05 78.06 67.83
$74.44 $71.08 $62.98
$102 $110 $110
(30) (35) (46)
$72 $75 $64
$30 $33 $21
$51 $54 $43

$3 $3 $3

372 372 503
$632 $608 $507
25% 26% 23%



New Zealand Timber Overview (a) 2014 2013 2012

Sales Volume (in thousands of tons)

Domestic Sawtimber (Delivered).........c.ccoovveeeeiivieiieeciieiiecieene. 644 740 742
Domestic Pulpwood (Delivered).........cccoeieieiieciiiiecieeiccreceenens 353 360 429
Export Sawtimber (Delivered) .........cccoeevevievienieieiieiesieieeieine 826 798 922
Export Pulpwood (Delivered) ..........cocoovvevieiiiiiieiiecieceeceeeeenns 71 43 68
STUMPAZE .....eeveeeiiieiieeie ettt ettt e sae e e sbeeseesenas 466 464 647
Total VOIUINE. .........coooonniiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e 2,360 2,405 2,808
Percentage Delivered Sales ........c.ooovevvieieeieieiieieiiecieeieeeeeeeenens 80% 81% 77%
Percentage Stumpage Sales..........cccevvieieviiieiieieieeie s 20% 19% 23%

Delivered Log Pricing (in dollars per ton)

Domestic SAWHIMDET ...........ccooeeuiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $78.15 $73.82 $67.87
Domestic Pulpwood ..........cccoeiiiiiioiiiiiiiicieeeeeceeee e $37.84 $36.05 $35.68
EXPOrt SAWHMDET.......c.ocviviiveeieieeceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $111.75 $125.77 $112.64

Summary Financial Data (in millions of dollars)

SALES .cveeeeeiieiieiei ettt $177 $186 $192
Less: Cut and Haul ..........ccoooveeiiiiiiiiiieiiceceeeeeceee e (79) (82) (88)
Less: Port and Freight CostS.......c.oovevvieieriieieiecieceeie e (35) (35) (46)
Net Stumpage Sales ...............cocoovovvviieiieieieieeeeeeeeeeeee e $63 $69 $58
Land Sales .....c.oovuieieieeseee e 5 — 2
OFRET ..t — 3 2
TOtal SALES ... $182 $189 $196
Operating INCOME .........c.cuoeveverieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $9 $11 $6
Adjusted EBITDA (D) c.coveivieeirieirieirieeeieteieeeieeeeee e $45 $48 $35
Other Data

New Zealand Dollar to U.S. Dollar Exchange Rate (¢) ................. 0.8266 0.8156 0.8142
Net Plantable Year-End Acres (in thousands)...........cccecvevveevennnnne 309 314 315
Export Sawtimber (in dollars per JAS M) ......oveveeveeeeeeeereeeeeeen. $129.66 $145.92 $128.92

(a) New Zealand Timber was consolidated on April 4, 2013 when we acquired a majority interest in the New Zealand JV. Prior
to the acquisition date, we accounted for our 26 percent interest in the New Zealand JV as an equity method investment. The
2013 and 2012 information shown reflects full year results, though information presented elsewhere throughout this Annual
Report on Form 10-K reflects results only to the extent they were included in our consolidated financial position.

(b) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Iltem 6 — Selected Financial Data.

(c) Represents the average of the month-end exchange rates for each year.
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Timber Segments Selected Operating Information

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (in millions of dollars)

SoUthern TIMDET........c..ooiiiiiiiiiecee e

Timber Capital Expenditures (in millions of dollars)
U.S. Timber
Reforestation, silvicultural and other capital expenditures...................
Property taxes, lease payments and allocated overhead.......................
Timberland acqUISIHIONS ......ccecveiririeiieieierese e
Subtotal U.S. TImMDber ...........ccoocooiiiiiiiiiiieeeee
New Zealand Timber
Reforestation, silvicultural and other capital expenditures...................
Property taxes, lease payments and allocated overhead.......................
Timberland acquisitions (D)........ccocevereririnenienereeeeeeeeece
Subtotal New Zealand Timber .................cccoooooiiiiiiininee
Total Timber Segments Capital Expenditures..................c..co.coceeeee

(a) 2013 and 2012 include full year results of New Zealand Timber, which was consolidated on April 4, 2013.

2014 2013 2012
$52 $49 $53
21 21 22
32 37 29
$105 $107 $104
$24 $23 $24
19 21 21
130 20 106
$173 $64 $151
10 10 10

8 11 10
— 140 —
$18 $161 $20
$191 $225 $171

(b) 2013 includes $140 million for the acquisition of an additional interest in the New Zealand JV.
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Real Estate Overview 2014 2013 2012

Sales (in millions of dollars)

Development (Unimproved) ..........coooveeeveieieeiereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeve e $5 $3 $2
Development (IMproved) (&) .......ccveeveeeveereeceeeeecieeeeeie e — 2 —
RUTAL (D) ottt 41 27 32
Non-Strategic / Timberlands (b)(C)......ccceevvevreeieerieieereeieeeereeeenee. 31 60 23
Total SALES..........cooveviviiieieiiiieieieetetee e $77 $92 $57
Sales (Development and Rural Only) ...........ccoooeeeeeveeveceeieeeeenee. $46 $32 $34
Acres Sold

Development (Unimproved) .........cecvevvieeerieeeenrieeenieeeeseeeesieennens 852 281 261
Development (IMproved) (&) .......ccveeveeeveerieceieeeeieeieeie e — 45 —
RUFAL (D) 1.ttt 18,077 13,833 13,307
Non-Strategic / Timberlands (b)(C)......ccceevvevreeieerieieirieieeeereeeeenee. 25,919 34,667 17,355
Total Acres SoId...............ooooviiiiiiiiiii e 44,848 48,826 30,923
Acre Sold (Development and Rural Only)............cccccceeveenieieineene. 18,929 14,159 13,568
Percentage of U.S. South acreage sold (d)........ccoeveeveieiiiieineenne, 1.2% 0.8% 0.7%

Price per Acre (dollars per acre)

Development (Unimproved) ..........ccooveveveieverereeeeeeeeeereeeeve e $5,623 $10,116 $6,099
Development (IMproved) (&) .......ceveeveeeviereeceieeeeieeeeeie e — 34,680 —
RUTAL (D) ottt 2,265 1,986 2,421
Non-Strategic / Timberlands (b)(C)......ccceevvevreeieerieieerieieeeeeeeieenee. 1,217 1,726 1,329
Weighted Average (Total)..........ccoeeieieiiiiiineciecieieeeee e $1,723 $1,878 1,839
Weighted Average (Development and Rural) (€)..........ccccvevenenne. $2,417 $2,148 $2,491

(a) Reflects land with capital invested in infrastructure improvements.

(b) Conservation sales previously reported as Rural are now reported with Non-Strategic / Timberlands.

(c) Excludes sale of 128,000 acres of timberlands in New York in the fourth quarter of 2013 for $57 million.
(d) Calculated as Southern development and rural acres sold over U.S. South acres owned.

(e) Excludes Development (Improved).

36



Results of Operations, 2014 versus 2013

Southern Timber

Changes Attributable to:

Volume/
(in_millions) 2013 Price Mix Other 2014
SALES ..o $124 $13 $5 — $142

Changes Attributable to:

Volume/
(in millions) 2013 Price Mix Depletion Cost Other 2014
Operating INCOME...........ceeveeeeverererererereereeennn. $38 $13 $1 $Q2) $(1) $(3) $46
Changes Attributable to:
Volume/
(in millions) 2013 Price Mix Cost Other 2014
Adjusted EBITDA (@) .cvevverveieieieieieencnenencnee $87 $13 $1 $(1) $(2) $98

(a) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.

Full year 2014 Southern Timber sales of $142 million increased $18 million from 2013 primarily due to higher pine pulpwood
and sawtimber prices, driven by improved demand as the U.S. housing market and economy continue a slow recovery, as well as
by wet weather conditions through much of the year. Weighted average stumpage prices increased 13% to $20.72 per ton in 2014
versus $18.37 per ton in 2013. Additionally, while total harvest volumes were flat at 5.3 million tons in 2014 and 2013, a greater
mix of delivered sales versus stumpage sales in 2014 versus 2013 led to increased sales during the period.

The increase in sales was partially offset in operating income by higher cut and haul costs, higher depletion expense and lower
non-timber income resulting from a change in income recognition for hunting leases. Full year 2014 adjusted EBITDA of $98
million increased $11 million above the prior year period.

Pacific Northwest Timber (Formerly Northern Region)

Changes Attributable to:

Volume/
(in_millions) 2013 Price Mix Other 2014
SALES .o $110 $5 $(11) $(2) $102

Changes Attributable to:

Volume/
(in millions) 2013 Price Mix Depletion Cost Other 2014
Operating INCOME...........cccoveevereieieriererieeeenns $33 $5 $(5) $(3) $(1) $1 $30

Changes Attributable to:

Volume/
(in_millions) 2013 Price Mix Cost Other 2014
Adjusted EBITDA (2) .cccvevveeieiieieniieieeeeie e $54 $5 $(7) $(1) — $51

(a) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.
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Full year 2014 Pacific Northwest Timber sales of $102 million were $8 million below 2013, which included $3 million of
sales from the formerly-owned New York timberlands. Sales declined in 2014 primarily due to lower harvest volumes, partially
offset by improved sawtimber and pulpwood pricing. Harvest volumes declined 16% to 1.7 million tons from 2.0 million tons in
2013. The decline in harvest volumes was driven by the sale of the Company’s New York timberlands in fourth quarter 2013 as
well as the reduction of harvest volumes pursuant to the Company’s revised operating strategy. See Item 1 — Business — Our
Strategy for additional information. Average delivered sawtimber prices in the Pacific Northwest increased 5% to $82.05 per ton
versus $78.06 per ton in 2013 and delivered pulpwood prices increased 6% to $39.20 per ton versus $37.14 per ton in 2013. These
increases in average prices reflected strong prices earlier in the year, which weakened in the second half of 2014 primarily due to
lower export demand as log inventory levels rose in China.

Operating income declined $3 million due to the lower sales, partially offset by lower cut and haul costs, and a $2 million
cumulative out-of-period adjustment for depletion expense. Full year Adjusted EBITDA of $51 million was $3 million below the
prior year period.

New Zealand Timber
Changes Attributable to:
Volume/
(in millions) 2013 Price Mix Other 2014
SALES ettt $148 $(8) — $42 $182
Changes Attributable to:
Volume/ Non-Cash Cost
(in millions) 2013 Price Mix Depletion of Land Cost F/X Other 2014
Operating Income .... $10 $(8) — $(4) $(4) $(7) $2 $20 $9
Changes Attributable to:
Volume/

(in millions) 2013 Price Mix Cost F/X Other 2014
Adjusted EBITDA (2)...ccoeveeieniieiene $38 $(8) — $(7) $2 $20 $45

(a) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.

Full year 2014 New Zealand Timber sales of $182 million increased $34 million from 2013, reflecting consolidation of the
New Zealand JV effective April 4, 2013. Total harvest volumes in 2014 of 2.4 million tons were comparable to 2013. Average
delivered prices for domestic sawlogs increased 6% to $78.15 per ton versus $73.82 per ton in 2013, more than offset by average
delivered prices for export sawlogs, which declined 11% to $111.75 per ton versus $125.77 per ton in 2013. The increase in
domestic sawlog prices was primarily driven by stronger demand in the first half of the year, while the decline in export sawlog
prices was primarily driven by weaker demand from China.

Operating income declined due to weaker overall pricing, mostly offset by lower depletion, lower overall logging costs, a
favorable exchange rate movement between the U.S. dollar and New Zealand dollar during the year versus the prior period and
the impact of a full year of consolidation of the JV in 2014. Full year Adjusted EBITDA of $45 million was $7 million above the
prior year period.
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Real Estate

Ourreal estate holdings are primarily in the southeastern United States. We have four categories of real estate sales: unimproved
development, improved development, rural and non-strategic timberlands. Our strategy is to extract maximum value from our
higher and better (“HBU”) properties while selling non-strategic holdings to allow reinvestment in more strategic properties.

Sales (in millions)

Development (Unimproved)..........

Development (Improved)...............

Non-Strategic/Timberlands (a)......
Total Sales..............cccooe....

Changes Attributable to:

(a) 2013 included $57 million from the sale of our New York timberland holdings.

(in_millions)

Operating Income.......................

(in_millions)

Adjusted EBITDA (a).....cccccvrvvenee.

Volume/
2013 Price Mix 2014
............................................................... $3 $(4) $6 $5
............................................................... 2 — (2) —
............................................................... 27 5 9 41
............................................................... 117 (13) (73) 31
............................................................... $149 $(12) $(60) $77
Changes Attributable to:
Non-Cash
Volume/ Cost of

2013 Price Mix Depletion Land Cost Other 2014

$56 $(12) $(1) $2 $1 $(3) $5 $48
Changes Attributable to:
Volume/

2013 Price Mix Cost Other 2014

................................ $84 $(12) $(2) $(3) $3 $70

(a) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.

Excluding the $57 million sale of New York timberlands in 2013, full year sales of $77 million were $15 million below 2013.
Operating income of $48 million was $5 million below the prior year, excluding $3 million of operating income from the sale of
our New York timberlands in 2013. Lower prices and volumes on timberland sales were partially offset by increased rural sales
volumes and prices. Full year operating income also included a $6 million settlement of a bankruptcy claim related to a 2006 sale.
Full year Adjusted EBITDA of $70 million decreased $14 million. The reduction in sales of timberland also reflected management’s
new strategy of focusing on timberland operations, and reducing reliance on timberland sales, to support cash flow generation.

Trading

(in_millions)

(in_millions)

Operating Income ............cccueneee..

Changes Attributable to:
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Volume/
2013 Price Other 2014
................................................................. $132 $(16) $(12) $104
Changes Attributable to:
2013 Margin F/X Other 2014
............................................................. $2 $1 $2 $(3) $2



Changes Attributable to:

(in_millions) 2013 Margin F/X Other 2014
Adjusted EBITDA (2)....vveeeeeeveeeeeeseeereseseeesesseseeessesseeseesseeeesessseeseeseseeeen $2 $1 $2 $(3) $2

(a) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined and reconciled at Item 6 — Selected Financial Data.

The Trading segment complements the New Zealand Timber segment by adding scale and achieving cost savings that directly
benefit the New Zealand Timber segment. Trading also contributes modestly to earnings without significant investment and provides
market intelligence that benefits the timber business.

Full year sales of $104 million were $28 million below 2013, while operating income and Adjusted EBITDA of $2 million
were comparable to the prior year.

Corporate and Other Expense/Eliminations

Corporate and other expense was $37 million in 2014 versus $30 million in 2013. The 2013 results included a $16 million
gain from the consolidation of the New Zealand JV while 2014 included $3 million of internal review and restatement costs.
Excluding these items, 2014 expense was favorable due to lower selling, general and administrative expenses as a result of the
spin-off.

Interest Expense and Interest/Other Income

Interest expense of $44 million in 2014 increased $3 million from the prior year as the benefit of lower debt balances was
more than offset by additional interest resulting from the consolidation of the New Zealand JV for the full year and a lower allocation
of'interest expense to discontinued operations. Interest/other expense increased $12 million over 2013 primarily due to unfavorable
mark-to-market adjustments on New Zealand interest rate swaps.

Income Tax Expense

The full year 2014 tax benefit from continuing operations including discrete items was $10 million in 2014 versus $36 million
in 2013. The current year income tax benefit reported reflects a $14 million valuation allowance related to the cellulosic biofuel
producer credit ("CBPC"), which was recorded in connection with the spin-off due to Rayonier's limited potential use of the CBPC
prior to its expiration on December 31, 2017. Income tax expense from discontinued operations was $21 million in 2014 versus
$106 million in 2013. The decline was primarily due to the inclusion of a full year of income from the Performance Fibers business
in 2013 discontinued operations versus a half year in 2014. See Note 10 — Income Taxes for additional information regarding the
provision for income taxes and the discrete tax items.

Outlook for 2015

In 2015, we expect further improvement in Southern pine sawlog prices as the U.S. housing market and economy continue
to slowly recover. We expect the dynamics of the China log export market to shift due to the devaluation of the Russian ruble,
which will likely have a negative impact on demand and pricing in our Pacific Northwest segment. We expect a more modest
decline in our New Zealand segment, which we expect will lose less market share to Russian log exports. Reflecting our previously
announced strategy of harvesting in line with our long-term sustainable yield, we are planning for harvest volumes in the Pacific
Northwest to be approximately 14 percent below 2014 levels, while we expect harvest volumes in the South to be modestly higher
than 2014 levels. In our Real Estate segment, we expect a modest decline in rural land sales, while we are planning for significantly
lower non-strategic / timberland sales consistent with our strategy of reducing reliance on these sales to augment cash flow.

Our 2015 outlook is subject to a number of variables and uncertainties, including those discussed at Item 1A — Risk Factors.
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Results of Operations, 2013 versus 2012

Southern Timber

Changes Attributable to:

Volume/
(in_millions) 2012 Price Mix/Other 2013
SALES e e e et e e e anata e e e e e anaes $109 $10 $5 $124

Changes Attributable to:

Volume/
(in_millions) 2012 Price Mix Cost/Other 2013
Operating INCOME. ........c.cvovevererereeieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $23 $10 — $5 $38

The Southern Timber segment's sales and operating income increased over 2012 primarily due to stronger pulpwood and
sawlog prices driven by increased demand in key markets from higher housing starts, supporting additional wood products capacity.
Pricing in this region also benefited from limited supply due to wet weather. Results also benefited from our December 2012 Texas
acquisition, which resulted in a 17 percent increase in 2013 sales over the prior year. Operating income also improved in 2013
due to higher non-timber income.

Pacific Northwest Timber

Changes Attributable to:

Volume/
(in_millions) 2012 Price Mix/Other 2013
SALES ..ottt ettt ettt et e eans $110 $12 $(12) $110

Changes Attributable to:

Volume/
(in_millions) 2012 Price Mix Cost/Other 2013
Operating INCOME. ........c.oveviveerieerieeeteeeeteeteteeteee et $21 $12 $3 $(3) $33

In the Pacific Northwest, sales were consistent with the prior year as increased prices, driven by strong export and domestic
demand, were offset by lower volumes of delivered wood. Operating income increased 57 percent due to higher prices, partially
offset by higher logging costs.

New Zealand Timber
Changes Attributable to:
Volume/
(in_millions) 2012 Price Mix/Other 2013
SALES ..ottt ettt et et $11 $20 $117 $148
Changes Attributable to:
Volume/
(in_millions) 2012 Price Mix Cost/Other 2013
Operating INCOME..........coeieiirierieriiiieiiereree et $2 $20 — $(12) $10

In April 2013, we acquired an additional 39 percent ownership in our New Zealand JV for $140 million. As a 65 percent
owner, we began consolidating the New Zealand JV’s results of operations in the second quarter of 2013. The improved 2013
results reflect $146 million of sales and $8 million of operating income from this increased ownership.
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Real Estate

Our real estate holdings are primarily in the southeastern United States. We segregate our real estate sales into four categories:
unimproved development HBU, improved development HBU, rural HBU and non-strategic / timberlands.

Changes Attributable to:

Volume/
Sales (in millions) 2012 Price Mix 2013
Development (Unimproved) ......c.cccecveererenenenenenenieieieeeeeeneseeeeneneens $2 — 1 $3
Development (IMProved) ........ccueoeeeiirerininenenesesieeeeee e — — 2 2
RULAL. ..ottt 32 6) 1 27
Non-Strategic/Timberlands...........coeceveereineineiinencneneeeeeeeeeee 23 (99) 193 117
TOtal SAIES.........cooiiiiiiee e $57 $(105) $197 $149

Changes Attributable to:

Volume/
(in_millions) 2012 Price Mix Cost/Other 2013
Operating INCOME. ........ccveieiriieeieiirie st $32 $(105) $154 $(25) $56

In2013, sales and operating income increased from prior year due to large sales of non-strategic/timberland properties including
approximately 21,000 acres in the southeast and 5,400 acres in Washington. Additionally, 2013 results included the sale of
approximately 128,000 acres of New York timberland holdings.

Trading
Changes Attributable to:
Volume/

(in millions) 2012 Price Other 2013
SALES ..ttt ettt ettt eeenee $94 $13 $25 $132

Changes Attributable to:
(in millions) 2012 Margin F/X Other 2013
OPErating INCOME ......ccveeeeieieieeieiieceie ettt se s ene s eeens — $1 $1 — $2

Sales from our Trading business increased $38 million over the prior year due to increased Asian demand, resulting in a $2
million increase in operating income.

Corporate and Other Expense/Eliminations

Corporate and other expenses for 2013 decreased $16 million from 2012, primarily due to the $16 million gain related to the
consolidation of the New Zealand JV. This gain included the recognition of a $10 million deferred gain based on the original sale
of our New Zealand operations to the New Zealand JV in 2005 and a $6 million benefit due to the required fair market value
remeasurement of our equity interest in the New Zealand JV held before the purchase of the additional interest.

Interest Expense and Interest/Other Income

Interest expense was $41 million in 2013 versus $43 million in 2012. The decrease was primarily due to a higher allocation
of interest to discontinued operations in 2013. The 2013 results included a $4 million charge on the early redemption by the note
holders of $41.5 million of our $172.5 million Senior Exchangeable Notes due in 2015, partially offset by lower borrowing rates
in 2013 compared to the prior year.

Income Tax Expense

The full year 2013 tax benefit from continuing operations before discrete items was $27 million compared to $32 million in
the prior year period. Including discrete items, the income tax benefit from continuing operations was $36 million in 2013 versus
$27 million in 2012. The lower income tax benefit for 2013 reflects $6 million in taxes associated with the gain on consolidation
of the New Zealand JV. See Note 10 — Income Taxes for additional information regarding the provision for income taxes and the
discrete tax items.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal source of cash is cash flow from operations, primarily the harvesting of timber and sales of real estate. Our
main use of cash is dividends due to the REIT distribution requirements. We also use cash to maintain the productivity of our
timberlands through replanting and silviculture. Our operations have generally produced consistent cash flows and required limited
capital resources. Short-term borrowings have helped fund working capital needs while acquisitions of timberlands generally
require funding from external sources.

Summary of Liquidity and Financing Commitments

As of December 31,

(in_millions of dollars) 2014 2013 2012

Cash and cash eqUIVAIEILS...........oeiiiiiirieieeiet ettt ettt b ettt e e e eneeseeneenens $162 $200 $281
TOLAl AEDE () c.vveeneeiieeieieeieet ettt sttt ettt ettt eae e 752 1,574 1,270
ShareholderS” CQUILY......cevviieieiiieietieteeteet ettt ettt sae e e sbe e e e teesbesbeesbesteessesseensesseessesreeneas 1,575 1,755 1,438
AdJusted EBITDA (D) ...eeoueieieieieieieteieteeie sttt sttt ettt ettt ese et esessessessessassassensensensaseensasens 235 220 122
Total capitalization (total debt pluS €QUILY)......c.ecveeierieriieieie et 2,327 3,329 2,708
DDt t0 CAPIAL TALIO ....veuteieieieieee ettt ae ettt sbe s b sa e be st et e e e e e e s eneeneeneas 32% N/M N/M
Debt to Adjusted EBITDA (D) ...cvoieieieieiieiecieeieeseee ettt sttt esaeneeneas 3.2 N/M N/M
Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA (D).....eccveriieieriieiieieiieierie ettt eeeseeeae s esesseeseesaessesssesseessesseennas 2.5 N/M N/M
Net debt to enterprise VAIUE (€) ...eoueeruerieriieieiiieiertiete ettt ettt e 14% N/M N/M

(a) 2014 total debt decreased from 2013 due to $812 million in net repayments during the year using proceeds primarily from
the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business and $10 million of favorable change in the exchange rate between the U.S.
dollar and New Zealand dollar at December 31, 2014 versus December 31, 2013. See Note 13 — Debt for additional
information.

(b) Forareconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income see Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations—Performance and Liquidity Indicators.

(¢) Enterprise value is calculated as the number of shares outstanding multiplied by the Company’s share price, plus net debt,
at December 31, 2014.

Liquidity Facilities

In April 2011, the Company entered into a five-year $300 million unsecured revolving credit facility, which was increased to
$450 million in August 2011. As part of the aforementioned spin-off of Performance Fibers, the revolving credit facility was fully
repaid and, in second quarter of 2014, amended to reduce the Company’s borrowing capacity to $200 million after the spin-off
was completed. The periodic interest rate on the revolving credit facility is LIBOR plus 117.5 basis points with an unused
commitment fee of 20 basis points. During fourth quarter 2014, the Company borrowed $16 million under the facility for general
corporate purposes and at December 31, 2014 had $182 million of available borrowing capacity, net of $2 million to secure its
outstanding letters of credit.

In December 2012, the Company entered into a $640 million senior unsecured term credit agreement with banks in the farm
credit system, which is a network of cooperatives. As part of the aforementioned spin-off of Performance Fibers, the facility was
fully repaid and, in second quarter 2014, amended to reduce the Company’s borrowing capacity to $100 million after the spin-off
was completed. The agreement matures in December 2019 and has a delayed draw feature that allows borrowings up to $100
million through December 2017 using a maximum of three remaining advances. The periodic interest rate on the term credit
agreement is LIBOR plus 162.5 basis points with an unused commitment fee of 20 basis points. The Company receives annual
patronage refunds, which are profit distributions made by a cooperative to its member-users based on the quantity or value of
business done with the member-user. The Company expects the effective interest rate to approximate LIBOR plus 107 basis points
after consideration of the patronage refunds. The Company had $100 million of available borrowing capacity under this facility
as of December 31, 2014.

The New Zealand JV is party to a $18 million Working Capital Facility which available for short-term operating cash flow
needs of the New Zealand JV. This facility holds a variable interest rate indexed to the Official Cash Rate set by the Reserve Bank
of New Zealand. The margin ranges from 1.20 percent to 1.45 percent based on the interest coverage ratio and the length of time
each borrowing is outstanding. At December 31, 2014, there was no outstanding balance on the Working Capital Facility.
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See Note 13 — Debt for additional information on these agreements and other outstanding debt, as well as for information
on covenants that must be met in connection with our installment note, mortgage notes, senior notes, term credit agreement and
the revolving credit facility.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for each of the past three
years ended December 31 (in millions of dollars):

2014 2013 2012
Total cash provided by (used for):
OPETAtiNg ACHIVITIES ...vevveviveeiitieicteeeetee ettt ettt ettt te et eae et ae et e e et et ese s eseeseseesesseseasesesseseaseneans $317 $545 $446
INVESTING ACHIVITIES ..uvvevvietierietieteeteesteeeesteetesteestesteessesteessesseessesseessesseessesseessesssessesssessesssessesssans (193) (469) (473)
FINANCING ACHIVITIES ... .eeveiieiesiieie ettt ettt ettt st tesee e e s st e e e st et e eneeseensesseensesneennes (161) (157) 229
Effect of exchange rate changes on Cash ...........ccovieiiiiieciiiieicceeee e 1) — —
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents..........c.occcevvieierieviinieieiececeee e $(38) @1 $202

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

The decline in cash provided by operating activities in 2014 was primarily attributable to lower income from the Performance
Fibers business and the spin-off of this segment on June 27, 2014. These results were partially offset by lower working capital
requirements as 2013 included a $70 million payment to exchange AFMC for CBPC.

Cash Used for Investing Activities

Cash used for investing activities in 2014 decreased $276 million compared to 2013. In 2014, a $121 million change in
restricted cash and a $38 million decrease in capital expenditures was largely offset by a $110 million increase in timberland
acquisitions. The prior year period included large cash outlays for the purchase of an additional interest in the New Zealand JV
0f $140 million and the Cellulose Specialties Expansion project of $148 million, partially offset by $63 million of after-tax proceeds
from the sale of our Wood Products business.

Cash (Used for) Provided by Financing Activities

Cash used for financing activities in 2014 was relatively consistent with the prior year. In 2014, higher net debt repayments
(including debt issuance costs) of $874 million and higher dividend payments of $20 million was offset by $906 million of proceeds
from the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business.

In 2014, our annual dividend was $2.03 per share. After making dividend payments of $0.49 per share in both the first and
second quarters, we reduced our third quarter dividend to $0.30 per share based on the post-spin structure of our Company. We
also paid a $0.50 per share special dividend in the third quarter from proceeds received from Rayonier Advanced Materials to
effect the spin-off. We lowered our dividend rate to $0.25 per share in the fourth quarter as a result of our previously announced
internal review and our revised expectations regarding annual harvest levels as well as reduced reliance on sales of non-strategic
timberlands.

Credit Ratings

Both our ability to obtain financing and the related costs of borrowing are affected by our credit ratings, which are periodically
reviewed by the rating agencies. The January 2014 announcement of the separation of the Performance Fibers business caused
Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”) to revise our outlook from “Stable” to “Under Review” while Standard & Poor’s Ratings
Services (“S&P”) revised our outlook from “Stable” to “Credit Watch Negative.” In July 2014, S&P lowered our credit ratings,
including our corporate credit rating, from “BBB+" to “BBB”. In November 2014, S&P further lowered our credit ratings to
“BBB-.” As of December 31, 2014, our credit ratings from S&P and Moody’s were “BBB-" and “Baa2,” respectively, with both

services listing our outlook as “Stable.”
Strategy

We continuously evaluate our capital structure. Our strategy is to keep our weighted-average cost of capital competitive with
other timberland REITs and TIMOs, while maintaining an investment grade debt rating as well as retaining the flexibility to
actively pursue opportunities as they become available. Overall, we believe we have adequate liquidity and sources of capital to
run our businesses efficiently and effectively and to maximize the value of our timberland and real estate assets under management.
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Expected 2015 Expenditures

Capital expenditures in 2015 are forecasted to be between $65 million and $68 million, excluding any strategic timberland
acquisitions we may make. Capital spending is expected to be primarily limited to seedling planting, fertilization and other
silvicultural activities. However, one of our strategic goals is to increase the size and quality of our timberland holdings through
acquisitions and we actively evaluate acquisition opportunities.

Our 2015 dividend payments are expected to be approximately $127 million assuming no change in the quarterly dividend
rate of $0.25 per share.

We made no discretionary pension contributions in 2014 or 2013. We have no mandatory pension contributions in 2015 but
may make discretionary contributions in the future. On an ongoing basis, cash income tax payments are expected to be minimal.
During 2015, we may repatriate approximately $27 million of proceeds received in consideration for our sale of forestry assets to
the New Zealand JV when it was formed in 2005. If this occurs, we anticipate that cash payments for income taxes in 2015 will
be approximately $3 million.

Performance and Liquidity Indicators

The discussion below is presented to enhance the reader’s understanding of our operating performance, liquidity, ability to
generate cash and satisfy rating agency and creditor requirements. This information includes two measures of financial results:
Adjusted Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”), and Cash Available
for Distribution (“CAD”). These measures are not defined by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) and the
discussion of Adjusted EBITDA and CAD is not intended to conflict with or change any of the GAAP disclosures described above.
Management considers these measures to be important to estimate the enterprise and shareholder values of the Company as a
whole and of'its core segments, and for allocating capital resources. In addition, analysts, investors and creditors use these measures
when analyzing our operating performance, financial condition and cash generating ability. Management uses Adjusted EBITDA
as a performance measure and CAD as a liquidity measure. Adjusted EBITDA and CAD as defined may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, depletion, amortization, the non-cash cost of
real estate sold (excluding strategic divestitures), the gain related to consolidation of the New Zealand joint venture, discontinued
operations, separation costs related to the Performance Fibers spin-off and internal review and restatement costs. Below is a
reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA for the five years ended December 31 (in millions of dollars):

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA Reconciliation

NEETICOMIE ...ttt ettt bttt s st s b sese s esesns $98 $374 $279 $276 $218
Interest, net, coNtinUING OPETAtIONS ......cccverveeverieerieniieniinienieeiereeeeeneeas 50 38 42 45 48
Income tax benefit, continuing Operations ...........oceeceevvereereereereeeruennens (10) (36) 27) (48) (42)
Depreciation, depletion and amortization.............ecveeeeveereerveriesvennennnn 120 117 85 77 82
Non-cash cost of [and SOld .........cceieriiieiieieeee e 13 10 5 4 7
Cost related to spin-off of Performance Fibers .........c.cccoccovvriiniennnnen. 4 — — — —
Internal review and restatement COSES........cvevirierireiereecieneeieseeenenenes 4 — — — —
Gain related to interest in New Zealand JV () ......occeevvveveveieiereenenen. — (16) — — (12)
Discontinued operations (D) .......ccceveeeerierienieiere e (44) (267) (262) (218) (169)

Adjusted EBITDA.......cooiiieiiieieteeesee ettt $235 $220 $122 $136 $132

(a) Includes a $16 million gain related to the consolidation of the New Zealand JV in 2013 and a $12 million gain from the
sale of a portion of the Company’s interest in the New Zealand JV in 2010.

(b) Includes net income from discontinued operations.

See Item 6 — Selected Financial Data for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Operating Income by segment as well
as Item 7 — Results of Operations for an analysis in changes in Adjusted EBITDA from the prior year.
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CAD is a non-GAAP measure of cash generated during a period which is available for dividend distribution, repurchase of
the Company’s common shares, debt reduction and strategic acquisitions. We define CAD as Cash Provided by Operating
Activities adjusted for capital spending (excluding strategic acquisitions), strategic divestitures, cash provided by discontinued
operations and working capital and other balance sheet changes. In compliance with SEC requirements for non-GAAP
measures, we reduce CAD by mandatory debt repayments which results in the measure entitled “Adjusted CAD.” Adjusted
CAD generated in any period is not necessarily indicative of the amounts that may be generated in future periods.

Below is a reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Adjusted CAD for the five years ended December 31
(in millions):

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Cash provided by operating activities (@) .......ococvevvereveeereeirieesieeereeeienas $317 $545 $446 $432 $495
Capital expenditures from continuing operations (b) .........cccceeeeeenens (63) (64) (50) 44) (35)
Non-cash cost of New York timberland sale.........c..cccceceverinincncnenne. — (54) — — —
Cash flow from discontinued Operations ............ccceeeervereerreeeerreevennenns (118) (276) (314) (271) (419)
Working capital and other balance sheet changes............cccccoceveeinen. 21 (68) (69) (81) 3
CAD ettt b $115 $83 $13 $36 $44
Mandatory debt repaymMeEnts...........ccveeeeriieeerrieienieeeenteeeesieeaeseeeneseens — (42) (323) (93) (1
AJUSEEA CAD ...ttt $115 $41 $(310) $(57) $43
Cash used for Investing aCtiVIties ........ceceeierieieriieieneeee e $(193)  $(469)  $(473)  $(489)  $(143)
Cash (used for) provided by financing activities............ccccoeveveevevieverenennn. $(161)  $(157) $229  $(215) $(78)

(a) Cash flow from operating activities for 2010 includes $205.2 million, net of expenses, related to the AFMC offset by a $27.5
million pension contribution.

(b) Capital expenditures exclude strategic capital of $131 million for timberland acquisitions during the year ended December 31,
2014. Strategic capital totaled $140 million for the purchase of additional interest in the New Zealand JV and $20 million for
timberland acquisitions for the year ended December 31, 2013. In 2012, timberland acquisitions totaled $107 million.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We utilize off-balance sheet arrangements to provide credit support for certain suppliers and vendors in case of their default
on critical obligations, and collateral for certain self-insurance programs that we maintain. These arrangements consist of standby
letters of credit and surety bonds. As part of our ongoing operations, we also periodically issue guarantees to third parties. Off-
balance sheet arrangements are not considered a source of liquidity or capital resources and do not expose us to material risks or
material unfavorable financial impacts. See Note 19 — Guarantees for further discussion.

Contractual Financial Obligations

In addition to using cash flow from operations, we finance our operations through the issuance of debt and by entering into
leases. These financial obligations are recorded in accordance with accounting rules applicable to the underlying transaction, with
the result that some are recorded as liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, while others are required to be disclosed in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

The following table aggregates our contractual financial obligations as of December 31, 2014 and anticipated cash spending
by period:

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Financial Obligations (in millions) Total 2015 2016-2017 2018-2019 Thereafter
Long-term debt (2) .....cevevevrerereeveeeeeeeieieeeeeeeeeeeee e $621 — $252 — $369
Current maturities of long-term debt (b).......cccevveivrieivnene 131 131 — — —
Interest payments on long-term debt (C) .......ccvvvevvrererieeeennne. 118 29 34 24 31
Operating leases — timberland.............ccoceoereinininiicicee 175 10 19 15 131
Operating leases — PP&E, offices .........ccooovvievieiinieiicee 3 1 1 1 —
Purchase obligations — derivatives (d) .......cccceeeveveecrenincnennnnns 8 — — 6 2
Purchase obligations — Other ...........cccooeeieieiiiniiccee 1 — 1 — —

Total contractual cash obligations............ccccoeeveveereennne. $1,057 $171 $307 $46 $533

(a) The book value of our long-term debt is currently recorded at $621.8 million on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet,
but upon maturity the liability will be $620.5 million.

(b) The book value of our current maturities of long-term debt is currently recorded at $129.7 million on our consolidated balance
sheet, but upon maturity the liability will be $131.0 million.

(c) Projected interest payments for variable-rate debt were calculated based on outstanding principal amounts and interest rates
as of December 31, 2014.

(d) Purchase obligations represent payments expected to be made on derivative instruments held in New Zealand. See Note 6 —
Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market and Other Economic Risks

We are exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates, commodity prices and foreign exchange rates.
We use derivatives in accordance with policies and procedures approved by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.
Derivatives are managed by a senior executive committee whose responsibilities include initiating, managing and monitoring
resulting exposures. We do not enter into financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $31 million of U.S. long-term variable rate debt which is subject to interest rate risk. At
this borrowing level, a hypothetical one-percentage point increase/decrease in interest rates would result in a corresponding
increase/decrease of approximately $0.3 million in interest payments and expense over a 12 month period. Our primary interest
rate exposure on U.S. variable rate debt results from changes in LIBOR.

As of December 31, 2014, our New Zealand JV had $184 million of long-term variable rate debt. This debt is subject to
interest rate risk resulting from changes in the 90 day New Zealand Bank bill rate. The New Zealand JV uses interest rate swaps
to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its bank loan by swapping a portion of these borrowings from floating rates
to fixed rates. The notional amount of the outstanding long-term interest rate swap contracts at December 31, 2014 was $149
million, or 81 percent of the variable rate debt. The weighted average fixed interest rate of long-term interest rate swaps as of
December 31, 2014 is 5.2 percent. These contracts have maturity dates extending through January 2020. We also have short-term
interest rate contracts with a notional amount of $13 million.

The fair market value of our long-term fixed interest rate debt changes as interest rates change. The estimated fair value of
our long-term fixed-rate debt at December 31, 2014 was $413 million compared to the $405 million principal amount. We use
interest rates of debt with similar terms and maturities to estimate the fair value of our debt. Generally, the fair market value of
fixed-rate debt will increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise. A hypothetical one-percentage point increase/
decrease in prevailing interest rates at December 31, 2014 would result in a corresponding decrease of approximately $21 million
or increase of approximately $23 million in the fair value of our long-term fixed-rate debt.

The functional currency of the Company’s New Zealand-based operations and New Zealand JV is the New Zealand dollar.
Through these operations and our ownership in the New Zealand JV, we are exposed to foreign currency risk on cash held in
foreign currencies and on foreign export sales and ocean freight payments that are predominantly denominated in U.S. dollars.
To mitigate these risks, the New Zealand JV routinely enters into foreign currency exchange contracts and foreign currency option
contracts to hedge a portion of the New Zealand JV’s foreign exchange exposure. At December 31, 2014, the New Zealand JV
had foreign currency option contracts with a notional amount of $79 million and foreign currency exchange contracts with a
notional amount of $29 million. The amount hedged represents 55 percent of forecast U.S. dollar denominated sales proceeds over
the next 18 months. In December 2014, we entered into a foreign currency exchange contract with a notional amount of NZ$35
million, or US$27 million as of December 31, 2014. The foreign currency contract is designated as a net investment hedge of our
New Zealand based-operations to mitigate our risk to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. For additional information
regarding our derivative balances and activity, see Note 6 — Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities.

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See Index to Financial Statements on page ii.

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
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Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Rayonier management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate disclosure controls and procedures. Disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) are
designed with the objective of ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports filed under the Exchange
Act, such as this annual report on Form 10-K, is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified
in the SEC’s rules and forms and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no control evaluation can provide absolute assurance that all control
exceptions and instances of fraud have been prevented or detected on a timely basis. Even systems determined to be effective can
provide only reasonable assurance that their objectives are achieved.

Based on an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this annual report on
Form 10-K, our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that the design and
operation of the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2014.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

With regard to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as defined in paragraph (f) of Rule 13a-15(f), see
Management s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting on page F-1, followed by the Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm on pages F-2 through F-3, included in Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this
annual report on Form 10-K.

In our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, management concluded that our internal
controls over financial reporting were not effective as of December 31, 2013, March 31, 2014, June 30, 2014 or September 30,
2014.

On June 27, 2014, the Company spun off its Performance Fibers business to its shareholders as a newly formed publicly traded
company named Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc. Following the spin-off, new management conducted a review of the Company’s
operations and business strategies and identified issues related to its historical timber harvest levels, its estimate of merchantable
timber inventory and the effect of such estimate on its calculation of depletion expense in each of the quarterly periods ended
March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2014. At the direction of the Company’s Board of Directors, management commenced an internal
review into these matters with the assistance of independent counsel, forensic accountants and financial advisers. As a result of
the internal review, the Company concluded that it included in merchantable timber inventory, timber in specially designated
parcels located in restricted, environmentally sensitive or economically inaccessible areas, which was incorrect, inconsistent with
the Company’s definition of merchantable timber inventory, and a significant change from prior years. As a result, management
concluded that the Company understated depletion expense in cost of goods sold (referred to as “Cost of sales” in the Company’s
consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income) by approximately $2.0 million in each of the quarterly periods
ended March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2014, which resulted in a corresponding overstatement of income from continuing operations
of $1.9 million and $2.0 million, respectively, in those periods. Management determined that errors in depletion expense calculated
in the years ended December 31, 2013, and 2012 were immaterial and did not require restatement. The cumulative effect of the
immaterial errors in depletion expense for these and prior periods were reflected in the Company’s financial statements for the
third quarter of 2014 as an out-of-period adjustment. The Company filed amendments to its Forms 10-Q for the quarterly periods
ended March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2014 and restated its interim consolidated financial statements for those periods.

Management and Ernst & Young LLP (“EY”) originally concluded that there was not a material weakness in the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, and this conclusion was reflected in the Company’s Initial Form
10-K. Subsequent to the filing of the Initial Form 10-K and in connection with the restatement discussed above, under the direction
of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management conducted a reevaluation of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. After extensive consultation with EY and the Company’s forensic accountants,
management concluded that the Company did not maintain effective control, as of December 31, 2013, over the accounting for
depletion expense. Specifically, the Company’s controls related to the preparation and review of the annual depletion calculation
which commenced in 2013 were not adequate to ensure that the changes in depletion rate estimates used to recognize depletion
expense in 2014 were in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Further, these
controls relied, in part, on electronic data from information technology systems with ineffective user access and program change
management general controls. Accordingly, management has now concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting was ineffective at December 31,2013 based on the aggregation of these deficiencies. EY has reached the same conclusion.
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During the third and fourth quarters of 2014, the Company implemented its plan to remediate the material weakness described
above, which consisted of the following main elements:

* enhanced senior finance management supervision and review of the depletion rate estimates and coordination with the
Company’s technical and operations personnel as to volumes of merchantable timber included in the calculation of
depletion expense,

* instituted more formal procedures around the review and approval of changes to the estimate of merchantable timber
inventory and its effect on the calculation of depletion expense, and

+ implemented controls over user access and changes to system data used in the depletion rate estimates.

As of December 31, 2014, management has determined that the material weakness identified has been remediated. EY has reached
the same conclusion.

In the quarter ended December 31, 2014, based upon the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rule 13a-15, there were no
other changes in our internal control over financial reporting that would materially affect or are reasonably likely to materially
affect our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART IIT

Certain information required by Part III is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement to be
filed with the SEC in connection with the solicitation of proxies for the Company’s 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the
“Proxy Statement”). We will make the Proxy Statement available on our website at www.rayonier.com as soon as it is filed with
the SEC.

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item with respect to directors, executive officers and corporate governance is incorporated
by reference from the sections entitled “Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” “Executive Officers” and “Report of the
Audit Committee” in the Proxy Statement. The information required by this Item with respect to disclosure of any known late
filing or failure by an insider to file a report required by Section 16 of the Exchange Act is incorporated by reference to the section
entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement.

Our Standard of Ethics and Code of Corporate Conduct, which is applicable to our principal executive officer and financial
and accounting officer, is available on our website, www.rayonier.com. Any amendments to or waivers of the Standard of Ethics
and Code of Corporate Conduct will also be disclosed on our website.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information called for by Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference from the section and subsections entitled
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Summary Compensation Table,” “Grants of Plan-Based Awards,” “Outstanding Equity
Awards at Fiscal Year-End,” “Option Exercises and Stock Vested,” “Pension Benefits,” “Nonqualified Deferred Compensation,”
“Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control,” “Director Compensation,” “Corporate Governance —
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation; Processes and Procedures” and “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis — Report of the Compensation and Management Development Committee” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information called for by Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference from the sections entitled “Share Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners,” “Share Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information”
in the Proxy Statement.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information called for by Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference from the section and subsections entitled “Election
of Directors,” “Corporate Governance — Director Independence” and “Corporate Governance — Related Person Transactions”
in the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information called for by Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference from the subsection entitled “Report of the Audit
Committee — Information Regarding Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)  Documents filed as a part of this report:
(1)  See Index to Financial Statements on page ii for a list of the financial statements filed as part of this report.

(2)  See Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. All other financial statement schedules have been omitted
because they are not applicable, the required matter is not present or the required information has otherwise been
supplied in the financial statements or the notes thereto.

(3)  See Exhibit Index for a list of the exhibits filed or incorporated herein as part of this report. Exhibits that are
incorporated by reference to documents filed previously by the Company under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, are filed with the SEC under File No. 1-6780.

(b)  Exhibits:
See Item 15 (a)(3).
(c)  Financial Statement Schedules:

See Item 15 (a)(2).
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
To Our Shareholders:

The management of Rayonier Inc. and its subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our system of
internal controls over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and Board
of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, misstatements due to error or fraud may not
be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Rayonier Inc.’s management, under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assessed the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014. In making this assessment, we used the
framework included in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on our evaluation under the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2014.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, has issued an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014,
The report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, is on page F-3.

RAYONIER INC.

By: /s/ DAVID L. NUNES

David L. Nunes
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Olfficer)

March 2, 2015

By: /s/ MARK MCHUGH

Mark McHugh
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 2, 2015

By: /s/ H. EDWIN KIKER

H. Edwin Kiker
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

March 2, 2015




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Rayonier Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December
31,2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2014. Our audit also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at
Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements
taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries' internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework), and our report dated March 2, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Jacksonville, Florida
March 2, 2015



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Rayonier Inc.

We have audited Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission “(2013 framework)” (the COSO criteria). Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2014, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheet of Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated
statements of income and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2014 of Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries and our report dated March 2, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Jacksonville, Florida
March 2, 2015



RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31,

(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

Costs and Expenses
COSE OF SALES .ttt
Selling and general EXPENSES ........ececveeeiruerierieieieeterieeeeeseeresteseeseeseesessesseeeseeseens
Other operating income, net (NOte 16) .......cccoeieiiiiiiiiiiee e

Equity in income of New Zealand joint VENtUIe ...........cccoeeevierieiienieieie e

OPERATING INCOME BEFORE GAIN RELATED TO CONSOLIDATION OF
NEW ZEALAND JOINT VENTURE ...

Gain related to consolidation of New Zealand joint venture (Note 4)..........ccccceeeereenennen.
OPERATING INCOMIE .........cooiiiiiiiiiiieitnieieteetse ittt ettt
INLETEST EXPEIISE ..eonveiiiiiiieiie ettt ettt sttt sat e st e bt e s et e ebe e bt e sateenaes
Interest and miscellaneous (€Xpense) INCOME, NEL ........c.eecvereerrierierrieierieerieieneeeeeenseeseennas

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME
TAXES ..ottt a et es

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET (Note 3)

Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax expense of $20,578,
$106,397 and STI5,450 ......ooviiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt

NET INCOME ..ottt ettt ettt ettt
Less: Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest .............cccoecveeeereeceeniennnne.
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC...........ccoooovevvieiierierreene.
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Fogf(:)ign currency translation adjustment, net of income tax benefit of $78, $0 and

New Zealand joint venture cash flow hedges, net of income tax benefit (expense)
Of $861, ($248) and SO .......ovieeiieiee e

Net gain (loss) from pension and postretirement plans, net of income tax
(expense) benefit of ($35,852), ($27,786) and ($339) .....ooveveeveieiieeeeeeeen.

Total other cOMPrehensive INCOME ...........ccverieriiriieieiieieie et
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ......ccoccooiiiiiiiiiiieiieitnee ettt
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest ..............ceceverieniennee.
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC................
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC.
ContinUINg OPEIALIONS ..c..euvevietireiienieiieteetertetesteetste ettt etesbesbeteseeseesesbenteeeneesens
Discontinued OPEIatioNs ...........ccueceeueeirierierieieieetestesereeieeie et ste et esesre st eeneeneeaesees
NEt INCOME ..o s

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC.

ContinuUing OPETALIONS .......ccueeierieriieriertieierteettet ettt ettt ete st eee et sseenteseeeeeseeeneens
Discontinued OPErations ..........ceceeeerueruieieriieiieieeieeie st eee et eee st eee e ieeeesbeenean
NEt INCOME ...t

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2014 2013 2012
$603,521  $659,718  $378,608
483,860 530,772 305,479
47,883 55,433 58,632
(26,511) (18,487) (17,011)
505,232 567,718 347,100
— 562 550
98,289 92,562 32,058
— 16,098 —
98,289 108,660 32,058
(44,248) (40,941) (42,826)
(9,199) 2,439 482
44,842 70,158 (10,286)
9,601 35,685 27,060
54,443 105,843 16,774
43,403 267,955 261,911
97,846 373,798 278,685
(1,491) 1,902 —
99,337 371,896 278,685
(15,847) (5,710) 4352
(1,855) 3,629 213
54,046 61,869 (496)
36,344 59,788 4,069
134,190 433,586 282,754
(6,462) (1,550) —
$140,652 _ $435,136 _ $282.754
$0.44 $0.83 $0.14
0.34 2.13 2.13
$0.78 $2.96 $2.27
$0.43 $0.80 $0.13
0.33 2.06 2.04
$0.76 $2.86 $2.17




RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31,
(Thousands of dollars)
2014 2013
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash €QUIVAIENLS .........cceririeirieieieieiirieeieteeee ettt ettt e et seneeens $161,558 $199,644
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $42 and $673 .......ccovvvvvvvivciiiienen. 24,018 94,956
INVENLOTY (INOLE 12) ettt sttt b e st s et sbe e et be e e 9,042 138,818
Current AefEITEA TAX ASSELS .....iiviiiiieiie it ee ettt ettt e ettt e e eae e e e et e e e eaeeeeaeeeeaaeesaaeeseneeeseneeas — 39,100
Prepaid I0ZZING TOAAS ..cc.evuiriiieieiietieietee ettt ettt ettt ettt st ae et eneeten 12,665 12,992
Prepaid and Other CUITENT @SSELS ......cc.erveieiriirtirieieieteste ettt sttt ettt sttt st sae e eneeneetens 7,080 33,584
TOLA]l CUITENE ASSELS ..eeiveiiiieiieeteee et ee ettt e e ettt e e et e et e et e e aaeeeenaeeeeaeeeesteeessseesesseesenseesaneeeans 214,363 519,094
TIMBER AND TIMBERLANDS, NET OF DEPLETION AND AMORTIZATION........................ 2,083,743 2,049,378
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
LLANA oottt ettt ettt ettt ettt ete et et et ettt e ete et et erseaeete et et enserseteeteas 1,833 20,138
BUIIAINZS  «onvevinieteiiietiieteee ettt sttt ettt ettt et ettt es et et enesbes et eseneeseneeseseneeseneas 8,961 180,573
Machinery and EQUIPITIEIIT ....c..eeeuertirieieieirtertentetet et ste st et entete et be et ese et e seesbete st eneebesteteneeneanenrens 3,503 1,760,641
Construction in progress 579 19,795
Total property, plant and eqUIPMENt, BLOSS ......ce.erverierieieririirierieieieeiestertee ettt sees 14,876 1,981,147
Less—accumulated depreCiation ...........coceciierierieieieiiesieeeceie ettt ettt st enesbens (8,170)  (1,120,326)
Total property, plant and eqUIPMENt, NEL........c.cecererierieieiririerieieeee et 6,706 860,821
OTHER ASSETS (NOEE ) ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e s ssesseasese et e s essessessenas 148,303 256,208
TOTAL ASSETS ...ttt ettt et ettt et et ae et aaeteese s et e s eanesens $2.453,115 _ $3,685,501
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
ACCOUNES PAYADIE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt st ese e se st st e s e s eseneesesessesensesaneas $20,211 $69,293
Current maturities of long-term debt (NOte 13) ..ocveiiiiiiiriiieiieeee e 129,706 112,500
ACCTUECA TAXES ..ttt ettt et e e et e e eteeeete e e etaeeeenaeeeeaeeeeenaeeeensaeesnseesnseeseneeeesnseeeanes 11,405 8,551
UNCETtain taX POSILIONS ..eoviveieuietietirtetenietteteet et etes et ste st et e st etesbesbe b e st et e esesbete e eseebesteseneeneeneatens — 10,547
Accrued payroll and DENETILS ........coevirieiiiiiriiiee ettt 6,390 24,948
ACCTUECH IIEETEST ...eeviiiieeiie ettt ettt et e e et e e e ae e e eteeeeaaeeeeaaeeeenaeeeensaessnaseesnnsessenseesenseeeanes 8,433 9,531
ACCTUEd CUSTOMET INCEINTIVES .....vviiiieeiieieiieecetieeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeteeeeeaaeeeeaeeeeenaeeeenseeseaseeeasessesseesenseeeanns — 9,580
Other CUITENt HADITITIES .....cviiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt e et e e e e e e eae e e e eaa e e eenaeeeeneeeeeneeas 25,857 24,327
Current liabilities for dispositions and discontinued operations (Note 17) ......ccceeveeeerereneeeennnn — 6,835
Total current liabilities 202,002 276,112

LONG-TERM DEBT (Note 13)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FOR DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

621,849 1,461,724

(NOLE 17) oo — 69,543
PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (Note 22) ..........ccccoocouevvumimieeriiinnenenns 33,477 95,654
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ...........cccooooiiiiiiiiiinininneisncesseseeessoe s 20,636 27,225

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Notes 18, 19 and 20)
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Shares, 480,000,000 shares authorized, 126,773,097 and 126,257,870 shares issued and

OULSEANIAINE .....iiiiieiiiiiceieeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt e et e et e st et e e ae et esaesateneeeasensesseeatensesesensesssennesesneans 702,598 692,100
Retained earnings 790,697 1,015,209
Accumulated other COMPIenenSiVe LOSS .......ccoevvieieiiiriieieieeiee et (4,825) (46,139)

TOTAL RAYONIER INC. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY..........ccoooiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeee e 1,488,470 1,661,170
NONCONTTOIING TNTETESE ....vivieeiieiieiiiiieiiesteet ettt ettt ettt eteste et e besatentesseensasseeseeseeseensesseeneansesseans 86,681 94,073
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY ......oooiiiiiiieeeeeeeeee e 1,575,151 1,755,243
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY.......c.ccoooiiiiiiieeieeeecee $2,453,115 $3,685,501

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,
(Thousands of dollars)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NEEINCOIMIE ...ttt sttt b et enenes

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortiZation...........c..cceeerreerrerieinieenenieeneeneeereee e nees
Non-cash cost of land sold.............c.ccceueee
Non-cash cost of New York timberland sale
Stock-based incentive cCOMPeNnSation EXPENSE ........c.ceerveutrrereererrererieeererseresreeerenseressensenenne
Amortization of debt diSCOUNt/PIEMIUML..........cceeierierierierierierieeeeeeiieieiee et eeeeneens
Deferred INCOME tAXES ......cvvimiuiiiiiiiiiiiieieiitrie e
Tax benefit of AFMC for CBPC eXChange...........ccccvueirenieinieninienicinciecncceeeecseecenene
Non-cash adjustments to unrecognized tax benefit liability..........cccccceevvicnirnincincnnnenn.
Depreciation and amortization from discontinued Operations..............cocceeeveeererreneennes
Amortization of losses from pension and postretirement plans............c.ccccveeveerecinenecne.
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
RECEIVADIES ...t e
INVEILOTIES ...ttt
Accounts payable.....
Income tax receivable/Payable ...
All other Operating ACLIVILIES .......ccceerieuirieiriirieiinieerieeteestet ettt ettt st ere e nees
Payment to exchange AFMC for CBPC.........c.cccoiiiiiniiiiiicicinectreeeseereee st
Expenditures for dispositions and discontinued OPerations .............c.ceecereereereerienieenenereneenne
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES.......cccccoviiiiniiniieencieeeecneecenene
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital EXPENAITUIES ......coveuieiiieiiitiieietetet ettt ettt ettt sttt et a et b et be e e b
Purchase of additional interest in New Zealand joint VENTUIe............coeceverveeneineniecnenreeneennes
Purchase of timberlands

CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES .....ccooiiiirnieieinrieieensieietseeieiee e
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of debt (Note 13)
Repayment Of deDt........coouiiiiiiiiiiii ettt

DiIvIAends Paid......c.co.eoveiriiiiiniiice ettt
Proceeds from the issuance of common Shares.............coccverieieniinineineniencceeree e
Excess tax benefits on stock-based COMPENSAtION ........cc.ccevuiieiirieiiinieiniiieence et
Repurchase of COMMON ShATES .......c.ccooiiuiriiiiiiiieicere et
DEDE ISSUAINCE COSES.....uvviriiirienieiiteiieient ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt sttt a et bt s et et seenenaen
Purchase of timberland deeds for Rayonier Advanced Materials ...........cocovenevenienieienecincnecnee
Debt issuance funds distributed to Rayonier Advanced Materials..........c.ccceceneciniincccneniecnennes
Proceeds from spin-off of Rayonier Advanced Materials

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES. .......ccccocoviniinicnnne
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH........ccocoiiinniiineeceeeeee
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Change in cash and cash equIValEnts ............cccoeeiiiriiininiiiccc e
Balance, beginning Of YEar..........cocoviriiiriiiiicneteeere ettt
Balance, end of year

2014 2013 2012
$97,846 $373,798 $278,685
119,980 116,854 84,631

13,264 10,212 4,746
— 53,990 —

7,869 11,683 15,116
1,092 1,215 6,323
1,828 5,857 3,505

— (18,761) (12,196)
(6,597) 3,967 —
37,985 74,940 64,087
7,276 22,029 19,493

— (42,121) —

— (16,098) —

— 3,974 —

3,307 (6,082) (2,880)
4,300 11,100 (4,248)
3,926 (19,986) (10,649)
29,929 (1,655) (7,967)
838 47,232 65,212
(1,200) (8,094) 2,750
— (70,311) (50,768)
(5,096) (8,570) (9,926)
316,547 545,173 445914
(123,689) (162,183) (155,520)
— (139,879) —
(130,896) (20,401) (106,536)
— (148,262) (198,341)

— 62,720 —
62,256 (58,385) (10,559)
(478) (2,530) (1,945)
(192,807) (468,920) (472,901)
1,426,464 622,885 1,230,000
(1,289,637) (549,485) (813,610)
(257,517) (237,016) (206,583)
5,579 10,101 25,495

— 8,413 7,635
(1,858) (11,326) (7,783)
(12,380) — (6,135)
(12,677) — —

(924,943) — —

906,200 — —

(680) (713) —
(161,449) (157,141) 229,019
(377) (64) (39)
(38,086) (80,952) 201,993
199,644 280,596 78,603
$161,558 $199,644 $280,596




RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
For the Years Ended December 31,

(Thousands of dollars)
2014 2013 2012

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid during the year:

TIMEETESE ...ttt ettt et s et s et et ese et et ea et ene et et et et nsea et en e et eneete e eneenan $47,640 $44,156 $34,956

TNCOMIE tAXES ..ottt ettt et e et e e et e e e ae e eeteeeeateeeteeeeaaeeeaaaeeas 8,789 99,120 74,745
Non-cash investing activity:

Capital assets purchased 0N ACCOUNL........ceuiriiriereririrereetee ettt 2,599 15,522 25,926
Non-cash financing activity:

Shareholder debt assumed in acquisition of New Zealand joint venture — 125,532 —

Conversion of shareholder debt to equity noncontrolling interest...........ecevveverererenennenns — (95,961) —

Partial conversion of Senior Exchangeable Notes t0 quity........ccceeeeeieieiienienenenenenenne — 2,453 —

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Rayonier Inc., including its consolidated subsidiaries (“Rayonier” or “the Company”), is a leading timberland real estate
investment trust (“REIT”) with assets located in some of the most productive timber growing regions in the U.S. and New Zealand.
The Company owns or leases approximately 2.7 million acres of timberland, located in the United States and New Zealand. Included
in this property is approximately 0.2 million acres of timberlands located primarily along the coastal region from Savannah, Georgia
to Daytona Beach, Florida, with long-term potential for real estate development. The Company also engages in the trading of logs,
primarily to support the Company’s New Zealand export operations.

Rayonier operates in five reportable business segments: Southern Timber, Pacific Northwest Timber, New Zealand Timber,
Real Estate and Trading. See Note 5 — Segment and Geographical Information for further discussion of its reportable business
segments and Note 3 — Discontinued Operations for additional information on the sale of the Wood Products business and the
spin-off of the Performance Fibers business.

The Company is a REIT and is generally not required to pay federal income taxes on its U.S. timber harvest earnings and
other U.S. REIT operations contingent upon meeting applicable distribution, income, asset, shareholder and other tests. The U.S.
timber operations are primarily conducted by the Company’s wholly-owned REIT subsidiaries. Non-REIT qualifying and certain
foreign operations, which are subject to corporate-level tax on earnings, are operated by taxable subsidiaries. These operations
include the Real Estate segment’s entitlement and sale of higher and better use (“HBU”) properties as well as the log trading
business. The Company’s consolidated joint venture, Matariki Forestry Group (“New Zealand JV”), is subject to entity-level tax
in New Zealand.

Southern, Pacific Northwest and New Zealand Timber

The Company’s Timber segments own or lease approximately 2.7 million acres of timberlands located in the U.S. and New
Zealand. The Timber segments conduct timber harvesting activities, manage timberlands and sell timber and logs to third parties.
On April 4, 2013, the Company acquired an additional 39 percent interest in the New Zealand JV, which currently owns or leases
approximately 451,000 gross acres (309,000 net plantable acres) of New Zealand timberlands. The acquisition of additional interest
brought the Company’s ownership to 65 percent. As a result, the New Zealand JV’s results of operations have been consolidated
and included within the New Zealand Timber segment (formerly within the Forest Resources segment) since the date Rayonier
acquired control. Rayonier’s wholly owned subsidiary, Rayonier New Zealand Limited (“RNZ”) serves as the manager of the New
Zealand JV forests. See Note 4 — Joint Venture Investment.

During 2014, the Company acquired approximately 62 thousand acres of timberlands. See Note 8 — Timberland Acquisitions
for additional information.

Real Estate

The vast majority of the Company’s HBU properties are managed as timberland and generate cash flow from timber operations
prior to their sale or, in the case of Development Improved properties, prior to improvement. As a portion of the Company’s acreage
has become more valuable for development, residential, recreational or conservation purposes than for growing timber, Rayonier
employs a detailed land classification process for all of its timberland and HBU acres.

Trading

The Company’s trading business comprises log trading in New Zealand conducted by the New Zealand JV in two core areas
of business: managed export services on behalf of third parties and procured logs for export sale by the New Zealand JV. The
Trading segment complements the New Zealand Timber segment by adding scale and achieving cost savings that directly benefit
the New Zealand Timber segment.



RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). These statements include the accounts of Rayonier Inc. and its subsidiaries,
in which it has a majority ownership or controlling interest. As of April 2013, the Company held a controlling interest (65 percent)
in its New Zealand JV, and, as such, consolidates its results of operations and Balance Sheet. The Company also records a
noncontrolling interest in its consolidated financial statements representing the minority ownership interest (35 percent) of the
New Zealand JV’s results of operations and equity. All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and to disclose contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. There are risks inherent
in estimating and therefore actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include time deposits with original maturities of three months or less. The consolidated cash balance
includes time deposits of $0 and $45 million at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. The time deposit
outstanding at December 31, 2013 was a one-month instrument which bore interest at 24 basis points.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are primarily amounts due to the Company for the sale of timber and are presented net of an allowance
for doubtful accounts.

Prepaid Logging Roads

Costs for roads in the Pacific Northwest built to access particular tracts to be harvested in the upcoming 24 months are recorded
as prepaid logging roads. The Company charges such costs to expense as timber is harvested using an amortization rate determined
annually as the total cost of prepaid roads divided by the estimated tons of timber to be accessed by those roads. The prepaid
balance is classified as short-term or long-term based on the upcoming harvest schedule.

Inventory

HBU real estate properties that are expected to be sold within one year are included in inventory, while properties that are
expected to be sold after one year are included in “Other assets.” Inventory also includes seedlings as well as logs available to be
sold by the log trading segment.

Timber and Timberlands

Timber is stated at the lower of cost or market value. Costs relating to acquiring, planting and growing timber including real
estate taxes, lease rental payments, site preparation and direct support costs relating to facilities, vehicles and supplies are capitalized.
Payroll costs are capitalized only for time spent on these activities, while interest or any other intangible costs aside from those
mentioned above are not capitalized. An annual depletion rate is established for each particular region by dividing merchantable
inventory cost by standing merchantable inventory volume, which is estimated annually. The Company charges accumulated costs
attributed to merchantable timber to depletion expense, included in cost of sales, at the time the timber is harvested or when the
underlying timberland is sold based on the relationship of timber sold to the estimated volume of currently merchantable timber.

Upon the acquisition of timberland, the Company makes a determination on whether to combine the newly acquired
merchantable timber with an existing depletion pool or to create a new, separate pool. This determination is based on the geographic
location of the new timber, the customers/markets that will be served and the species mix. If the acquisition is similar, the cost of
the acquired timber is combined into an existing depletion pool and a new depletion rate is calculated for the pool. This determination
and depletion rate adjustment normally occurs in the quarter following the acquisition.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Property, Plant, Equipment and Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment additions are recorded at cost, including applicable freight, interest, construction and installation
costs. The Company depreciates its assets, including office, and transportation equipment, using the straight-line depreciation
method over 3 to 25 years. Buildings and land improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method over 15 to 35 years
and 5 to 30 years, respectively.

Gains and losses on the retirement of assets are included in operating income. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of
assets that are held and used is measured by net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the
fair value of the assets, which is based on a discounted cash flow model. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the
carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in
the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. A three-level hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value was established as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value
of'the assets or liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques
that use significant unobservable inputs.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost of the New Zealand JV over the fair value of the net assets acquired.
Goodwill is not amortized, but is periodically reviewed for impairment. An impairment test for this reporting unit’s goodwill is
performed annually and whenever events or circumstances indicate that the value of goodwill may be impaired. In performing
Step 1 (recoverability test) of the impairment test as outlined in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”’) 360-10-35, Impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, the Company compares the fair value of the New Zealand JV to its carrying value including
goodwill. If the carrying value including goodwill were to exceed the fair value of the New Zealand JV, Step 2 of the test would
be performed. Step 2 of the impairment test requires the carrying value of goodwill to be reduced to its fair value, if lower, as of
the test date.

For Step 1 of the test, the Company estimates the reporting unit's fair value which utilizes an independent valuation for the
New Zealand forest assets. The independent valuation of the New Zealand forest assets is based on discounted cash flow models
where the fair value is calculated using cash flows from sustainable forest management plans. The fair value of the forest assets
is measured as the present value of cash flows from one growth cycle based on the productive forest land, taking into consideration
environmental, operational, and market restrictions. These cash flow valuations involve a number of estimates that require broad
assumptions and significant judgment regarding future performance. The annual impairment test was performed as of October
1, 2014 and determined that the estimated fair value of the New Zealand JV exceeded its carrying value, and no impairment was
recorded.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s New Zealand-based operations is the New Zealand dollar. All assets and liabilities
are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the respective balance sheet dates. Translation gains and losses are
recorded as a separate component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss), (“AOCI”), within Shareholders’ Equity.



RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Revenue Recognition

The Company generally recognizes revenues when the following criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an agreement
exists, (ii) delivery has occurred, (iii) the Company’s price to the buyer is fixed and determinable, and (iv) collectibility is reasonably
assured.

Timber Sales

Revenue from the sale of timber is recognized when title passes to the buyer. The Company utilizes two primary methods or
sales channels for the sale of timber, a stumpage or standing timber model and delivered logs. Under the stumpage model, standing
timber is sold primarily under pay-as-cut contracts, with specified duration (typically one year or less) and fixed prices, whereby
revenue is recognized as timber is severed and the sales volume is determined. The Company also sells stumpage under lump-
sum contracts for specified parcels where the Company receives cash for the full agreed value of the timber prior to harvest and
title and risk of loss pass to the buyer upon signing the contract. The Company retains interest in the land, slash products, and the
use of the land for recreational and other purposes. Any uncut timber remaining at the end of the contract period reverts to the
Company. Revenue is recognized for lump-sum timber sales when payment is received, the contract is signed and title and risk of
loss pass to the buyer. A third type of stumpage sale the Company utilizes is an agreed-volume sale whereby revenue is recognized
as periodic physical observations are made of the percentage of acreage harvested.

In delivered log sales, the Company hires third-party loggers and haulers to harvest timber and deliver it to a buyer. Revenue
is recognized when the logs are delivered and title and risk of loss transfer to the buyer. Sales of delivered logs generally do not
require an initial payment and are made to third-party customers on open credit terms. The sales method the Company employs
for a given tract of timber depends upon local market conditions and which method is expected to provide the best overall margins.

Non-timber income included in “Other Operating Income, Net” is primarily comprised of hunting and recreational leases.
Lease income is recognized ratably over the period of the lease.

Log Trading

Domestic log trading revenue for sales within New Zealand is recorded when the goods are received by the customer and title
passes. Export log trading revenue is recorded when the ship leaves the port, at which time title passes to the customer.

Real Estate

The Company recognizes revenue on sales of real estate when the sale is consummated, generally when payment is received
and title and risk of loss have passed to the buyer. Cost of sales associated with real estate sold comprises the cost of the land, the
cost of any timber on the property that was conveyed to the buyer, and any closing costs including sales commissions that may be
borne by the Company. Costs incurred to obtain land use entitlements or for infrastructure such as utilities, roads or other
improvements are allocated ratably to the acres benefiting from such expenditures and charged to cost of sales as the acres are
sold.

Employee Benefit Plans

The determination of expense and funding requirements for Rayonier’s defined benefit pension plan, its unfunded excess
pension plan and its postretirement life insurance plan are largely based on a number of actuarial assumptions. The key assumptions
include discount rate, return on assets, salary increases, mortality rates, longevity and service lives of employees. See Note 22 —
Employee Benefit Plans for assumptions used to determine benefit obligations, and the net periodic benefit cost for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

Periodic pension and other postretirement expense is included in “Cost of sales,” “Selling and general expenses” and “Income
from discontinued operations, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. At December 31, 2014
and 2013, the Company’s pension plans were in a net liability position (underfunded) of $31.8 million and $71.7 million,
respectively. The estimated amount to be paid in the next 12 months is recorded in “Accrued payroll and benefits” on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets, with the remainder recorded as a long-term liability in “Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits.” Changes in
the funded status of the Company’s plans are recorded through comprehensive income (loss) in the year in which the changes
occur. See Note 22 — Employee Benefit Plans for additional information.



RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured pursuant to tax laws using rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years
in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The Company recognizes the effect of a change in
income tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income in
the period that includes the enactment date of the rate change. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets if it is more-likely-than-not that such deferred tax assets will not be realized.

In determining the provision for income taxes, the Company computes an annual effective income tax rate based on annual
income by legal entity, permanent differences between book and tax, and statutory income tax rates by jurisdiction. Inherent in
the effective tax rate is an assessment of the ultimate outcome of current period uncertain tax positions. The Company adjusts its
annual effective tax rate as additional information on outcomes or events becomes available. Discrete items such as taxing authority
examination findings or legislative changes are recognized in the period in which they occur.

The Company’s income tax returns are subject to audit by U.S. federal, state and foreign taxing authorities. In evaluating the
tax benefits associated with various tax filing positions, the Company records a tax benefit for an uncertain tax position if it is
more-likely-than-not to be realized upon ultimate settlement of the issue. The Company records a liability for an uncertain tax
position that does not meet this criterion. The Company adjusts its liabilities for uncertain tax benefits in the period in which it is
determined the issue is settled with the taxing authorities, the statute of limitations expires for the relevant taxing authority to
examine the tax position or when new facts or information becomes available. Liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits are included
in “Uncertain tax positions” and “Other Non-Current Liabilities” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 10 —
Income Taxes for additional information.

Reclassifications

Certain 2013 and 2012 amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation, including reclassifications
for discontinued operations. Rayonier completed the spin-off of its Performance Fibers business on June 27, 2014 and completed
the sale of its Wood Products business on March 1, 2013, as discussed at Note 3 — Discontinued Operations. Accordingly, the
operating results of these businesses are reported as discontinued operations in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income
and Comprehensive Income forall periods presented. Certain administrative and general costs historically allocated to the businesses
that remained with Rayonier are reported in continuing operations.

The December 31, 2014 Consolidated Balance Sheet reports only continuing operations and reflects the contribution of
approximately $1.2 billion of assets, and corresponding liabilities and equity to Rayonier Advanced Materials in connection with
the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business. The December 31, 2013 Consolidated Balance Sheet includes the Performance
Fibers business.

The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for 2014, 2013 and 2012 have not been restated to exclude Performance Fibers
or Wood Products cash flows. Cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2014 also reflect transactions related to the Performance
Fibers spin-off, including borrowings to arrange the capital structure prior to the separation, proceeds received upon the spin-off
and the use of proceeds to pay down debt and pay a special dividend.

New or Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

InMay 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) and the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”)
jointly issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, a comprehensive
new revenue recognition standard that will supersede current revenue recognition guidance. The core principle is that an entity
will recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that the entity expects to be entitled
to receive in exchange for those goods or services. The guidance provides a unified model to determine when and how revenue is
recognized and will require enhanced disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. This standard will be effective for Rayonier beginning January 1, 2017 and can
be applied either retrospectively to each period presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this new guidance on the consolidated financial statements.



RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of
Components of an Entity. The standard requires a disposal of a component of an entity to be reported in discontinued operations
if it represents a strategic shift with a major effect on an entity’s operations and financial results. It also removes requirements
related to the evaluation of the component’s effect on ongoing operations and the entity’s continuing involvement with the
component. Additional disclosures about discontinued operations are also required under this standard. ASU No. 2014-08 is required
to be applied prospectively for all disposals (or classifications as held for sale) of components of an entity that occur within annual
periods beginning on or after December 15, 2014. As the Company has not elected early adoption, this standard will be effective
for Rayonier’s first quarter 2015 Form 10-Q filing and is not expected to have any impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated events occurring from December 31, 2014 to the date of issuance for potential recognition or
disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.

Quarterly Dividend

On March 2, 2015, the Company announced a first quarter dividend of 25 cents per share payable March 31, 2015, to
shareholders of record on March 17, 2015.

Legal Proceedings

See Note 18 — Contingencies.

3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Spin-Off of the Performance Fibers Business

On June 27, 2014, Rayonier completed the tax-free spin-off of its Performance Fibers business and retained its timber, real
estate and trading businesses. The spin-off resulted in two independent, publicly-traded companies, with the Performance Fibers
business being spun off to Rayonier shareholders as a newly formed public company named Rayonier Advanced Materials. On
June 27, 2014, the shareholders of record received one share of Rayonier Advanced Materials common stock for every three
common shares of Rayonier held as of the close of business on the record date of June 18, 2014.

In connection with the spin-off, Rayonier Advanced Materials distributed $906.2 million in cash to Rayonier from $550 million
in Senior Notes issued by Rayonier A.M. Products (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rayonier Advanced Materials), $325 million
in term loans, and $75 million from a revolving credit facility Rayonier Advanced Materials entered into prior to the spin-off.
Pursuant to the terms of the Internal Revenue Service spin-off ruling, $75 million of this cash was paid to Rayonier’s shareholders
as dividends. Of this $75 million, $63.2 million was paid to shareholders as a special dividend in the third quarter.

In order to effect the spin-off and govern our relationship with Rayonier Advanced Materials after the spin-off, Rayonier and
Rayonier Advanced Materials entered into a Separation and Distribution Agreement, an Intellectual Property Agreement, a Tax
Sharing Agreement, an Employee Matters Agreement and a Transition Services Agreement.

The Separation and Distribution Agreement governs the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business and the transfer of assets
and other matters related to our relationship with Rayonier Advanced Materials. The Separation and Distribution Agreement
provides for cross-indemnities between Rayonier and Rayonier Advanced Materials and established procedures for handling claims
subject to indemnification and related matters.

The Intellectual Property Agreement governs the allocation of intellectual property rights and assets between Rayonier and
Rayonier Advanced Materials.

The Tax Sharing Agreement governs the respective rights, responsibilities and obligations of Rayonier and Rayonier Advanced
Materials with respect to taxes, tax attributes, tax returns, tax proceedings and certain other tax matters including assistance and
cooperation on tax matters.



RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

The Employee Matters Agreement governs the compensation and employee benefit obligations with respect to the current
and former employees and non-employee directors of Rayonier and Rayonier Advanced Materials, and generally allocates liabilities
and responsibilities relating to employee compensation, benefit plans and programs. The Employee Matters Agreement provides
that employees of Rayonier Advanced Materials will no longer participate in benefit plans sponsored or maintained by Rayonier.
In addition, the Employee Matters Agreement provides that each of the parties will be responsible for their respective current
employees and compensation plans for such current employees. The Employee Matters Agreement further provides that Rayonier
Advanced Materials will be responsible for liabilities associated with former employees whose last employment was with the
businesses that are to be operated by Rayonier Advanced Materials after the spin-off, including the Performance Fibers business,
as well as certain specified former corporate employees. In addition, Rayonier will remain responsible for former employees whose
last employment was with the businesses retained by Rayonier following the spin-off and certain specified corporate employees.

The Transition Services Agreement sets forth the terms on which Rayonier will provide to Rayonier Advanced Materials, and
Rayonier Advanced Materials will provide to Rayonier, certain services or functions that were shared prior to the spin-off. Transition
services include administrative, payroll, human resources, data processing, environmental health and safety, financial audit support,
financial transaction support, information technology systems and various other corporate support services. The agreement provides
for the provision of specified transition services, generally for a period of up to 18 months, on a cost basis.

Rayonier will not have significant continuing involvement in the operations of the Performance Fibers business going forward.
Accordingly, the operating results of the Performance Fibers business, formerly disclosed as a separate reportable segment, are
classified as discontinued operations in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for all
periods presented. Certain administrative and general costs historically allocated to the Performance Fibers segment are reported
in continuing operations, as required.

The following table summarizes the operating results of the Company's discontinued operations related to the Performance
Fibers spin-off for the three years ended December 31, 2014, as presented in "Income from discontinued operations, net" in the
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income:

2014 2013 2012
SALES ...uveveeeteeeeiieieerteit ettt ettt ettt et r et b e b e b et e b b et e ae b e b e ae b et e s ensenes $456,180 $1,048,104 $1,104,882
Cost 0f sales and OtheT .......c.cccuiiieiiieieicceece e (369,210) (736,471) (738,412)
TranSaction EXPEISES .....ecverreervereerieeiesteeteseesseesesseesesseessesssesseessessesssesseessens (22,989) (3,208) —
Income from discontinued operations before income taxes ...........ccceeereenee. 63,981 308,425 366,470
TNCOME TAX EXPEIISE.c.veeuviiiertieiiiniieieeiteie et sttt et e sttt sttt sieesbe et e sbeenbesaeenaeas (20,578) (84,398) (111,802)
Income from discontinued Operations, NEt..........ceceevereeereereeeresrenrerresieriennens $43,403 $224,027 $254,668

In accordance with ASC 205-20-S99-3, Allocation of Interest to Discontinued Operations, the Company elected to allocate
interest expense to discontinued operations where the debt is not directly attributed to the Performance Fibers business. Interest
expense has been allocated based on a ratio of net assets to be discontinued to the sum of consolidated net assets plus consolidated
debt (other than debt directly attributable to the Timber and Real Estate operations). The following table summarizes the interest
expense allocated to discontinued operations for the three years ended December 31, 2014:

2014 2013 2012
Interest expense allocated to the Performance Fibers business ....................... $(4,205) $(8,964) $(9,333)

The following table summarizes the depreciation, amortization and capital expenditures of the Company's discontinued
operations related to the Performance Fibers business:

2014 2013 2012
Depreciation and amortization ............c.cc.eveeeeerieieeeeeeeesreeeeeereesesesressesnens $37,985 $74,386 $60,909
Capital XPENAItUIES ........ccevuieiieiieieieiee ettt 60,443 97,874 104,908
Jesup mill cellulose specialties eXpansion ..........c.cocevererereerieenierenenenennenes — 148,262 198,341
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The major classes of Performance Fibers assets and liabilities included in the spin-off are as follows:

June 27,2014

ACCOUNTS TECEIVADIE, T1ET .....eoeeveeieeee ettt ettt ee et e et e e et e e e st e e seaaeesetaeessaaaessaaseessaseesssseesssraeenans $66,050
D155 1170) o 2O URURRRPITRI 121,705
Prepaid and Other CUITENT @SSETS.......c.iccuiiierieeieieeieitieieeeeieetesteebesteebeesbesseessesseesseessesseessesseessesssesseensas 70,092
Property, plant and eqUIPMENT, NEL............c.ccueeieiiiiieiieie ettt ettt eeste b et ebeeraesaeesseeseeseessesreennas 862,487
OBRET @SSELS ..ottt ettt ettt et e e et e e e e etaeeeeeaeeeeaaseeeseaseesesteesesseessaaseeseastessasseesaseessnraeessaeeesnanes 103,400

TTORAL ASSELS ...ttt ettt e e et et e et e et s et e e e e et e s e eeaeeseaeesaeeeaaeesaeeeaeeeeeeesaeeneeesaeenaee $1,223,734
ACCOUNES PAYADIE ......veiviieieiieecteeeectete ettt ettt ettt et et et e et et e s et et e s esseasensesseaeessessessessereeseesens $65,522
Other CUITENTE LTADIIITIES ...veeeivviiieeieeeeeeee ettt ettt e ea e e e eaeeesetteeeetaeeeseaseeeeaseesseaeeeseaeeesnraeessaneeesannes 51,006
LONG-EITI AEDE.....uieiiiiiieiieieeieee ettt ettt ettt e et e beesaesbe e beesbesseessesseensessbesseensenseensesssenseensas 950,000
Non-current environmMental HADIIITIES .........cc..oiiviiiiiiiieiiiiee et eee et eeesraeeeenaeeeesaaeessneee s 66,434
Pension and other postretirement DENETIts ............cc.oiiiiiiiiiiiieiecieie e 102,633
Other NON-CUITENT TIADIIITIES ....eeovvvieeeieeeeiee ettt ettt e et e et eeeeraeeeeeaeeeeeseesseateesesaeeesnraeesseneeesannes 7,269
DIEEICHE ..ttt ettt ettt ettt bttt a et a et b et bt h bRt et e Rt e e n e s et bt et ea et n et e st e eneeae e eaenes (19,130)

Total liabilities and €QUILY ...............ccooviiiiiiieeeeeee ettt ae e $1,223,734

In the third and fourth quarters of 2014, the Company made immaterial adjustments to the valuation of certain classes of
Performance Fibers assets and liabilities included in the spin-off as the segregation of the pension and postretirement plans were
finalized and tax obligations were updated based upon filing of the 2013 tax returns and allocated based on the terms of the Tax
Sharing Agreement. The effect of these adjustments have been reflected in discontinued operations and equity for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

Pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding Agreement, Rayonier may provide Rayonier Advanced Materials with up to
120,000 tons of hardwood annually through July 30, 2017. Prior to the spin-off, hardwood intercompany purchases were transactions
eliminated in consolidation as follows:

2014 2013 2012
Hardwood PUICRASES .......c.ccveierieieiiiieiiietietcieteeieeeet ettt ettt eseseneas $3,935 $3,051 $2,144

Sale of Wood Products Business

On March 1, 2013, Rayonier completed the sale of its Wood Products business (consisting of three lumber mills in Baxley,
Swainsboro and Eatonton, Georgia) to International Forest Products Limited (“Interfor”) for $80 million plus a working capital
adjustment. Accordingly, the operating results of the Wood Products business, formerly disclosed as a separate reportable segment,
are classified as discontinued operations in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Rayonier recognized an after-tax gain of $42.1 million on the sale, which included the acceleration of pension settlement costs
of $0.5 million resulting from a lump sum distribution to Wood Products participants. The gain is included in “Income from
discontinued operations, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the year ended
December 31, 2013.
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The following table summarizes the operating results of the Company’s Wood Products discontinued operations as presented
in “Income from discontinued operations, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:

2013 2012
SALES ...ttt et ettt ettt et et e ettt et et e e e e et ete et e naeeae e $16,968 $87,510
Cost O SAIES ANA OtNET.....eoiiieiiiieieeieeceeee ettt ettt e sbeenaesbeense e (14,258) (76,619)
Gain on sale of diSCONtINUEd OPETALIONS........cecvireierieeieriieieeieieete st eteeeesreeresreeseesnenseesaesseensens 63,217 —
Income from discontinued operations before iNCOME taXes ........cueveerueeceerieecieiienieeieseeieseenn 65,927 10,891
TNCOME TAX EXPEIISE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt st b et sbe et s bt e s bt et sbeenbe et e sbeeabesbeennes (21,999) (3,648)
Income from discontinued OPerations, NEt ...........ceeveieererirereneee e sese et eeeneenes $43,928 $7,243

The sale did not meet the “held for sale” criteria prior to the period it was completed. The major classes of Wood Products
assets and liabilities included in the sale were as follows:

March 1, 2013

ACCOUNTS TECEIVADIE, TIET ...ttt e e e et e e eaa e e saa e e s enteeeeaaeessnaseessneeesssseesenreeeenns $4,127
INIVEIIEOTY ..ttt et b et e b et e a e bt e st e s bt et e e bt e bt e et e s bt et ebbenbeeabenbeentesaten 4,270
Prepaid and Other CUITENT @SSELS......cc.iiuiiriirieriieiertieite ettt ettt sttt et ettt et e bt s bt et e sbe bt enbesbeenbeennes 2,053
Property, plant and eqUIPMENT, NEL.........cceecieriiriirieriieie sttt ettt ettt et stte bt ebesseenbesaeebeennas 9,990
TORAL ASSELS .......ooovviieiiiiiieeee ettt ettt e e e et e eae e e e e saaeeeteeenaeeereeeteeenaeeeneeenteeeneeenaeeeneeenes $20,440
TOtal HADIILIES...........cocoviiiiieiiece ettt $596

Cash flows from the Wood Products business were de minimis both individually and in the aggregate. As such, they were
included with cash flows from continuing operations in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December
31,2013 and 2012.

The following table reconciles the operating results of both the Performance Fibers and Wood Products discontinued operations,
g p g p
as presented in "Income from discontinued operations, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income:

2014 2013 2012
Performance Fibers income from discontinued operations, net....................... $43,403 $224,027 $254,668
Wood Products income from discontinued operations, net............cccerveeennnen. — 43,928 7,243
Income from discontinued operations, NEt............ceceeeereeiiesreeeseeresesresresnns $43,403 $267,955 $261,911

4. JOINT VENTURE INVESTMENT

On April 4, 2013 (the “acquisition date”), the Company acquired an additional 39 percent ownership interest in Matariki
Forestry Group, a joint venture ("New Zealand JV") that owns or leases approximately 0.4 million legal acres of New Zealand
timberlands. As a result of the acquisition, Rayonier is a 65 percent owner of the New Zealand JV and subsequent to April 4, 2013
consolidated the balance sheet and results of operations. The portions of the consolidated financial position and results of operations
attributable to the New Zealand JV’s 35 percent noncontrolling interest are also shown separately. Rayonier New Zealand Limited
(“RNZ”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rayonier Inc., continues to serve as the manager of the New Zealand JV forests.

Prior to the acquisition date, the Company accounted for its 26 percent interest in the New Zealand JV as an equity method
investment. The additional 39 percent interest was acquired for $139.9 million and resulted in the Company obtaining a controlling
financial interest in the New Zealand JV and accordingly, the purchase was accounted for as a step-acquisition. Upon consolidation,
the Company recognized a $10.1 million deferred gain, which resulted from the original sale of its New Zealand operations to the
joint venture in 2005 and a $6 million benefit due to the required fair market value remeasurement of the Company’s equity interest
in the New Zealand JV held before the purchase of the additional interest. The acquisition-date fair value of the previous equity
interest was $93.3 million.
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The Company’s operating results for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflect 26 percent of the New Zealand JV’s income
prior to the acquisition date, as reported in “Equity in income of New Zealand joint venture” in the Consolidated Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income. The following represents the pro forma (unaudited) consolidated sales and net income for
the two years ended December 31, 2014 as if the additional interest in the New Zealand JV had been acquired on January 1, 2013.

2014 2013
SALES ..ttt ettt ettt ettt e et e tt b e ete e beebeete e beeatebeeteeteebe et enteenteareenre e $603,521 $1,742,348
INEE IICOIMIC ...ttt eee e et e et e e et e e eeaaeseeaeeeeesaeeseeseeseenteeeensassesseeesennes 97,846 372,039

5. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Prior to the first quarter of 2013, the Company operated in four reportable business segments, Forest Resources, Real Estate,
Performance Fibers and Wood Products. In March 2013, the Company sold its Wood Products business and its operations are
shown as discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. On June 27, 2014, the Company spun off its
Performance Fibers business and its operations are shown as discontinued operations for all periods presented. See Note 3 —
Discontinued Operations for additional information. Effective with the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company realigned its segments
considering the economic characteristics of each business unit and the way management now internally evaluates business
performance and makes capital allocation decisions.

As part of the realignment, the previously reported Forest Resources segment has been disaggregated into Southern Timber,
Pacific Northwest Timber and New Zealand Timber segments. All prior period amounts have been reclassified to reflect the newly
realigned segment structure. Sales in the Timber segments include all activities related to the harvesting of timber and other non-
timber income activities such as the leasing of properties for hunting, mineral extraction and cell towers.

In the Real Estate segment, the Company changed the composition of'its sales categories to include Unimproved Development,
Improved Development, Rural, and Non-Strategic / Timberlands. The unimproved development sales category comprises properties
sold for commercial, industrial or residential development purposes and for which Rayonier has not invested in improvements
such as utilities or roads. Improved development includes sales of development property for which Rayonier, through one of its
taxable REIT subsidiaries, has invested in infrastructure to enhance the value and marketability of the property. Conservation sales
previously reported within Rural are now reported as Non-Strategic / Timberlands. All prior period amounts have been reclassified
to reflect the newly realigned sales categories. Real Estate sales include all U.S. property sales, including those lands designated
as HBU and those designated as the sale of non-strategic timberlands.

The Trading segment (formerly reported within “Other Operations”) comprises log trading in New Zealand, conducted by the
Company’s New Zealand JV in two core areas of business, managed export services on behalf of third parties and procured logs
for export sale by the New Zealand JV. The Trading segment complements the New Zealand Timber segment by adding scale and
achieving cost savings that directly benefit the New Zealand Timber segment, and by contributing to income with minimal
investment.

Sales between operating segments are made based on estimated fair market value, and intercompany sales, purchases and
profits (losses) are eliminated in consolidation. The Company evaluates financial performance based on segment operating income
and Adjusted EBITDA. Asset information is not reported by segment, as the company does not produce asset information by
segment internally.

Operating income as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income is equal to segment
income. Certain income (loss) items in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income are not allocated to
segments. These items, which include gains (losses) from certain asset dispositions, interest income (expense), miscellaneous
income (expense) and income tax (expense) benefit, are not considered by management to be part of segment operations and are
included under “Corporate and other.”
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Segment information for each of the three years ended December 31, 2014 follows (in millions of dollars):

Sales
2014 2013 2012
SOULNETT TIMIDET. .......vivitieietiiietiietitetcet ettt ettt ettt es s eb st ebess s st et ssese s ese s eseesessesessenessens $142 $124 $109
Pacific NOTtNWESt TIMDET ....c..eecviriieiieiieiieieicete sttt sttt bessaesbeenaesseenseenes 102 110 110
NEW Zealand TIMDET.......c.ccciiiiiiiiiiietieieeeecte et ste et e sttt este st eeae s e esbesseesseessesseensesssessessnenseans 182 148 11
REALI ESLALE (A) cuvevieiiitieieeeieiie ettt ettt ete et este et este et e e st e teessesseessesssesseessassaessesssessesssaseessesseensensns 77 149 57
TTAAINE ..ottt ettt et et a e st st ae et a e n e 104 132 94
Intersegment EIMINATIONS ......eecveriieriirieriieienieeie ettt sttt ettt sste b esbeeneesee 3) 3) 2
TOtAL .ottt ettt et a e bt et e et e b e e tt e bt entesae e beentebeenbenrean $604 $660 $379

(a) 2013 included a fourth quarter sale of approximately 128,000 acres of New York timberlands for $57 million.

Operating Income/(Loss)

2014 2013 2012

SOULNETN TIMDET ... cviviiitietect ettt ettt ettt ettt et eteeteebeebeeteetesbeeteetestessestesaessennas $46 $38 $23
Pacific NOTtNWEST TIMDET ....ccvecviiiiiiiciieieeiete ettt et te et e e saesaeeaaeereenseens 30 33 21
New Zealand TIMDET........c.ccceiiiiiriiineeee ettt ettt et st s saens 9 10 2
REAL ESLALE......cueouiiiieiiiiiiiiriieicc ettt ettt ettt ettt sttt 48 56 32
TTAQING ..ottt ettt et e et e bt et e st e b e e st ebeeatesbeenbeessesseensenseensessaesseensesseenseensenseensennes 2 2 —
Corporate and OtHET (Q) ....ccveveeriieieeieieeierie et ettt ete st e teesbesbe et e sseessessaesseessesseeseessesseensensns (37) (30) (46)

Total Operating INCOME. ........c.coviiviiiieieiee ettt ettt ettt st ve v beaesnens $98 $109 $32
Unallocated interest expense and Other...........ooeoireieeieieeeee e (53) (39) (42)
Total income from continuing operations before iNCOME taAXES.........ccvvveiereriererieresierinieenreeereenas $45 $70 $(10)

(a) 2013 included a $16 million gain related to the consolidation of the New Zealand JV. See Note 4 — Joint Venture Investment.
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Gross Capital Expenditures

2014 2013 2012

Capital Expenditures (a)
SOULNETT TIMIDET. ....c....ivitieietieietietctetcet ettt ettt ettt et se et ee et ae et esete s ets et ese et ess et eaeeseesesnaeens $35 $39 $39
Pacific NOTtNWESt TIMDET ....c.eeieiiieiieeieiieiesteeie sttt ettt e e e s re e steesbessaesseessesseenseens 10 8 8
NEW Zealand TIMDET.......c.cccviiiieiiiieitieieee ettt ettt et e seesteesaesseebesseesbeessesssesaesseseessesseans 18 16 —
REAI ESTALE....eeuiiiiieeiiieiieeteecte ettt ettt et e et e st e e taeestaesabe e tbeessaesssa e seeenseesssaenseennseensseenseenn — — 2
TTAQING ..ottt ettt et e bt e et e s bt et e s et e s bt enbesbe et e saee s bt enbesaeebeeatenheentesaes — — —
Corporate AN OtNET......cc.eeiiiiieiieieriieeetee ettt sttt et e sae et e sae et e saee bt esbesseebeeneesseensenns — 1 1

Total capital EXPENAItUIES. ........cvevviriirieieieieieieteeere ettt reeaesreeresresbessessessesessens $63 $64 $50
Strategic Capital Expenditures (timberland acquisitions)
SOULNEIN TIMDET......ccuiiitieiiiiteii ettt ettt ettt et esteesbeesaeeteebesteebeesbasssensesssenseessenseas $126 $20 $101
Pacific NOTtWESt TIMDET .......ooiiiiiiiiiieieeieieee ettt sttt s 2 — —
New Zealand TimDET (D) ......cooviiieiieriieieieeieeeee sttt ettt sttt te st ete st ebeseaesbeesesseensesseensenns — 140 —
REAL ESLALE.....uieuieiieieitieieetee ettt ettt ettt ettt e e et e st e eatesteesbessae b eenaenseensesseensesnseseensesseensennns 2 — 5
TTAQING ..ottt e et e et e bt et e s teebeese e beesbesteesseassassaessesssesseessesseenseaseansenssenseensenses — — —
Corporate and OTHET ... ..ottt — — —

Total strategic capital eXPEenditures .........cceouerveieieieieieiieteieee et $130 $160 $106
Total Gross Capital EXPenditures.................c.ccooveiiieiiiiiiiieceee et $193 $224 $156

(a) Excludes strategic capital expenditures presented separately.

(b) Includes $139.9 million related to the purchase price of the additional 39 percent interest acquired in 2013. See Note 4 —
Joint Venture Investment for additional information.

Depreciation,

Depletion and Amortization

2014 2013 2012
SOULNETT TIMIDET. ....c..vivitieietiiietiieteietcet ettt ettt ettt seebeseebeseesessesesseseseseeseseeseseesessesensns $52 $49 $53
Pacific NOTthwest TIMDET .......cccoiririirinieniieccee ettt ettt 21 21 22
New Zealand TImDET (@) ....cccevvieeveiieriieierieeiestetestesteete st etesee bt eaesseetesseesesssesseensesseesesseessenns 32 28 —
REAL ESLALC...c.vieuiiiieieitieieetete ettt ettt ettt ettt e et e teestesteesbessbe b e esaesseessesseenseassenseensenseensennns 13 18 8
TTAQINE ..ottt e e et et e st e e ae e s teesbe e st e beessesseesseessassaessenseesseessesseensesseenseessesseensensns — — —
Corporate and OTHET........coueieieieiee ettt sttt sa e nes 2 1 2
TOTALL ...ttt enes $120 $117 $85

(a) 2013 included an increase of approximately $27 million in depletion expense related to the consolidation of the New Zealand
JV. See Note 4 — Joint Venture Investment.
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Non-Cash Cost of Land Sold

2014 2013 2012

SOULNETN TIMDET......etiiiietirte ettt sttt st — — —
Pacific NOTtNWESt TIMDET ....cc.eeieiiieiiiieieeietceie ettt eseeebeesaesseesaesseensennns — — —
New Zealand TImMDET (2) ....c.eceecveiieiieieriieiesie ettt eie et e e ete et e seaesteesesseesaesseesbeessesseessesssensensns 4 — —
REAL ESTALC...cuviiuiiiiiiiitieieettete ettt ettt ettt ettt e st e et e et esbeeabesteesbesesesbeessesseessesssesbeessasaensesseenseenns 9 10 5
TTAQING ..ottt sttt et e bt et s bt et s et e s bt e st e s bt et e eate s bt et e eae et e eatenbe et e saes — — —
Corporate AN OtHET......ccuieiiitieiieiesicetee ettt ettt st et s e bt et e s et ebeeaeesseeneesees — — —

TOTAL .ttt bbbt s bbbttt ebeeneneas __§13 ~ §10 85

Sales by Product Line
2014 2013 2012

SOULNEIN THIMIDET ...ttt ettt ettt ettt bttt bese st s bebe e s ebeseneeesesene $142 $124 $109
Pacific NOTtNWESt TIMDET ....c..cccviiiiiiiieieieeieieete sttt st e et sre et ssaesseenaesseenseens 102 110 110
NEW Zealand TIMDET.......c.ccciiiiieiiiiieiieteeeee ettt et te e et eesbesseebesseesseesaesaeensasssesesssessenns 182 148 11
Real Estate

Unimproved Development ..........cc.ccuecueiiiiiiiiiiieieieteeeteesieeec e 5 3 2

IMProved DeVEIOPIMENLt ........cccuevuiiiiriieiiiieteete sttt st ettt — 2 —

RUTAL ..ottt ettt et 41 27 32

Non-Strategic / TIMDErlands () .....c.cccvevieeieriierieeierie ettt ve e e e 31 117 23
TOtal REAI ESTALE ...cuvieviiiieiiciieieete sttt ettt sae e st ebe s s e beenbeeseesseennesseensennns 77 149 57
T 4TSRS 104 132 94
Intersegment SlIMINATIONS .......eevertirriirierieeiert ettt ettt st et e bt et sbe et ssaesbe et e sbeeneesaee 3) 3) 2)

TOtAl SALES.......c.ooiiiiiiiii ettt et $604 $660 $379

(a) 2013 included a fourth quarter sale of approximately 128,000 acres of New York timberlands for $57 million.

Geographical Operating Information

Sales Operating Income Identifiable Assets

2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
United States ......ccoeveeereririninieninenese e $318 $380 $274 $87 $81 $30 $ 1,884 § 3,077
New Zealand () .......cceeeeeererinenene e 286 280 105 11 28 2 569 609
Total .o $604  $660 $379 $98 $109 $32 $ 2,453 $ 3,686

(a) 2013 included a $16 million operating income gain from the consolidation of the New Zealand JV. See Note 4 — Joint Venture
Investment.
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6. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The Company is exposed to market risk related to potential fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.
The Company’s New Zealand JV uses derivative financial instruments to mitigate the financial impact of exposure to these risks.
The Company also uses derivative financial instruments to mitigate exposure to foreign currency risk due to the translation of the
investment in Rayonier’s New Zealand-based operations from New Zealand dollars to U.S. dollars.

Accounting for derivative financial instruments is governed by ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). In
accordance with ASC 815, the Company records its derivative instruments at fair value as either assets or liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the instruments’ fair value are accounted for based on their intended use. Gains and
losses on derivatives that are designated and qualify for cash flow hedge accounting are recorded as a component of AOCI and
reclassified into earnings when the hedged transaction materializes. Gains and losses on derivatives that are designated and qualify
for net investment hedge accounting are recorded as a component of AOCI and will not be reclassified into earnings until the
Company’s investment in New Zealand is partially or completely liquidated. The ineffective portion of any hedge as well as changes
in the fair value of derivatives not designated as hedging instruments (primarily New Zealand interest rate swaps) and those which
are no longer effective as hedging instruments, are recognized immediately in earnings. The Company's hedge ineffectiveness was
de minimis for all periods presented.

Foreign Currency Exchange and Option Contracts

The functional currency of RNZ and the New Zealand JV is the New Zealand dollar. These operations are exposed to foreign
currency risk on export sales and ocean freight payments which are mainly denominated in US dollars. The New Zealand JV
typically hedges 50 percent to 90 percent of its estimated foreign currency exposure with respect to the following three months
forecasted sales and purchases, 50 percent to 75 percent of forecasted sales and purchases for the forward three to 12 months and
up to 50 percent of the forward 12 to 18 months. As of December 31, 2014, foreign currency exchange contracts and foreign
currency option contracts had maturity dates through April 2016.

Foreign currency exchange and option contracts hedging foreign currency risk on export sales and ocean freight payments
that were entered into subsequent to the Company’s acquisition of a majority interest in the New Zealand JV qualify for cash flow
hedge accounting. The fair value of foreign currency exchange contracts is determined by a mark-to-market valuation which
estimates fair value by discounting the difference between the contracted forward price and the current forward price for the residual
maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate. The fair value of foreign currency option contracts is based on a mark-to-
market calculation using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

In December 2014, the Company entered into a foreign currency exchange contract to mitigate the risk of fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates when translating RNZ’s balance sheet to U.S. dollars. This contract hedges a portion of the
Company’s net investment in New Zealand and qualifies as a net investment hedge. The fair value of the foreign currency exchange
contract is determined by a mark-to-market valuation which estimates fair value by discounting the difference between the
contracted forward price and the current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate. The
ineffectiveness of the foreign currency exchange contract is measured using the spot rate method, whereby the change in the fair
value of the contract, other than the change attributable to movements in the spot rate, is excluded from the measure of hedge
ineffectiveness and is reported directly in earnings. The Company does not expect any ineffectiveness or changes other than those
attributable to movements in the spot rate as the critical risks of the forward contract and the net investment in RNZ coincide.

Interest Rate Swaps

The Company uses interest rate swaps to manage the New Zealand JV’s exposure to interest rate movements on its variable
rate debt attributable to changes in the New Zealand Bank bill rate. By converting a portion of these borrowings from floating
rates to fixed rates, the Company has reduced the impact of interest rate changes on its expected future cash outflows. As of
December 31, 2014, the Company’s long-term interest rate contracts hedged 81 percent of the New Zealand JV’s variable rate
debt and had maturity dates through January 2020.

Fuel Hedge Contracts

The Company historically used fuel hedge contracts to manage its New Zealand JV’s exposure to changes in New Zealand’s
domestic diesel prices. Due to the low volume of diesel fuel purchases made by the New Zealand JV in 2013, the Company decided
to no longer hedge its diesel fuel purchases effective November 2013. There were no contracts remaining as of December 31,
2014.
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The following table demonstrates the impact of the Company’s derivatives on the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. Information is not presented for 2012 as derivative
balances and activity were not consolidated prior to Rayonier’s acquisition of a controlling interest in the New Zealand JV during
2013.

Location on Statement of Income

and Comprehensive Income 2014 2013
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency exchange contracts........................ Other comprehensive income (loss) $(1,069) $950
Other operating (income) expense — 652
Foreign currency option contracts...........cceeueevennnnen. Other comprehensive income (loss) (1,647) 460
Derivative designated as a net investment hedge:
Foreign currency exchange contract ............cccoeeuen... Other comprehensive income (loss) (145) —
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency exchange contracts........................ Other operating (income) expense 25 (1,607)
Foreign currency option contracts.............c.eceveeueneee. Other operating (income) expense 7 1,147
Interest rate SWaPS .....cceveerveeeerierieniieieeeereeeeeeeennes Interest and miscellaneous
(expense) income (5,882) 6,085
Fuel hedge contracts..........ccceceevveevenienieneenieneeieennn. Cost of sales (benefit) 160 (255)

During the next 12 months, the amount of the December 31, 2014 AOCI balance, net of tax, expected to be reclassified into
earnings as a result of the maturation of the Company’s derivative instruments is a loss of approximately $0.9 million.

The following table contains the notional amounts of the derivative financial instruments recorded in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets at December 31, 2014 and 2013:

Notional Amount

2014 2013
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency eXChange CONIACES..........c.cevieeiieriereiiierietesteeteerestestesse s s s se s ssessesaesnens $28,540 $32,300
Foreign currency Option COMEIACES........c.eiieriieriereeieeeeieetesteeteeeeesteeaesteesesssesseessesseessesssenses 79,400 38,000
Derivative designated as a net investment hedge:
Foreign currency eXchange CONTIACE ..........cvviervereerierienieeieseeie et eie et tesereseeeseseeeseseneneas $27,419 —
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency eXChange CONTIACES.........ccvvirieireerieeiieerieteetestestesteste e ssesaessessessesesaeaennens — $1,950
Foreign currency OPtion COMLIACTS.......ccuiiuieriieierieeieeieieetesteeieeeresaeeaesteesessresseensesseensessnenses — 4,000
INEETEST TALE SWAPS ....eeeiieiieeiie et etie ettt ee et et e et e et esete e bt e enbeesaaeanseesnseeseeenseessseeseesnseens 161,968 183,851
Fuel hedge contracts (in thousands of barrels).........cccecviecviiieriieiecicieciee e — 38
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The following table contains the fair values of the derivative financial instruments recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

at December 31, 2014 and 2013. Changes in balances of derivative financial instruments are recorded as operating activities in
the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Fair Value Assets (Liabilities) (a)

Location on Balance Sheet 2014 2013
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency exchange contracts............ccceevennenns Prepaid and other current assets $132 $915
Other assets 59 —
Other current liabilities (272) —
Foreign currency option contracts...........cceeeverveeevennnens Prepaid and other current assets 299 673
Other assets 198 —
Other current liabilities (1,439) (214)
Other non-current liabilities (196) —
Derivative designated as a net investment hedge:
Foreign currency exchange contract ...........c..ccecveuennee Other current liabilities (223) —
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency exchange contracts............cceevennenns Prepaid and other current assets — $25
Foreign currency option contracts............ceceeeeeeeenene Prepaid and other current assets — 8
Interest rate SWapPS.......cccveveeriereenierienieeieeeenie e Other non-current liabilities (7,247) (4,659)
Fuel hedge contracts..........cceeeeeverienienienieeienieeieninns Prepaid and other current assets — 160
Total derivative contracts:
Prepaid and other CUITENt ASSELS ...........cocvevivieririerieierieieieet ettt es e $431 $1,781
ONET @SSEES ....uieieiieiieiieteet ettt sttt ettt ettt ne e it seebeeneeaene 257 —
TOtAl AEIIVALIVE ASSEES ...t $688 $1,781
Other current HabIlIES ...........ocveieviriieeieeeeceeeee ettt eneneenan $(1,934) $(214)
Other non-current Habilities........ceeverierieeierieciere ettt s (7,443) (4,659)
Total derivative Habilities ...........ocvoeeveuiireeieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeete e $(9,377) $(4,873)

(a) SeeNote7— Fair Value Measurements for further information on the fair value of our derivatives including their classification
within the fair value hierarchy.

Offsetting Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments are presented at their gross fair values in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company’s
derivative financial instruments are not subject to master netting arrangements which would allow the right of offset.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

A three-level hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value was established in the Accounting Standards
Codification as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value
of the assets or liabilities.

The following table presents the carrying amount and estimated fair values of financial instruments held by the Company at
December 31,2014 and 2013, using market information and what the Company believes to be appropriate valuation methodologies
under generally accepted accounting principles:

2014 2013
Carrying Carrying
Asset (liability) Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 1 Level 2

Cash and cash equivalents........................ $161,558 $161,558 — $199,644 $199,644 —
Restricted cash (2) ....ccceeeveeeeveeecienieieninns 6,688 6,688 — 68,944 68,944 —
Current maturities of long-term debt........ (129,706) — (156,762) (112,500) — (119,614)
Long-term debt.........ccoooevveininiiiiieee (621,849) —  (628,476) (1,461,724) —  (1,489,810)
Interest rate swaps (b) ...ccoeevveeveinennnnne (7,247) — (7,247) (4,659) — (4,659)
Foreign currency exchange contracts (b) (304) — (304) 940 — 940
Foreign currency option contracts (b) ...... (1,138) — (1,138) 467 — 467
Fuel hedge contracts (b) .......ccceceevierennnnns — — — 160 — 160

(a) Restricted cash is recorded in “Other Assets” and represents the proceeds from LKE sales deposited with a third-party
intermediary.

(b) See Note 6 — Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities for information regarding the Balance Sheet
classification of the Company’s derivative financial instruments.
Rayonier uses the following methods and assumptions in estimating the fair value of its financial instruments:
Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash — The carrying amount is equal to fair market value.

Debt — The fair value of fixed rate debt is based upon quoted market prices for debt with similar terms and maturities.
The variable rate debt adjusts with changes in the market rate, therefore the carrying value approximates fair value.

Interest rate swap agreements — The fair value of interest rate contracts is determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows, for each instrument, at prevailing interest rates.

Foreign currency exchange contracts — The fair value of foreign currency exchange contracts is determined by a mark-
to-market valuation which estimates fair value by discounting the difference between the contracted forward price and the
current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate.

Foreign currency option contracts — The fair value of foreign currency option contracts is based on a mark-to-market
calculation using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
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8. TIMBERLAND ACQUISITIONS

In 12 separate transactions throughout 2014, Rayonier purchased 61,798 acres of timberland located in Alabama, Florida,
Georgia, Texas and Washington, for approximately $130.0 million. These acquisitions were funded with cash on hand, like-kind
exchange proceeds from real estate and timberland sales, or through the revolving credit facility and were accounted for as asset
purchases. Additionally, in one transaction during 2014, 546 acres were purchased in New Zealand for approximately $0.9 million.
This acquisition was funded with cash on hand.

In four separate transactions throughout 2013, Rayonier purchased 17,094 acres located in Florida, Georgia and Louisiana
for $20.4 million. These acquisitions were funded with cash on hand or through the revolving credit facility and were accounted
for as asset purchases.

The following table summarizes the timberland acquisitions at December 31, 2014 and 2013:

2014 2013
Cost Acres Cost Acres
FaN Fo1 0T 1 1 - FO TR $41,453 18,113 — —
FLOTIA@. ...ttt 22,157 15,774 1,198 640
GOTEIA ..ottt ettt ettt re et et ereereereereas 46,525 16,573 10,215 9,036
LOUISIANG ..ot e s — — 8,894 7,418
TEXAS.c.vevieteeteete ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et te et reete e ereere et 17,960 10,900 94 (a) —
WaShingGton ......cc.evieriiiiiiieieeeeeeee e 1,878 438 — —
New Zealand........cccevueeiiiieniieienieieetese e 923 546 — —
Total ACQUISTIONS ..............oooveiiieiiiieicieecee e $130,896 62,344 $20,401 17,094

(a) Represents funds expended in early 2013 for an acquisition in late 2012.

9. OTHER ASSETS

Included in Other Assets are non-current prepaid and deferred income taxes, restricted cash, HBU real estate not expected to
be sold within the next 12 months, goodwill in the New Zealand JV, and other deferred expenses including debt issuance and
capitalized software costs.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the cost of Rayonier’s HBU real estate not expected to be sold within the next 12 months
was $77.4 million and $68.2 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2014, New Zealand JV goodwill was $9.7 million and was included in the assets of the New Zealand
Timber segment (formerly within the Forest Resources segment). Based on a Step 1 impairment analysis performed as of October
1,2014, there is no indication of impairment of goodwill as of December 31,2014. No adjustments have resulted from the subsequent
recognition of deferred tax assets during the period as goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. See Note 2 — Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies for additional information on goodwill.

Changes in goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were:

2014 2013
Balance, January 1 (net of $0 of accumulated impairment).............ccccoeveeeeeeeieeee i $10,179 —
Changes to carrying amount
ACGUISTEIONIS 1.ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et s b et e e bt et e s bt esbese b e bt este bt enbesbtebeenbesbeenbesaeenteenne — 10,496
TIMPAITIIENL. ...ttt ettt ettt et s b ettt e bt et esae e bt e st e sbeebeestesbeensesseensesens — —
Foreign currenCy adjuStMeNnt ..........cverueeieriierienieniieieseete sttt saeeae st besreesbeeneesseensesneenseeens (485) 317
Balance, December 31 (net of $0 of accumulated impairment)............cocceeeeeereeeneerereneeeeeeeeene $9,694 $10,179
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In order to qualify for like-kind (“LKE”) treatment, the proceeds from real estate sales must be deposited with a third-party
intermediary. These proceeds are accounted for as restricted cash until a suitable replacement property is acquired. In the event
that the LKE purchases are not completed, the proceeds are returned to the Company after 180 days and reclassified as available
cash. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had $6.7 million and $68.9 million, respectively, of proceeds from real
estate sales classified as restricted cash in Other Assets, which were deposited with an LKE intermediary.

Debt issuance costs are capitalized and amortized to interest expense over the term of the debt to which they relate using a
method that approximates the interest method. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, capitalized debt issuance costs were $3.7 million
and $7.0 million, respectively. Software costs are capitalized and amortized over a period not exceeding five years using the
straight-line method. At December 31,2014 and 2013, capitalized software costs were $4.2 million and $8.0 million, respectively.

10. INCOME TAXES

The operations conducted by the Company’s REIT entities are generally not subject to U.S. federal and state income taxation.
Non-REIT qualifying operations are conducted by the Company’s taxable REIT subsidiaries. Prior to the June 27, 2014 spin-off
of Rayonier Advanced Materials, the Company’s taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRS”) operations included the Performance Fibers
manufacturing business. As such, during 2014 and prior periods, the income tax benefit from continuing operations was significantly
impacted by the TRS businesses. As of December 31, 2014, the primary businesses performed in Rayonier’s taxable REIT
subsidiaries included log trading and certain real estate activities, such as the sale and entitlement of development HBU properties.

The Company was subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on built-in gains (the excess of fair market value over tax
basis for property held upon REIT election at January 1, 2004) on taxable sales of such property during calendar years 2004 through
2010. In 2011, the law provided a built-in gains tax holiday. In 2013, the law provided a built-in gains tax holiday for 2012
(retroactive) and 2013, which impacted the Company’s 2013 tax provision. The Company’s 2014 tax provision was not impacted
by built-in-gains taxes.

Like-Kind Exchanges

Under current tax law, taxable income from the sale of REIT property and the required distribution of such gains to shareholders
can be deferred and eliminated if sale proceeds from “relinquished” properties are reinvested in similar property consistent with
the LKE requirements of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code.

Alternative Fuel Mixture Credit (“AFMC”) and Cellulosic Biofuel Producer Credit (“CBPC”)

The U.S. Internal Revenue Code allowed two credits for taxpayers that produced and used an alternative fuel in the operation
of their business during calendar year 2009. The AFMC is a $0.50 per gallon refundable excise tax credit (which is not taxable),
while the CBPC is a $1.01 per gallon credit that is nonrefundable, taxable and has limitations based on an entity’s tax liability.
Rayonier produced and used an alternative fuel (“black liquor”) in its Performance Fibers business, which qualified for both credits.
The Company claimed the AFMC on its original 2009 income tax return. In2013, 2012 and 2011, management approved exchanges
of black liquor gallons previously claimed under the AFMC for the CBPC. The net tax benefit from these exchanges of $18.8
million, $12.2 million and $5.8 million were recorded in discontinued operations in the respective periods. As a result of the spin-
off of the Performance Fibers business in 2014, the Company recorded a $13.6 million valuation allowance in continuing operations
related to CPBC remaining with the Company’s taxable REIT subsidiary and the limited potential use of the CBPC prior to its
expiration on December 31, 2017.
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Provision for Income Taxes from Continuing Operations

The (provision for)/benefit from income taxes consisted of the following:

2014 2013 2012
Current
ULS. £deral ..ottt $27,521 $27,338 $26,539
SEALE. ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et et seene 1,353 1,462 1,241
FOT@IEN ..ttt ettt ettt e st e et e st esbessaesbaenbeesaensaensenseensens — (261) —
28,874 28,539 27,780
Deferred
ULS. federal ....c..ooveieiiicicicecccctc e (7,260) 22,649 110
STALE. ..ttt ettt ettt ettt esnene (357) 1,211 5
FOT@IZIL .ttt ettt 1,633 (2,119) (263)
(5,984) 21,741 (148)
Changes in valuation alloWanCe ...........cceceeirieiiieiieieeeeee e (13,289) (14,595) (572)
TOtAL.. ettt ettt et ettt et et et e b et et e nsen s et ennennenes $9,601 $35,685 $27,060
A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the actual income tax rate was as follows:
2014 2013 2012
U.S. federal statutory income tax rate ..........cceceervenens $(15,695) 35.0 % $(24,555) 35.0 % $3,600 (35.00%
REIT income and taxable 10SS€s .........ccceeerererruennene 32,058 (71.5) 52,812 (75.3) 27,724 (269.5)
Foreign operations............cceceeveereeeeeneeeseseeeeeenns (159) 0.4 (935) 0.1 — —
Loss on early redemption of Senior Exchangeable
INOLES ..ttt — — (859) 1.2 — —
OFNCT ..o 112 (0.3) 101 (0.1) 251 2.5)
Income tax benefit before discrete items..................... 16,316 (36.4) 27,404 (39.1) 31,575  (307.0)
CBPC valuation allowance ............c.ccceeeeveeveeennenne. (13,644) 30.4 — — — —
Deferred tax inventory valuations...........cceceevennnnen. 5,151 (11.5) 9383 (1.4) (4,920) 47.8
Uncertain taX poSItioNS.........cecverveerverreruereenresvenneenns 1,830 4.1 800 (1.1 — —
Return to accrual adjustments............ccccoeeerenreenene. — — — — (12) 0.1
Gain related to consolidation of New Zealand joint
VENTULE....uiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiec it — — 5,634 (8.0) — —
Reversal of REIT BIG tax payable ........cccccccceneeunee — — 4385 (0.7) — —
OHCT oo (52) 0.2 379 (0.6) 417 (4.0)
Income tax benefit as reported for continuing
OPETALIONS w..vvveeveieeiseie ittt sees $9,601 (21.4)% 35,685 (50.9%  $27,060  (263.1)%

The Company’s effective tax rate is below the 35 percent U.S. statutory rate primarily due to tax benefits associated with
being a REIT and from losses at Rayonier’s taxable operations from interest and general administrative expenses not allowed to
be allocated to the discontinued operations of the Performance Fibers business.

Provision for Income Taxes from Discontinued Operations

On June 27, 2014 Rayonier completed the spin-off of its Performance Fibers business. Income tax expense related to
Performance Fibers discontinued operations was $20.6 million, $84.4 million and $111.8 million for the years ended December

31,2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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During 2013, Rayonier completed the sale of its Wood Products business for $80 million plus a working capital adjustment.
Income tax expense related to the Wood Products business (recorded in discontinued operations) was $22.0 million ($21.1 million
from the gain on sale) and $3.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

See Note 3 — Discontinued Operations for additional information on the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business and the
sale of the Wood Products business.

Deferred Taxes

Deferred income taxes result from recording revenues and expenses in different periods for financial reporting versus tax
reporting. The nature of the temporary differences and the resulting net deferred tax asset/liability for the two years ended
December 31, were as follows:

2014 2013 (a)
Gross deferred tax assets:
Liabilities for dispositions and discontinued OPErations ..........c..coceereeereeereeirerinererenseneeennenes — $28,050
Pension, postretirement and other employee benefits ..........cccovvevirieneniiinieiiiieeeeeeeee 1,994 43,058
Foreign and state NOL CarryfOrwardsS ..........cuerieierierienienieeieseesieeeenie ettt seesieeaesaeeseseeeseeens 71,482 85,801
Tax Credit CAITYTOTWAIAS. ... .ccveiieieeieieeierteeie ettt ettt steesbe et esbeesbesbeenbeesaessesnsesseensennns 13,644 52,682
CapitaliZed real ESTALE COSTS...uuiiuirriiriiriieierieiteetesteete st eteettesbeeaesseesseeseesseessesseenseessesseessesseensensns 9,554 8,901
L 7 4 USSP R 8,067 20,970
Total gross deferred taX ASSELS.......uruirierierierieieieieie ettt ettt et eteetessesteesessesseeseseenes 104,741 239,462
Less: Valuation allOWANCE..........ccuiiiuiiiiieiii ettt ettt e eteesveesaeeeveeseaeesaeesaseeseseenseessseessneas (13,644) (33,889)
Total deferred tax assets after valuation allOWaNCE.............cocvveeevvieiiiueee i $91,097 $205,573
Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Accelerated dePreCIAtiON ........c.evierueeiieriieieiiesteeteseete et eteetesteesseeseesbeessesseessesssesseessesseessesssenseens (1,796) (57,695)
Repatriation of fOreign Carmings .........ccooeruerieiieieiieieieeeeetee ettt eeen (8,817) (9,065)
New Zealand forests, roads and carbon Credits .........ooevvereerierieienieieieeeceeeeee e (78,008) (85,681)

Timber installment sale (7,511) (7,360)

OBNET <.ttt ettt bbbt b bbb stk n bbbt b et s tenea (1,304) (5,247)
Total gross deferred tax Habilities .......c.eecverieriiiierieieecete ettt sae e s eee (97,436)  (165,048)
Net deferred tax (HaDIILY)/@SSEL......c.eiviiiieriiticrictictetert ettt ettt ettt reere et e teebeeresaeebesaesreans $(6,339) $40,525
Current portion of deferred taX ASSEL..........ccveviiriierierierieie ettt e e sae e e sreesbeees — 39,100
Noncurrent portion of deferred tax aSSEt........ccvvereririerieerieeieeeeee e 8,057 10,720
Current portion of defered tax Hability........ccooiriiriiiiiniiiieee e (7,893) —
Noncurrent portion of deferred tax Hability .......cccoecvereerieriiniiiierieieseeesee e (6,503) (9,295)
Net deferred tax (HaDIILY)/aSSEt......ciiviiieririicricierieiestetet ettt ettt se et et eaeeteetesaeebessesreebessessenns $(6,339) $40,525

(a) Includes balances related to discontinued operations.

Included above are the following foreign net operating loss (“NOL”) and tax credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2014:

Gross Valuation
Item Amount Allowance  Expiration
New Zealand JV NOL Carryforwards .........cccecveriecieniienieeiieneeieneeie e sieeseeseeseeseenieens $330,589 — None
Cellulosic Biofuel Producer Credit.........ooveeieriieieniieieiieieeiesieereseeveeeeenve e see e seees 13,644 (13,644) 2017
Total Valuation AIIOWANCE..........cceeierieecieriieiieirereeee et esteste e eaeeeeesaeeeeesseesseseeas $(13,644)

In 2014, the Company recorded a tax deficiency on stock-based compensation of $0.8 million. In 2013 and 2012, the Company
recorded excess tax benefits of $8.4 million and $7.6 million, respectively, related to stock-based compensation. These amounts
were recorded directly to shareholders’ equity and were not included in the consolidated tax provision.
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Unrecognized Tax Benefits

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the Company recognizes the impact of a tax position if a position
is “more-likely-than-not” to prevail.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending unrecognized tax benefits for the three years ended December 31 is as follows:

2014 2013 2012
Balance at JANUATY 1, ......ccooiiiiiieiiieiiieiictecei ettt eb st eae s b sbeseeaese e $10,547 $6,580 $6,580
Decreases related to prior year taX POSItIONS .....eeverveeverteerierrerieerenteeieseesteeseseeensesseessesnnenees (10,547) (800)
Increases related to prior year taX POSITIONS .....ecverveeierreeierienieererteeteseeseeresseesesseessesseensens — 4,767
Balance at DECEMDBET 31, .....oiiiiiieiiiiieceeeee ettt et st e et s e e e e eaaas —  $10,547 $6,580

The unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2013 included $4.8 million related to an increased domestic production
deduction on the Company’s amended 2009 tax return due to the inclusion of the CBPC income. Rayonier reversed this reserve
during 2014 upon receipt of a refund from the IRS after its examination of the amended 2009 TRS tax return. The reserve included
a$0.9 million unrecognized tax benefit, which was recorded in discontinued operations. The remaining $5.8 million of unrecognized
tax benefits as of December 31, 2013 was related to positions on the Company’s 2010 tax return, on which the statute of limitations
on examination expired during 2014. As such, the Company removed the $5.8 million unrecognized tax benefit liability during
2014, resulting ina $1.8 million income tax benefit and a $4.0 million reduction of a non-current tax asset. There are no unrecognized
tax benefit liabilities remaining as of December 31, 2014.

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would have affected the effective tax rate at December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012 is $0, $6.6 million and $2.6 million, respectively.

The Company records interest (and penalties, if applicable) related to unrecognized tax benefits in non-operating expenses.
The Company recorded a $0.5 million benefit to interest expense in 2014. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the
Company recorded interest expense of $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively. The Company had liabilities of $0 and $0.5
million for the payment of interest at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Tax Statutes

The following table provides detail of the tax years that remain open to examination by the IRS and other significant taxing
jurisdictions:

Taxing Jurisdiction Open Tax Years
U.S. Internal REVENUE SEIVICE.......icuirieieeiieiieieitteie sttt sttt st et etesieetesatenteestesseensesseensesssesseens 2011-2014
State OF ALADAMA. ....cueeiiitieiieieieeee ettt sttt et e st e et e steesbesseebeeseesbeesbesseenseesbeseenaenaeenseneeen 2009 - 2013
StAte OF FLOTIAA ...evvevieeieciieieetee ettt ettt ettt ettt e et e st esbesteebeeseesbeessesseenseessensaessenseensensean 2010 -2014
N F 1Tl o) T4 - S PRSS 2010-2014
New Zealand Inland REVENUE...........c.ccieviiiiiiiieiiiieieeteete ettt ste e vt sreeesesteebeesaesseessesseenseseeas 2010 -2014
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11. EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing net income attributable to Rayonier by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net income attributable to Rayonier by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding adjusted to include the potentially dilutive effect of outstanding stock
options, performance shares, restricted shares and convertible debt.

The following table provides details of the calculation of basic and diluted EPS for the three years ended December 31:

2014 2013 2012
Income from continUing OPEratioNS..........coveeveverereieieteieteteeeeeeeeeeeesesresnens $54,443 $105,843 $16,774
Less: Net (loss) income from continuing operations attributable to
NONCONTOIING INLETESE ......eviiiiieiiii e (1,491) 1,902 —
Income from continuing operations attributable to Rayonier Inc............c.cceceeeee $55,934 $103,941 $16,774
Income from discontinued operations attributable to Rayonier Inc. ...................... $43,403 $267,955 $261,911
Net income attributable to Rayonier INC...........oceveevierieniniiinieieneececeie e $99,337 $371,896 $278,685
Shares used for determining basic earnings per common share..............ccoccvennenee.. 126,458,710 125,717,311 122,711,802
Dilutive effect of:
STOCK OPLIONS ...eeuvieiieiieiieiiesteete ettt ettt ettt et e be et esbeenseseeens 323,125 463,949 634,218
Performance and restricted Shares...........c.cooeeeereineineine e 149,292 158,319 757,308
Assumed conversion of Senior Exchangeable Notes (a) ......cccccoeevevvervenenne. 2,149,982 1,965,177 2,888,650
Assumed conversion of Warrants (2)...........cceeeeeeveevveseenreeieseeseeseenneevesreenns 1,957,154 1,800,345 1,710,445
Shares used for determining diluted earnings per common share.................cc........ 131,038,263 130,105,101 128,702,423
Basic earnings per common share attributable to Rayonier Inc.:
CoNtINUING OPEIALIONS.......euetieeietiatietietesteetestententestenteeeseeneeeeseeneeseeseeseeseeseeseeaesaeaes $0.44 $0.83 $0.14
Discontinued OPETALIONS .......cc.e.erieuirreuerieeirieirtieetee ettt ettt ree s s eeere e 0.34 2.13 2.13
NEEINCOMIE ..ottt $0.78 $2.96 $2.27
Diluted earnings per common share attributable to Rayonier Inc.:
CoNtINUING OPEIALIONS.......evetieeietiatieeietesteetestetentestenteeeseenee e eseeneeseeseeseeseeseeseenesaees $0.43 $0.80 $0.13
Discontinued OPETALIONS ......cc.c.erieuerreuirieirieinieietet ettt etesees ettt ee bt eree s seene 0.33 2.06 2.04
NEEINCOMIE ..ottt $0.76 $2.86 $2.17
2014 2013 2012
Ar;ﬂ;rl(ial.utive shares excluded from the computations of diluted earnings per
Stock options, performance and restricted shares...........cccoceeveeveereeceneenennnen. 461,663 337,145 224,918
Assumed conversion of exchangeable note hedges (a) .......ccoovvevveecverieecvennnenen. 2,149,982 1,965,177 2,888,650
TOAL ..ttt sttt ettt ettt s ae b ne bt se st e s enenas 2,611,645 2,302,322 3,113,568

(a) The Senior Exchangeable Notes due 2012 (the “2012 Notes”) matured in October 2012 and $41.5 million of the Senior
Exchangeable Notes due 2015 (the “2015 Notes”) were redeemed by the noteholders in September and October 2013; however,
no additional shares were issued due to offsetting exchangeable note hedges. Similarly, Rayonier will not issue additional
shares upon future exchange or maturity of the remaining 2015 Notes due to offsetting hedges. ASC 260, Earnings Per Share
requires the assumed conversion of the Notes to be included in dilutive shares if the average stock price for the period exceeds
the strike prices, while the assumed conversion of the hedges is excluded since they are anti-dilutive. As such, the dilutive
effect of the assumed conversion of the 2012 Notes was included for the year ended December 31, 2012. The full dilutive
effect of the 2015 Notes was included for the year ended December 31, 2012, while only a proportional amount, based on the
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length of time the $41.5 million balance was outstanding before the exchange, was included for the year ended December 31,
2013. The year ended December 31, 2014 included the dilutive effect of the $131 million 2015 Notes, as this was the principal

balance outstanding during the full year.

The warrants sold in conjunction with the 2012 Notes began maturing on January 15, 2013 and matured ratably through
March 27, 2013, resulting in the issuance of 2,135,221 shares. The dilutive impact of these warrants was calculated based on
the length of time they were outstanding before settlement. Rayonier will distribute additional shares upon maturity of the
warrants associated with the 2015 Notes if the stock price exceeds $28.12 per share. The exchange price on the warrants is
lower than prior periods as ithas been adjusted to reflect the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business. For further information,

see Note 13 — Debt.

12. INVENTORY
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, Rayonier’s inventory included the following:

2014 2013
FiniShed 00AS () (D) .ioviieiiiiieie ettt ettt ettt et et eseese et e esesseeseesessesessessensennas $8,383  $115,270
WOTK 1 PIOGIESS ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et et e s bt et e s aeesbessee s bt enbeeaeenbeestesseensesesenseensenseensesseenseans — 3,555
RAW MALETIALS (€) 1vrvvevieieeiieiieieie ettt ettt sttt et e st e e te e st ebesseesbeesseeseeseessesseensesssensaessesseensesseesenns 659 17,661
Manufacturing and mainteNance SUPPIIES .....c.eccververiierierierieeiesieeteseeteeeesteeaesseesseseeessaessesseessesseesseens — 2,332
TOtAl INVENLOTY (A):.veuveveeeeiieeiieieietei ettt sttt et b ettt seebe st bese et enseseseseseseesaneas $9,042  $138,818

(a) Includes $4.9 million and $6.3 million of HBU real estate held for sale at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
(b) Includes $3.4 million and $4.1 million of New Zealand log inventory at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

(c¢) Includes $0.7 million and $0.2 million of seedling inventory at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
(d) 2013 includes $128.2 million of inventory related to the Performance Fibers business.

13. DEBT
Rayonier’s debt consisted of the following at December 31, 2014 and 2013:

2014 2013

Senior Notes due 2022 at a fixed interest rate 0f 3.75%0....cc.uivviiiiiieiieeeeeeeeeeeeee e $325,000 $325,000
Senior Exchangeable Notes due 2015 at a fixed interest rate 0f 4.50% (2)......cceovvevverrevreeceerrrerennen. 129,706 127,749
Installment note due 2014 at a fixed interest rate 0f 8.64%......c..eovveeieeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee — 112,500
Mortgage notes due 2017 at fixed interest rates of 4.35% (D) .....ccovveerenirinrineineereeeeeeee 53,801 65,165
Solid waste bond due 2020 at a variable interest rate of 1.3% at December 31, 2014...................... 15,000 15,000
Revolving Credit Facility borrowings due 2016 at a variable interest rate of 1.34% at December

31, 2004 ettt sttt 16,000 205,000
Term Credit Agreement borrowings due 2019 at a variable interest rate of 1.63% at December

B, 2004 e e e e a e e e e te e e e tbeeeataaeeatbeeeataeeeantaeeeareeeataeeares — 500,000
New Zealand JV Revolving Credit Facility due 2016 at a variable interest rate of 4.47% at

DIECEMBDET 31, 2014 ..ottt et et et eee et et et et eeeeeeae e eeneeeeeeneseeeneenennen 184,099 193,311
New Zealand JV Noncontrolling interest shareholder loan at 0% interest rate............cccceeevvevennencne 27,949 30,499
TOLAL AEDE ...ttt ettt et sh et et h et e h e bt et bt et e st et et e bt enteseee 751,555 1,574,224
Less: Current maturities of long-term debt..............cccoviiiiiiii (129,706) (112,500)
LONG-EITI AEDE. ...ttt a ettt ettt sttt b e bt ae s b et ae st ne s $621,849 $1,461,724
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Principal payments due during the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

2015 (B)1eveeverrerertetetetetet et et esteste st esteseesaeseeseeseese et e et eesees e b e ese s e be s e b e s s e s et en b e st en s e st e st esses e e st esteRees e et e eseeseeseeseeteereeaeeaeane $130,973
2016 .ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt e te et et e te et et e eh et e b e eh e A e beehe b e s b e s et es b e st es s e Rt e st essentestessereensereeseereereereeteereeaeereans 200,099
2017 (D) cveetieieet ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt te et et e te b e ete e teebeebeebe b e b et en b et e s b eat e st erbest e st esteaeerbersereereereereeteeteereereans 52,500
2018 ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e eteeteeteeteeaeeteebeeteeteeteeteebebeetebent et easeat et enbententesseatenteseertereereeaeereeteereereans —
2019 ettt ettt ettt a ettt s e Rt st e R e R e ea e R e ke s e R es s e s e tententententensensentententententeseeneenteseeneeseereeneerenee —
TETEATIET ...t e e e e ettt e e et e e e et e e e eetae e e eaaeeeeabeeeeetaeeeeaaeeeeateeeaarteeetaeeeatateeeareeeeareeean 367,949
e 721 I 1] o TR $751,521

(a) Our Senior Exchangeable Notes maturing in 2015 were discounted by $1.3 million and $3.2 million as of December 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively. Upon maturity the liability will be $131 million.

(b) The mortgage notes due in 2017 were recorded at a premium of $1.3 million and $2.2 million as of December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively. Upon maturity the liability will be $53 million.

Term Credit Agreement

In December 2012, the Company entered into a $640 million senior unsecured term credit agreement with banks in the farm
credit system, which is a network of cooperatives. As part of the spin-off of Performance Fibers, the facility was fully repaid and,
in second quarter 2014, amended to reduce the Company’s borrowing capacity to $100 million after the spin-off was completed.
The agreement matures in December 2019 and has a delayed draw feature that allows borrowings up to $100 million through
December 2017 using a maximum of three remaining advances. The periodic interest rate on the term credit agreement is LIBOR
plus 163 basis points, with an unused commitment fee of 20 basis points. The Company receives annual patronage refunds, which
are profit distributions made by a cooperative to its member-users based on the quantity or value of business done with the member-
user. The Company expects the effective interest rate to approximate LIBOR plus 107 basis points after consideration of the
patronage refunds. At December 31, 2014, the Company had $100 million of available borrowings under this facility.

Revolving Credit Facility

In April 2011, the Company entered into a five year $300 million unsecured revolving credit facility, replacing the previous
$250 million facility which was scheduled to expire in August 2011. In August 2011, the Company increased the revolving credit
facility to $450 million. As part of the spin-off of Performance Fibers, the revolving credit facility was fully repaid and, in second
quarter 2014, amended to reduce the Company’s borrowing capacity to $200 million after the spin-off was completed. The April
2016 expiration date remained unchanged. The periodic interest rate on the revolving credit facility is LIBOR plus 118 basis points,
with an unused commitment fee of 20 basis points. At December 31, 2014, the Company had $182 million of available borrowings
under this facility, net of $2 million to secure its outstanding letters of credit.

Joint Venture Debt

On April 4, 2013, Rayonier acquired an additional 39 percent interest in its New Zealand JV, bringing its total ownership to
65 percent and as a result, the New Zealand JV’s debt was consolidated effective on that date. See Note 4 — Joint Venture Investment
for further information.

Senior Secured Facilities Agreement

The New Zealand JV is party to a $202 million variable rate Senior Secured Facilities Agreement comprised of two tranches.
Tranche A, a $184 million revolving cash advance facility expires September 2016 and Tranche B, an $18 million working capital
facility expires June 2015. Although the maximum amounts available under the agreement are denominated in New Zealand
dollars, advances on Tranche A are also available in U.S. dollars. This agreement is secured by a Security Trust Deed that provides
recourse only to the New Zealand JV’s assets; there is no recourse to Rayonier Inc. or any of its subsidiaries.
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Revolving Credit Facility

As of December 31, 2014 the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement had $184 million outstanding on Tranche A at 4.47
percent due September 2016, with a commitment fee of 80 basis points. The interest rate is indexed to the 90 day New Zealand
Bank bill rate and is generally repriced quarterly. The margin on the index rate fluctuates based on the interest coverage ratio.
The New Zealand JV manages these rates through interest rate swaps, as discussed at Note 6 — Derivative Financial Instruments
and Hedging Activities. The notional amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at December 31, 2014 were $149
million, net of notional amounts of $13 million set to expire January 2015 for which replacement swaps have been entered
into before year end. These interest rate swap contracts cover 81 percent of the variable rate debt. The weighted average fixed
interest rate resulting from the swaps was 5.0 percent. The interest rate swap contracts have maturities between one and five
years.

Working Capital Facility

The $18 million Working Capital Facility is available for short-term operating cash flow needs of the New Zealand JV.
This facility holds a variable interest rate indexed to the Official Cash Rate set by the Reserve Bank of New Zealand. The
margin ranges from 1.20 percent to 1.45 percent based on the interest coverage ratio and the length of time each borrowing
is outstanding. At December 31, 2014, there was no outstanding balance on the Working Capital Facility.

Shareholder Loan

The shareholder loan is an interest-free loan from the noncontrolling New Zealand JV partner in the amount of $28 million.
This loan represents part of the noncontrolling party’s investment in the New Zealand JV. The loan is secured by timberlands
owned by the New Zealand JV and is subordinated to the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement. Although Rayonier Inc. is not
liable for this loan, the shareholder loan instrument contains features with characteristics of both debt and equity and is therefore
required to be classified as debt and consolidated. As the loan is effectively at par, the carrying amount is deemed to be the fair
value. The entire balance of the shareholder loan remained classified as long-term debt at December 31, 2014 due to the ability
and intent of the Company to refinance it on a long-term basis.

3.75% Senior Notes issued March 2012

In March 2012, Rayonier Inc. issued $325 million of 3.75% Senior Notes due 2022, guaranteed by certain subsidiaries. The
guarantors were revised in October 2012, leaving TRS and Rayonier Operating Company LLC as the remaining guarantors.

$105 Million Secured Mortgage Notes Assumed

In November 2011, in connection with the acquisition of approximately 250,000 acres of timberlands, the Company assumed
notes totaling $105 million, secured by mortgages on certain parcels of the timberlands acquired. The notes bear fixed interest
rates of 4.35 percent with original terms of seven years maturing in August 2017. The Company prepaid $21.0 million of principal
on the mortgage notes concurrent with the acquisition and an additional $10.5 million during both 2014 and 2013, the maximum
amounts allowed without penalty at the respective dates. The notes were recorded at fair value on the date of acquisition. At
December 31, 2014, the carrying value of the debt outstanding was $53.8 million; however, the liability will be $52.5 million at
maturity.

4.50% Senior Exchangeable Notes issued August 2009

In August 2009, TRS issued $172.5 million of 4.50% Senior Exchangeable Notes due 2015. The notes are guaranteed by
Rayonier and are non-callable. The principal will be settled in cash and any excess exchange value will be settled at the option of
the Company in either cash or stock of Rayonier. Note holders may convert their notes to common stock of Rayonier, subject to
certain provisions including the market price of the stock and the trading price of the convertible notes. The current exchange rate
is 42.47 shares per $1,000 principal based on an exchange price of $23.54.

In separate transactions, TRS and Rayonier purchased exchangeable note hedges and sold warrants, respectively, based on
5,169,653 underlying shares of Rayonier. These transactions had the effect of increasing the conversion premium from 22.5 percent
to 46 percent or to $28.12 per share. The exchangeable note hedge and warrant transactions are intended to limit exposure of
potential dilution to Rayonier shareholders from note holders who could exchange the notes for Rayonier common shares. Upon
exercise of the hedges, TRS will receive shares of Rayonier common stock equal to the difference between the then market price
and the strike price of $23.54. The holders of the warrants will receive net shares from Rayonier if the share price is above $28.12
at maturity of the warrants.
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The purchased hedges and sold warrants are not part of the terms of the notes and will not affect the note holders’ rights.
Likewise, the note holders will not have any rights with respect to the hedge or the warrants. The purchased hedges and the sold
warrants do not meet the definition of a derivative instrument because they are indexed to the Company’s own stock. They were
recorded in shareholders’ equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and are not subject to mark-to-market adjustments.

The $172.5 million 4.50% Senior Exchangeable Notes due 2015 were exchangeable at the option of the holders for all four
calendar quarters ending in 2014. Per the indenture, in order for the notes to become exchangeable, the Company’s stock price
must exceed 130 percent of the exchange price for 20 trading days in a period of 30 consecutive trading days as of the last day of
the quarter. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2014, the note holders did not elect to exercise the exchange option.

During the third quarter of 2013, three groups of note holders elected to exercise their right to redeem $41.5 million of the
notes with all three redemptions settling by December 31,2013. Inaccordance with ASC 470-50, Modifications and Extinguishments
[Debt], the fair value of the debt prior to redemption was compared to its carrying amount and the difference expensed, along with
unamortized discount and issuance costs. As a result, Rayonier recorded a loss on the early redemption of $4 million in 2013.

Based upon the average stock price for the 30 trading days ended December 31, 2014, these notes are not exchangeable for
the calendar quarter ending March 31, 2015. The remaining balance of the notes is classified as current maturities of long-term
debt at December 31, 2014 as the notes mature in September of 2015.

The amounts related to convertible debt in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2014 and 2013 are as follows:

2014 2013

Liabilities:
Principal amount of debt

4.50% Senior EXchangeable NOLES .........cccviiieriieriirieieeieriteiesite ettt ete st et seeeaesaeesesnneneas $130,973 $130,973
Unamortized discount (a)

4.50% Senior EXchangeable NOLES ........cccoveieirieieieieieeete ettt (1,267) (3,224)
Net carrying amount Of deDt.........ccoeoiiiriiiiieieeee e $129,706 $127,749
Equity:
COMIMON STOCK .....veieiieieitiiie ettt ettt ettt et ettt et e e et et e ete et e esseeasesseeaeenseenseeasensesssenseenseses $8,850 $8,850

(a) The discount for the 4.50% notes will be amortized through August 2015.

The amount of interest related to the convertible debt recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income for the three years ended December 31 is as follows:

2014 2013 2012
Contractual interest coupon
4.50% Senior Exchangeable NOLES..........cc.oveviieviieriieiiieeieieee ettt $5,930 $7,271 $7,763
Amortization of debt discount
4.50% Senior Exchangeable NOLES.........cccveriieierieieiieieceese et see e 1,957 2,281 2,296
Total interest eXPense TECOZMZEM ... .ueuvrueireririirieiirieeieieeeeietetet ettt sae e sbesesseseeseneeseneees $7,887 $9,552  $10,059

The effective interest rate on the liability component for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was 6.21%.
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Debt Covenants

In connection with the Company’s $200 million revolving credit facility, covenants must be met, including an interest coverage
ratio based on the facility’s definition of EBITDA (“Covenant EBITDA”). Covenant EBITDA consists of earnings from continuing
operations before the cumulative effect of accounting changes and any provision for dispositions, income taxes, interest expense,
depreciation, depletion, amortization and the non-cash cost basis of real estate sold. Additionally, debt at subsidiaries (excluding
Rayonier Operating Company LLC and TRS, which are borrowers under the agreement) is limited to 15 percent of Consolidated
Net Tangible Assets. Consolidated Net Tangible Assets is defined as total assets less the sum of total current liabilities and intangible
assets.

The term credit agreement contains various covenants customary to credit agreements with borrowers having investment-
grade debt ratings. These covenants are substantially identical to those of the credit facility discussed above.

In connection with the New Zealand JV’s Senior Secured Facilities Agreement, covenants must be met, including generation
of sufficient cash flows to meet a minimum interest coverage ratio of 1.25 to 1 on a quarterly basis and maintenance of a leverage
ratio of bank debt versus the forest and land valuation below the covenant’s maximum ratio of 40 percent.

In addition to the financial covenants listed above, the installment note, mortgage notes, senior notes, term credit agreement
and revolving credit facility include customary covenants that limit the incurrence of debt and the disposition of assets, among
others. At December 31, 2014, the Company was in compliance with all covenants.
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14. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

An analysis of shareholders’ equity for each of the three years ended December 31, 2014 is shown below (share amounts not
in thousands):

Common Shares Acc?)lall:,lf ted Non-
Retained  comprehensive c¢ontrolling  Shareholders’
Shares (a) Amount Earnings Income/(Loss) Interest Equity
Balance, December 31, 2011 .............ccocevenennene 122,035,177  $630,286 $806,235 $(113,448) — $1,323,073
NEt INCOME.....vvieeiieerieeiieieeie ettt — — 278,685 — — 278,685
Dividends ($1.68 per share) ..........c.ccccceeevererennnann. — —  (208,286) — — (208,286)
Issuance of shares under incentive stock
1,467,024 25,495 — — — 25,495
— 15,116 — — — 15,116
Excess tax benefit on stock-based compensation.. — 7,635 — — — 7,635
Repurchase of common shares..........ccccccveveiennene (169,757) (7,783) — — — (7,783)
Net loss from pension and postretirement plans.... — — — (496) — (496)
Foreign currency translation adjustment ............... — — — 4,352 — 4,352
Joint venture cash flow hedges — — — 213 — 213
Balance, December 31,2012 .................cccoeeee. 123,332,444  $670,749 $876,634 $(109,379) — $1,438,004
NEL INCOME. .....ccvveeieenieeieeeeeee et — — 371,896 — 1,902 373,798
Dividends ($1.86 per share) ...........ccccceveveverrenennne — — (233,321) — — (233,321)
Issuance of shares under incentive stock
PLANS ..o 1,001,426 10,101 — — — 10,101
Stock-based compensation ............cceeeveveeveereennnne. — 11,710 — — — 11,710
Excess tax benefit on stock-based compensation.. — 8,413 — — — 8,413
Repurchase of common shares..........cccccecveveiennene (211,221)  (11,326) — — — (11,326)
Equity portion of convertible debt (Note 13) ........ — 2,453 — — — 2,453
Settlement of warrants (Note 13) ..........ccccceeveeneee 2,135,221 — — — — —
Net loss from pension and postretirement plans.... — — — 61,869 — 61,869
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest................... — — — — 96,336 96,336
Noncontrolling interest redemption of shares ....... — — — — (713) (713)
Foreign currency translation adjustment................ — — — (1,915) (3,795) (5,710)
Joint venture cash flow hedges..........ccocevvvevenennnne — — — 3,286 343 3,629
Balance, December 31,2013 ..............ccooverrneee. 126,257,870  $692,100 $1,015,209 $(46,139) $94,073 $1,755,243
Net income......c..ccceveveeereennene. — — 99,337 — (1,491) 97,846
Dividends ($2.03 per share) — —  (256,861) — — (256,861)
Contribution to Rayonier Advanced Materials...... — (301) (61,318) 80,749 — 19,130
Adjustments to Rayonier Advanced Materials (b) — — (5,670) (2,556) — (8,226)
Issuance of shares under incentive stock
Plans.......coeeeveveereieeinnn. 561,701 5,579 — — — 5,579
Stock-based compensation — 7,869 — — — 7,869
Tax deficiency on stock-based compensation........ — (791) — — — (791)
Repurchase of common shares...........cccoeoveeneneee (46,474) (1,858) — — — (1,858)
Net loss from pension and postretirement plans.... — — — (24,147) — (24,147)
e O - - - G ©31)
Foreign currency translation adjustment . — — — (11,526) (4,321) (15,847)
Joint venture cash flow hedges.........ccccceverevennenene — — — (1,206) (649) (1,855)
Balance, December 31,2014 .................coco...... 126,773,097  $702,598 $790,697 $(4,825) $86,681 $1,575,151

(a) The Company’s common shares are registered in North Carolina and have a $0.00 par value.

(b) Primarily relates to adjustments made to the Rayonier Advanced Materials contribution as income taxes and pension and
postretirement plan assets and obligations were finalized.
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The table below summarizes the tax characteristics of the cash dividend paid to shareholders for the three years ended

December 31, 2014:

2014 2013 2012
CAPIAL GAIN ...ttt ettt sttt $1.61 $0.72 $1.68
QUANIEIEA. ...ttt ettt bbbttt b et bbb e bt e bt e b e b et et et e b et e b e st et et esesetenan — 1.14 —
REtUIN OF CAPTLAL....euiiiieieciee ettt ettt et sttt et e st eneesee 0.42 — —
Total cash dividend per COMMON SATE ...........ceveviieriieiiiciiieiecieeeer et $2.03 $1.86 $1.68

15.

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
The following table summarizes the changes in AOCI by component for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. All

amounts are presented net of tax and exclude portions attributable to noncontrolling interest.

Foreign Net .
currency investment New Unrecognized
translation hedge of  Zealand JV  components of
gains/ New cash flow employee
(losses) Zealand Jv  hedges (a)  benefit plans Total
Balance as of December 31, 2012.................... $38,829 — $(3,628) $(144,580) $(109,379)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) before
reclassifications. ...........coevevrvrvereeresieienann. (1,915) — 798 45,931 (v) 44,814
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive 10SS........ccooevieerierienieniennene, — — 2,488 15,938 (¢) 18,426
Net other comprehensive income/(loss)........... (1,915) — 3,286 61,869 63,240
Balance as of December 31, 2013 .................... $36,914 — $(342) $(82,711) $(46,139)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) before
1eclassifications........cccveveveeeiiueeiieieeeeieeeens (11,381) (145) 510 47,938 (d) 36,922
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive 10SS........ccccovceeereveveuceennnn. — — (1,716) 6,108 (¢) 4,392
Net other comprehensive income/(loss)........... (11,381) (145) (1,206) 54,046 41,314
Balance as of December 31, 2014.................... $25,533 $(145) $(1,548) $(28,665) $(4,825)

(@)

Prior to the acquisition of a majority interest in the New Zealand JV in 2013, Rayonier recorded its proportionate share of the
New Zealand JV’s cash flow hedges as increases or decreases to “Investment in Joint Venture” with corresponding adjustments
to “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The New Zealand JV’s cash
flow hedges have been consolidated as a result of the acquisition.

(b) The decrease in the unrecognized component of employee benefit plans was due to an actuarial gain resulting from an increase

©

(d)

(©

in the discount rate from 3.7 percent as of December 31, 2012 to 4.6 percent as of December 31, 2013, and higher than expected
returns on plan assets in 2013.

This accumulated other comprehensive income component is included in the computation of net periodic pension cost. See
Note 22 — Employee Benefit Plans for additional information.

Reflects $78 million, net of taxes, of comprehensive income due to the transfer of losses to Rayonier Advanced Materials
Pension Plans. This comprehensive income was offset by $30 million, net of taxes, of losses as a result of revaluations required
due to the spin-off and at year-end. The actuarial losses were primarily caused by a decrease in the discount rate from 4.6
percent as of December 31,2013 to 3.8 percent as of December 31, 2014. See Note 22 — Employee Benefit Plans for additional
information.

This accumulated other comprehensive income component is comprised of $5 million from the computation of net periodic
pension cost and the $1 million write-off of a deferred tax asset related to the revaluation and transfer of liabilities as a result
of the spin-off.
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The following table presents details of the amounts reclassified in their entirety from AOCI for the years ended December 31,

2014 and 2013:

Details about accumulated other comprehensive
income components

Amount reclassified from
accumulated other
comprehensive income

Affected line item in the income
statement

Loss from New Zealand joint venture cash flow

NEAZES ...t

Realized (gain) loss on foreign currency exchange

[¢70) 115 ¥ [0] £ SRS

Realized gain on foreign currency option contracts ......

Noncontrolling Interest ..........ccovveereerenereneeneerenenn

Income tax expense (benefit) from foreign currency

CONLTACTS ...ttt et

Net (gain) loss on cash flow hedges reclassified from

accumulated other comprehensive income ................

Income tax expense on pension plan contributed to

Rayonier Advanced Materials............ccceceeveecreniennnne

Net (gain) loss reclassified from accumulated other

CcOMPrehensive iINCOME.........cceevveverreerreneesieeeenieenens

2014 2013
— $2,159
(2,858) 843
(1,007) —
1,352 (295)

797 (219)
(1,716) 2,488
843 —
$(873) $2,488
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16. OTHER OPERATING INCOME, NET

The following table provides the composition of Other operating income, net for the three years ended December 31:

2014 2013 2012

Lease income, primarily for hUNting..............ccocveviiiviniiiinieiceeeeecee e $17,569 $19,479 $15,937
Other NON-tIMDET INCOIMIE ........eiiiiiiieieiiiectiee et eeae e eetee e et eeeenaeeeesaaeeeeseeeeesteesenaaeeeenaeeas 2,314 2,714 3,346
FOreign eXChange aiNS.........cc.ccuieieriieiiiieiieeieee ettt et e steeaeeeeeaeesaesteebesssesaeessesssesseesseseas 3,498 901 —
INSUTANCE TECOVETICS ... .veevveeeeie e ceeeeetee et eetee et e e e et e eereeeeeeeteeeseeeaeeeeseeenseeeneeeseeenreeeneeeneens — — 2,298
Gain (loss) on sale or disposal of property plant & equipment ...........cccecevveereereereccneennes 48 287 (23)
Gain (loss) on foreign CUITeNCy CONLTACES, NET .....ccveeeerverierrieieeeeerieeterteereseesseeaesseeaesseensens 32 (192) —
Legal and corporate develoOpmEeNnt COSES ......c.iuvuirirriiriieriieieiierieeeesie e seeteeere e e ae e eseeeae e (222) (2,242) (1,073)
Bankruptcy claim SEttICMENt............cecieiiieiiieiieteieiee et 5,779 — —
MiScellaneous (EXPENSE), MEL ......cueveieereeriereerieresteeseeresteeseesessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessens (2,507) (2,460) (3,474)

TOTAL ..ttt etttk et bt et s e et b ettt b et a ettt ne e ne e eneee $26,511  $18,487  $17,011

17. LIABILITIES FOR DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

An analysis of activity in the liabilities for dispositions and discontinued operations for the three years ended December 31,
2014 follows:

2014 2013 2012
Balance, JANUATY 1 .......ccocciiiiiiiiieieceiceee ettt ettt v et sb e s s bbb b e s esseaesnens $76,378  $81,695 $90,824
Expenditures charged to Habilities .........ccvevvieierieiieiieie et (5,096) (8,570) (9,926)
INCIEASE t0 THADIIITIES ....eeeiieeieceeeieeeeee ettt e e e e naeeeenaeeas 2,558 3,253 797
Contribution to Rayonier Advanced Materials...........ococveeirininiiinineseeeseeeene (73,840) — —
Balance, DeCemDBEr 31 ......ooiiiiiiiiieee et eare et — 76,378 81,695
LesS: CUITENE POTTIOM ...uviutieniieeieieeiiesteeteeterteeitesteeetesteeteeete st esbesteenbessaenseensesseensesseensens — (6,835) (8,105)
NON-CUITENT POTTION......evevieviereetietieteeteeteeteeteeteeteeteesesteeseesessessessessessessessessessessassessensessessessenss —  $69,543 $73,590

In connection with the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business, all liabilities associated with prior dispositions and
discontinued operations were assumed by Rayonier Advanced Materials. As part of the separation agreement, Rayonier has been
indemnified, released and discharged from any liability related to these sites. For additional information on the Performance Fibers
spin-off, see Note 3 — Discontinued Operations.
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18. CONTINGENCIES

Following our November 10,2014 announcement that we intended to file restated interim financial statements for the quarterly
periods ended March 31,2014 and June 30, 2014 (the “November 2014 Announcement”), shareholders of the Company filed five
putative class actions against the Company and four of its current and former officers and directors (together, the “Defendants™)
arising from circumstances described in the November 2014 Announcement, entitled respectively:

*  Sating v. Rayonier Inc. et al, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-01395; filed November 12, 2014 in the United States District Court
for the Middle District of Florida;

*  Keasler v. Rayonier Inc. et al, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-01398, filed November 13, 2014 in the United States District
Court for the Middle District of Florida;

»  Lake Worth Firefighters Pension Trust Fund v. Rayonier Inc. et al, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-01403, filed November 13,
2014 in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida;

»  Christie v. Rayonier Inc. et al, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-01429, filed November 21, 2014 in the United States District
Court for the Middle District of Florida; and

*  Brown v. Rayonier Inc. et al, Civil Action No. 1:14-cv-08986, initially filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York and later transferred to the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida
and assigned as Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-01474.

On January 9, 2015, the five Securities Actions were consolidated into one putative class action entitled In re Rayonier Inc.
Securities Litigation, Case No. 3:14-cv-1395-TJC-JBT in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. The
plaintiffs allege that the Defendants made false and/or misleading statements in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. The plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damages and
attorneys’ fees and costs. Two shareholders, the Pension Trust Fund for Operating Engineers and the Lake Worth Firefighters’
Pension Trust Fund moved for appointment as lead plaintiff on January 12, 2015. In that motion, the lead plaintiff movants asserted
that the class period should be July 22, 2013 to November 7, 2014. At this preliminary stage, the Company cannot determine
whether there is a reasonable possibility that a loss has been incurred nor can we estimate the range of any potential loss. On
February 25, 2015, the court appointed the Pension Trust Fund for Operating Engineers and the Lake Worth Firefighters’ Pension
Trust Fund as lead plaintiffs in the case.

On November 26, 2014, December 29, 2014, January 26, 2015, and February 13, 2015, the Company received separate letters
from shareholders requesting that the Company investigate or pursue derivative claims against certain officers and directors related
to the November 2014 announcement. Although these demands do not identify any claims against the Company, the Company
could potentially incur certain obligations to advance expenses and provide indemnification to certain current and former officers
and directors of the Company. The Company may also incur expenses as a result of any costs arising from the investigation of the
claims alleged in the various demands. At this preliminary stage, we cannot predict the ultimate outcome of these matters, nor can
we estimate the range of potential expenses the Company may incur as a result of the obligations identified above.

In November 2014, the Company received a subpoena from the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) seeking documents related to the Company’s amended reports filed with the SEC on November 10, 2014. The Company
is cooperating with the SEC and complying with the subpoena. The Company does not currently believe that the investigation will
have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial condition, but cannot predict the timing or
outcome of the SEC investigation.

The Company has also been named as a defendant in various other lawsuits and claims arising in the normal course of business.
While the Company has procured reasonable and customary insurance covering risks normally occurring in connection with its
businesses, it has in certain cases retained some risk through the operation of self-insurance, primarily in the areas of workers’
compensation, property insurance and general liability. These pending lawsuits and claims, either individually or in the aggregate,
are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flow.
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19. GUARANTEES

The Company provides financial guarantees as required by creditors, insurance programs, and various governmental agencies.
As of December 31, 2014, the following financial guarantees were outstanding:

Maximum Potential Carrying Amount

Financial Commitments Payment of Liability

Standby letters Of CTEIt (8) .....evevivieriieriierieietieieee ettt ettt st $17,355 $15,000
GUATANTEES (D) c.veevvereeiieiiieieeierieeiesteete st e e et e steeaesteesbesteesbeessesseeasesseensesssessaessenseensessean 2,254 43
SULELY DONAS (€)1.vvevrenreeierieeieitierti e stete et esteete st ebeesaesteesesseessesssesseessesseessaessesseessesses 682 —
Total financial COMMUITIMENTS .......cc.vviiiiuiiiiiiieecteee ettt e e eeraeeeereeeesaeessaaeesenes $20,291 $15,043

(a) Approximately $15 million of the standby letters of credit serve as credit support for industrial revenue bonds. The remaining
letters of credit support various insurance related agreements, primarily workers’ compensation. These letters of credit will
expire at various dates during 2015 and will be renewed as required.

(b) In conjunction with a timberland sale and note monetization in the 2004, the Company issued a make-whole agreement
pursuant to which it guaranteed $2.3 million of obligations of a special-purpose entity that was established to complete the
monetization. At December 31, 2014, the Company has recorded a de minimis liability to reflect the fair market value of its
obligation to perform under the make-whole agreement.

(c) Rayonier issues surety bonds primarily to secure timber harvesting obligations in the State of Washington and to provide
collateral for the Company’s workers’ compensation self-insurance program in that state. These surety bonds expire at various
dates in 2015 and 2016 and are expected to be renewed as required.

20. COMMITMENTS

The Company leases certain buildings, machinery and equipment under various operating leases. Total rental expense for
operating leases amounted to $1 million, $2 million and $2 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The Company also has
long-term lease agreements on certain timberlands in the Southern U.S. and New Zealand. U.S. leases typically have initial terms
of approximately 30 to 65 years, with renewal provisions in some cases. New Zealand timberland lease terms range between 30
and 99 years. Such leases are generally non-cancellable and require minimum annual rental payments. Total expenditures for long-
term leases and deeds on timberlands amounted to $10.4 million, $10.4 million and $8.0 millionin 2014,2013 and 2012, respectively.

At December 31,2014, the future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating and timberland leases were as follows:

Operating Timberland Purchase
Leases Leases (a) Obligations (b) Total
2005 ot e eans $1,288 $10,162 $472 $11,922
2000 ettt sttt s 941 9,727 262 10,930
2007 e e e s 492 9,389 191 10,072
2018 e e e e 277 8,080 1,419 9,776
2009 e 191 7,137 4,525 11,853
TRETEAter ..ovveiieeieieceece e e 42 130,884 1,673 132,599
$3,231 $175,379 $8,542 $187,152

(a) The majority of timberland leases are subject to increases or decreases based on either the Consumer Price Index, Producer
Price Index or market rates.

(b) Purchase obligations include payments expected to be made on derivative financial instruments (foreign exchange contracts
and options) held in New Zealand.
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The New Zealand JV has a number of Crown Forest Licenses (“CFL”) with the New Zealand government, which are excluded
from the table above. A CFL consists of a license to use public or government owned land to operate a commercial forest. The
CFL's extend indefinitely and may only be terminated upon a 35 year termination notice from the government. If no termination
notice is given, the CFLs renew automatically each year for a one year term. As of December 31, 2014, the New Zealand JV has
four CFL’s under either a complete or partial termination notice, terminating in 2034, 2046 and two in 2049 as well as two fixed
term CFL’s set to expire in 2062. The annual license fee is determined based on current market rental value, with triennial rent
reviews. The total annual license fee on the CFL’s is $2.2 million per year including CFL's terminating or expiring of $0.2 million.

21. INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS

The Rayonier Incentive Stock Plan (“the Stock Plan”) provides up to 15.8 million shares to be granted for incentive stock
options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, restricted stock and restricted stock units,
subject to certain limitations. At December 31, 2014, a total of 6.2 million shares were available for future grants under the Stock
Plan. Under the Stock Plan, shares available for issuance are reduced by 1 share for each option or right granted and by 2.27 shares
for each performance share, restricted share or restricted stock unit granted. The Company issues new shares of stock upon the
exercise of stock options, the granting of restricted stock, and the vesting of performance shares.

Total stock-based compensation cost recorded in “Selling and general expenses” was $7.1 million, $10.7 million and $14.2
million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, stock-based compensation expense of $0.7 million, $0.9 million and $0.8 million, respectively, was recorded in “Cost of
sales.” Stock-based compensation expense of $0.1 million was capitalized to “Timber and Timberlands, net” in each of the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 as part of the allocation of timber-related costs.

Tax benefits recognized related to stock-based compensation expense for the three years ended December 31, 2014 were $1.7
million, $3.1 million and $4.0 million, respectively.

As a result of the spin-off and pursuant to the Employee Matters Agreement, the Company made certain adjustments to the
exercise price and number of Rayonier stock-based compensation awards, which are described below. For additional information
on the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business, see Note 3 — Discontinued Operations.

Fair Value Calculations by Award
Restricted Stock

Restricted stock granted under the Stock Plan generally vests upon completion of a one to five year period. The fair value of
each share granted is equal to the share price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. Restricted stock was impacted by the
spin-off as follows:

* Holders of Rayonier restricted stock, including Rayonier non-employee directors, retained those awards and also
received restricted stock of Rayonier Advanced Materials, in an amount that reflects the distribution to Rayonier
stockholders, by applying the distribution ratio (one share of Rayonier Advanced Materials for every three shares of
Rayonier stock held) to Rayonier restricted stock awards as though they were unrestricted Rayonier common shares.

e Performance share awards granted in 2013 (witha2013-2015 performance period) were cancelled as of the distribution
date and were replaced with time-vested restricted stock of the post-separation employer of each holder (Rayonier
or Rayonier Advanced Materials, as the case may be). The restricted shares will vest 24 months after the distribution
date, generally subject to the holder’s continued employment. The number of shares of restricted stock granted was
determined in a manner intended to preserve the original value of the performance share award.

The Company compared the fair value of the reissued restricted stock held by Rayonier employees with the fair value of the
restricted stock and 2013 performance share awards immediately before the modification. The replacement of the 2013 performance
share awards with restricted stock resulted in $0.7 million of incremental value. After adjusting the incremental value for
cancellations prior to December 31, 2014, the additional expense to be recognized over the two-year vesting period ending in the
second quarter of 2016 totaled $0.4 million.

As of December 31, 2014, there was $4.2 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to Rayonier and Rayonier
Advanced Materials restricted stock held by Rayonier employees. The Company expects to recognize this cost over a weighted
average period of 3.5 years.
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A summary of the Company’s restricted shares is presented below:

2014 2013 2012

Restricted Shares Granted..........occvevveeieriieiieiieiieeeeeese ettt steeteeseenseenseses 186,783 33,607 18,742
Weighted average price of restricted shares granted.............cocoeoiiiiiiiininiineneneeee e $36.42 $57.54 $42.40
(Amounts in millions)
Intrinsic value of restricted stock outstanding (&) ...........cecevveiereriererieririereieresieeeiee e $5.1 $1.7 $2.1
Fair value of restricted StOCK VEStEA .......cueiirieueiirieieiiirieieiee et $1.3 $1.3 $1.8
Cash used to pay the minimum withholding tax requirements in lieu of receiving common

SRATES. ...ttt ettt ettt b et s b b s et a et n et b senen — $0.3 $0.6

(a) Intrinsic value of restricted stock outstanding is based on the market price of the Company’s stock at December 31, 2014.

2014
Weighted

Number of Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value

Non-vested Restricted Shares at January 1, .......cccoeceveeveecieneecienieiecieeeeeeeeee e 39,232 $55.66
GIANTEA.....eeeieeeiecieeieee ettt ettt et e et e et e et e et e e st e s seesbeeseesseesbesbeensesssensassseseensesssenns 186,783 (a) 36.42
5 TP (23,599) 55.86
CanCelled.........ooviiiiiiiic s (18,393) 39.90
Non-vested Restricted Shares at December 31, ........ccceevieierieiiinieniieiereeieeeee e 184,023 (b) $37.53

(a) Includes restricted shares granted to Rayonier employees in replacement of the 2013 performance share awards.
(b) Represents all Rayonier restricted shares outstanding as of December 31, 2014, including 2012 restricted share awards held
by Rayonier Advanced Materials employees.

Performance Share Units

The Company’s performance share units generally vest upon completion of a three-year period. The number of shares, if any,
that are ultimately awarded is contingent upon Rayonier’s total shareholder return versus selected peer group companies. The
performance share payout is based on a market condition and as such, the awards are valued using a Monte Carlo simulation model.
The model generates the fair value of the award at the grant date, which is then amortized over the vesting period.
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Performance share awards outstanding as of the spin-off were treated as follows:

Performance share awards granted in 2012 (with a 2012-2014 performance period) remained subject to the same
performance criteria as applied immediately prior to the spin-off, except that total shareholder return at the end of
the performance period was based on the combined stock prices of Rayonier and Rayonier Advanced Materials and
any payment earned was to be in shares of Rayonier common stock and shares of Rayonier Advanced Materials
common stock.

Performance share awards granted in 2013 (witha2013-2015 performance period) were cancelled as of the distribution
date and were replaced with time-vested restricted stock of the post-separation employer of each holder, as discussed
in the Restricted Stock section above.

Performance share awards granted in 2014 (with a 2014-2016 performance period) were cancelled and replaced with
performance share awards of the post-separation employer of each holder (Rayonier or Rayonier Advanced Materials,
as the case may be), and are subject to the achievement of performance criteria that relate to the post-separation
business of the applicable employer during a performance period ending December 31, 2016. The number of shares
underlying each such performance share award were determined in a manner intended to preserve the original value
of the award.

A comparison of the fair value of modified performance share awards held by Rayonier employees with the fair value of the
awards immediately before the modification did not yield any incremental value. As such, the Company did not record any
incremental compensation expense related to performance shares. The replacement of the 2013 performance share awards with
time-vested restricted stock did result in incremental compensation expense, as discussed above.

The Stock Plan allows for the cash settlement of the minimum required withholding tax on performance share unit awards.
As of December 31, 2014, there was $1.6 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to the Company’s performance share
unit awards, which is solely attributable to awards granted in 2014 to Rayonier employees. This cost is expected to be recognized
over a weighted average period of 2.0 years.

A summary of the Company’s performance share units is presented below:

2014 2013 2012

Common shares of Company stock reserved for performance shares ..........cccccoevveeeevieneennen. 130,164 276,240 337,360
Weighted average fair value of performance share units granted.............ccocevvevieneevieneenen. $40.33 $59.16 $56.36
(Amounts in millions)
Intrinsic value of outstanding performance share units (a)........ccoceeevererenenenencniennenenne. $5.8 $22.1 $36.3
Fair value of performance Shares Vested...........coeovreeinirieieinnee e — $7.0 $22.2
Cash used to pay the minimum withholding tax requirements in lieu of receiving common

SHATES ..ttt ettt h et sttt ettt et a et e te et e te et e etetenesennennennens $1.8 $11.0 $7.2

(a) Intrinsic value of outstanding performance share units is based on the market price of the Company's stock at December 31,

2014.
2014
Weighted

Number Average Grant

of Units Date Fair Value
Outstanding Performance Share units at January 1, ........ccccoceoveveveniiinniinvnnnincnenene. 524,746 $54.57
GTANTEA ..ttt ettt ettt et s et e be et e sae et e ssee bt enbesseenbasaeenseenneseeenes 286,340 (a) 40.33
Units DIStIDULEA. ........cuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicicccccc s (231,717) 50.63
Cancelled at SPIn-0Off ..o (315,297) 48.28
Other Cancellations/AdJUStMENTS ..........cocveeuieiiirieiiceieete ettt ve b e sae e (55,048) 46.59
Outstanding Performance Share units at December 31, .......ccceciveiniiriienieniinieenienene 209,024 $51.01

(a) Includes performance shares reissued to Rayonier employees subsequent to the cancellation of the 2014 performance

shares at spin-off.
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Expected volatility was estimated using daily returns on the Company’s common stock for the three-year period ending on
the grant date. The risk-free rate was based on the 3-year U.S. treasury rate on the date of the award. The dividend yield was not
used to calculate fair value as all awards granted after January 1, 2010 receive dividend equivalents. The following chart provides
atabular overview of the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of the awards granted for the three years ended December 31,
2014:

2014 (a) 2013 2012
EXPECted VOIAtIIILY...ccuvevieiieeieiieieeteieeteie ettt ettt e et esbe et e sbeenseesaesseennenseenseas 19.7% 23.2% 36.9%
RISK-TTEE TALE ...ttt ettt et sea e teese e beesaesbeenseeseesseensenseensens 0.7% 0.4% 0.4%

(a) Represents assumptions used in the July 2014 valuation of re-issued 2014 performance share units with a remaining term of
2.5 years. The initial fair value of the 2014 awards assumed an expected volatility of 22.8% and a risk-free rate of 0.8%.

Non-Qualified Employee Stock Options

The exercise price of each non-qualified stock option granted under the Stock Plan is equal to the closing market price of the
Company’s stock on the grant date. Under the Stock Plan, the maximum term is ten years from the grant date. Awards vest ratably
over three years. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
The expected volatility is based on historical volatility for each grant and is calculated using the historical change in the daily
market price of the Company’s common stock over the expected life of the award. The expected life is based on prior exercise
behavior. The Company has elected to value each grant in total and recognize the expense for stock options on a straight-line basis
over three years.

At the time of the spin-off, each Rayonier stock option was converted into an adjusted Rayonier stock option and a Rayonier
Advanced Materials stock option. The exercise price and number of shares subject to each stock option were adjusted in order to
preserve the aggregate value of the original Rayonier stock option as measured immediately before and immediately after the spin-
off. A comparison of the fair value of modified awards held by Rayonier employees, including options in both Rayonier and
Rayonier Advanced Materials shares, with the fair value of the awards immediately before the modification did not yield any
incremental value. As such, the Company did not record any incremental compensation expense related to stock options.

The following table provides an overview of the weighted average assumptions and related fair value calculations of options
granted for the three years ended December 31, 2014:

2014 (a) 2013 2012
EXPECLEd VOLATIIILY ...vevevieieeteeiieeetet ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ea et neena 39.3%  39.0%  39.3%
DiIVIAENd YIEIA...c.ecvinieiiieiiieite e ettt 4.6% 3.4% 3.6%
RISK-TEE TALE ...ttt ettt ettt sttt st 2.2% 1.0% 1.3%
EXPEcted 1ife (N YEAIS) vuveevveiieieiiieiieteieeieste ettt te et te e ste e ve st e sbeesaesseessesseesbeesaenseensenseensennns 6.3 6.3 6.4
Fair value per share of options granted (D) ........ccocevveviirierieieiiieeeeeeeeee e $10.58  $14.01  $11.85
Fair value of options granted (in MilliONS)..........coeveirieirieirieiicieieeieeee et $3.2 $2.7 $2.8

(a) The majority of 2014 stock option awards were granted prior to the spin-off. As such, the weighted average assumptions and
fair values reflect pre-spin information, including dividends, stock prices and grants to Rayonier Advanced Materials employees
in addition to Rayonier employees.

(b) The fair value per share of each option grant was adjusted at the spin-off to preserve the aggregate value of the original
Rayonier stock option. The adjusted weighted average fair value per share applied to Rayonier employee awards was $8.23
for 2014 grants, $10.70 for 2013 grants and $9.04 for 2012 grants.
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A summary of the status of the Company’s stock options as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014 is presented below.
The information reflects options in Rayonier common shares, including those awards held by Rayonier Advanced Materials
employees.

2014
Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate
Average Exercise Remaining Intrinsic
Number of Price (per Contractual Term Value (in
Shares common share) (in years) millions)
Options outstanding at January 1,..........ccecevereerrerreeenenn 1,393,222 $33.79 (a)
Granted.......cceeveveenieriienieeeeee e 305,305 4247 (b)
EXErcised .....ccoeecvieiiieiiieiieceeee e (251,547) 22.54 (c)
Cancelled........cocvveviieeeiieeiieieee e (44,585) 3148 (c¢)
Modified in connection with spin-off.................. (32,495) 36.28 (a)
Options outstanding at December 31,........cccccecvevrnnnenne. —1.369.900 $27.21 (d) 6.1 $4.9
Options vested and expected t0 VeSt......ccoeevvevevereerennne. _1.367.044 $27.19 (d) 6. $4.9
Options exercisable at December 31,.........cccceeceevvnnnenne. 923.570 $24.17 (d) 4.9 $4.9

(a) Reflects exercise prices prior to the spin-off.

(b) Represents the weighted-average exercise price at time of grant. Exercise prices were modified at the time of the spin-off.
The adjusted weighted-average exercise price of 2014 grants was $31.52.

(c) Represents the weighted-average of exercise prices in place at the time of exercise or cancellation. Pre-spin activity was not
adjusted to reflect the subsequent modification of exercise prices.

(d) Reflects exercise prices as of December 31, 2014.

A summary of additional information pertaining to the Company’s stock options is presented below:

2014 2013 2012
(Amounts in millions)
Intrinsic value of Options €XErciSEd (@) ........ccvevveieieieierierierieeee ettt reeresb b saesens $4.0 $12.3 $20.5
Fair value of OPtioNS VESIEd ........c.cciiuieuiiiiiriciicietict ettt ettt ettt et sbe b st erens $3.1 $2.6 $3.3

(a) Intrinsic value of options exercised is the amount by which the fair value of the stock on the exercise date exceeded the exercise
price of the option.

As of December 31, 2014, there was $0.6 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to Rayonier and Rayonier
Advanced Materials stock options held by the Company’s employees. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 1.4 years.
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22, EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

In connection with the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business, Rayonier entered into an Employee Matters Agreement
with Rayonier Advanced Materials, (see Note 3— Discontinued Operations), which provides that employees of Rayonier Advanced
Materials will no longer participate in benefit plans sponsored or maintained by Rayonier. Upon separation, the Rayonier Pension
and Postretirement Plans transferred assets and obligations to the Rayonier Advanced Materials Pension and Postretirement Plans
resulting in a net decrease in sponsored pension and postretirement plan obligations of $100 million. This was based on a revaluation
of plan obligations using a 4.0 percent discount rate versus 4.6 percent at December 31, 2013. In addition, $78 million of other
comprehensive losses were transferred to Rayonier Advanced Materials, net of taxes of $45 million.

The Company has one qualified non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering a portion of its employees and an
unfunded plan that provides benefits in excess of amounts allowable under current tax law in the qualified plans. The Company
closed enrollment in its pension plans to salaried employees hired after December 31, 2005. Employee benefit plan liabilities are
calculated using actuarial estimates and management assumptions. These estimates are based on historical information, along with
certain assumptions about future events. Changes in assumptions, as well as changes in actual experience, could cause the estimates
to change.

The Company sold its Wood Products business in March 2013. As a result of the sale, all employees covered by the Wood
Products defined benefit pension plan are considered terminated employees. Amendments to the plan in June 2013 resulted in all
such employees automatically vesting in the plan. Additionally, a one-time lump sum distribution was offered to terminated Wood
Products plan participants or their beneficiaries. Based upon acceptance of that offer by certain participants, $3.0 million was paid
from the plan assets during 2013, with a corresponding decrease of $2.8 million in the benefit obligation. As a result of the lump
sum distribution, a settlement loss of $0.5 million, net of tax, was recorded in “Income from Discontinued Operations, net” in the
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income as it was directly related to the sale of the Wood Products business.
For additional information on the sale of the Wood Products business, see Note 3 — Discontinued Operations.
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The following tables set forth the change in the projected benefit obligation and plan assets and reconcile the funded status and
the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the pension and postretirement benefit plans for the two years ended
December 31:

Pension Postretirement
2014 2013 2014 2013
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year .............c..cccveeveneee. $413,638  $454,470 $21,999 $27,582
SEIVICE COSE uvviiiiieiieieitieeeteee ettt e e et e et eeeraeeeeaeeessraeessnaeeeas 3,923 8,452 402 1,056
INEETESE COSL ..nniriiiiiiieiiiee e e et e e e arre e e e 10,707 16,682 537 937
Settlement 10SS.....c.ceveieiiiiiiirircieecrceec e — 137 — —
Actuarial 10SS (ZAIN) ...vevveeverieiieieiieeeere e 43,093 (44,786) 2,250 (3,2006)
Plan amendments...........ccoceeierieiiiienieeieneee et — — — (3,372)
Employee CONtribDULIONS. .....ccvevvieiiiieieeienieeieeeesie e sieesaeeeeesvesene e — — 484 980
Benefits Paid......cccecveueeieieieiiieieeeee e (11,288) (21,317) (888) (1,978)
Transferred to Rayonier Advanced Materials............c.coecvrerirnereennnne. (372,718) — (23,558) —
Projected benefit obligation at end of year .............c..cocvevernenen. $87,355  $413,638 $1,226 $21,999
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ..............cccocevvrverennen. $341,905  $320,699 — —
Actual return on plan @SSELS ........c.eccverveeriereerienienieere e 21,399 42,285 — —
Employer CONtribDUtIONS ......ccvervieiiiiieiieiesieeieeieie e eseeeeeeae e 1,103 1,699 404 998
Employee contribUtions..........cc.eeveeeieieieieiececeeee e — — 484 980
Benefits Paid......cccecveveeieiiieiiieiiiecieee et (11,288) (21,317) (888) (1,978)
OtheT EXPEIISE ..c.vveuviitetieieeiteieeite st et site st ete st ete st e beeaesseentesreenbeens (607) (1,461) — —
Transferred to Rayonier Advanced Materials...........ccooceeveevenuennennen. (296,966) — — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of year.........c.ccceeveveevieriennnnne $55,546  $341,905 — —
Funded Status at End of Year:
Net accrued benefit COSt .......ououiiiiiiiriieieietceeeeeee et $(31,809)  $(71,733) $(1,226)  $(21,999)
Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets Consist of:
INONCUITENT ASSELS ...cvvveieeirieeetieeeetee ettt eeteeeeere e eetteeeeaeeeeeareeeenreeen — $3,583 — —
Current Habilites .....c.evveverieerieiniereee e (15) (1,776) (25) (1,071)
Noncurrent Habilities . ......ceeververierierienieeierieie et (31,794) (73,540) (1,201) (20,928)
Net amount reCoOgNIZed........cveveeeeeeeeeieeieereee e $(31,809)  $(71,733) $(1,226)  $(21,999)

Net gains or losses, prior service costs or credits and plan amendment gains recognized in other comprehensive income for the
three years ended December 31 are as follows:

Pension Postretirement
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Net gains (I0SSES) .....ovveverriveieriierireeeeeeeeereeeereeeereenenns $37,559  $60,171 $(17,630)  $(2,250) $3,206  $(2,021)
Prior SEIVICE COSt..cviiririieiirieieeienieeieeeerie e sie e — — — — — —
Negative plan amendment...........c.ccceeeveeverieeveeneennenne — — — — 3,372 —
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Net gains or losses and prior service costs or credits reclassified from other comprehensive income and recognized as a
component of pension and postretirement expense for the three years ended December 31 are as follows:

Pension Postretirement
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Amortization 0 1OSSES ......vovviveviiiieiiiieeeeeeeee e, $6,542  $20914  $17,578 $288 $675 $582
Amortization of prior Service Cost ........cevervverrercrernnene. 576 1,356 1,308 8 66 80
Amortization of negative plan amendment.................... — — — (137) (105) (55)

Net losses and prior service costs or credits that have not yet been included in pension and postretirement expense for the
two years ended December 31, which have been recognized as a component of AOCI are as follows:

Pension Postretirement
2014 2013 2014 2013
PLiOT SEIVICE COSE..uvviitiitiitietietietictiete ettt ettt ettt et v e s b e b $(13) $(5,707) — $(49)
INEE OSSES 1.vviererieiieiieiti et et et et e it ete e et e e sa e st ebeeseebeesbesseesseessasseensesseeseans (30,965)  (110,728) (90) (8,057)
Negative plan amendment...........cooeecerieririienienenieneee e — — — 3,574
Deferred income tax benefit.........cccoovvveeiiiiiiieiiiieiieeecee e 2,425 36,685 (22) 1,571
AOCT ..ttt sttt sttt be et naeen $(28,553)  $(79,750) $(112) $(2,961)

For pension and postretirement plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets, the following table sets
forth the projected and accumulated benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for the two years ended December 31:

2014 2013
Projected benefit ODIIZAtION ......c...evuiiiirierieeieieeie ettt sttt ettt ettt e e st e beenbesaeensesnnenbeen $87,355  $388,163
Accumulated benefit ODIIGAtION ........ccuieieriieierieie ettt ettt sttt et eebe st e tesebesbeenbesseensesnnesseen 81,141 350,605
Fair Value Of PLan @SSELS .....ccierviiieriieiieieseeteeie ettt ettt ettt e e steesteeseesbeesaesseensesssesseensesseensenssenseen 55,546 290,848

The following tables set forth the components of net pension and postretirement benefit cost that have been recognized during
the three years ended December 31:

Pension Postretirement
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

SEIVICE COSE ..ttt $3,923 $8,452 $8,407 $402 $1,056 $918

INtEreSt COSt vovivnriiiiirieeciiee e 10,707 16,682 17,284 537 937 956

Expected return on plan assets .........cccceeveevenennne. (15,258)  (25,302) (25,477) — — —

Amortization of prior service cost..........cecvenene.. 576 1,296 1,308 8 66 80

Amortization of I0SSES.......ccovvvvvviiiieiieeiieeeeneen 6,542 20,097 17,578 288 675 582

Amortization of negative plan amendment........... — — — (137) (105) (55)

Curtailment eXpense...........ecceveervervenerieeneeneennens — 60 — — — —

Settlement XPense........coueeverveerrereerieneenieeeenieenns — 817 — — — —
Net periodic benefit cost (a).......ccoeveirreierevieririeriereeenen, $6,490  $22,102  $19,100 $1,098 $2,629 $2,481

(a) Net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 included $4.0 million, $14.9 million, and
$12.8 million, respectively, recorded in “Income from discontinued operations, net” on the Consolidated Statements of Income
and Comprehensive Income.
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The estimated pre-tax amounts that will be amortized from AOCI into net periodic benefit cost in 2015 are as follows:

Pension Postretirement
AMOTTIZATION OF LOSS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e et et e e s e eetesaeeateeaeeanesae s $3,420 —
AMOTTIZAtION OF PIIOT SETVICE COSE...virurirtirieriieiieierieeiestteiesteesteetesteetessteseesaesseesaesseesesssesseenses 13 —
Total amortization OFf AOCT 10SS .....c.uuiiieuiiiiiiiie ettt et eae e eeaaeeeeaeee s $3,433 —

The following table sets forth the principal assumptions inherent in the determination of benefit obligations and net periodic
benefit cost of the pension and postretirement benefit plans as of December 31:

Pension Postretirement
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:
DISCOUNE TALE ...ttt sttt te et e e see e e ens 3.80% 4.60% 3.70% 3.96% 4.60% 3.60%

Rate of compensation inCrease...........coeevevververierrenenrenrenrenuennennens 4.50% 4.60% 4.60% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50%

Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for years
ended December 31:

Discount rate (pre-spin off) .......ccceevevieniiiienienieneeeeeee 4.60% 3.70% 4.20% 4.60% 3.60% 4.10%
Discount rate (post-spin Off).........ccceevverircienienienieeeieneeie s 4.04% — — 4.00% — —
Expected long-term return on plan assets ...........ccoceeerererenennens 8.50% 8.50% 8.50% — — —
Rate of compensation iNCIease..........ceveruereerierieneerienerereeeeneeeans 4.50% 4.60% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50%

The sensitivity of pension expense and projected benefit obligation to changes in economic assumptions is highlighted below:

(unaudited)
Impact on:
Projected Benefit
Change in Assumption Pension Expense Obligation
0.5% decrease in diSCOUNT TALE ......cc.eeueruiriiririietiriesteete ettt ne + 0.4 million + 7.5 million
0.5% Increase in dISCOUNT TALE .......ceueruieuieieieiieie ettt neenee - 0.4 million - 6.6 million
0.5% decrease in long-term return 0N @SSELS ........ccoveverreririeireereerieneereneeeseereneeneseenenne + 0.1 million
0.5% increase in long-term return 0N @SSELS........ccceerireriirerentenenienteneenenrerereeenennene - 0.1 million

At December 31, 2014, the pension plan’s discount rate was 3.80 percent, which closely approximates interest rates on high
quality, long-term obligations. Effective December 31, 2014, the expected return on plan assets remained at 8.5 percent, which is
based on historical and expected long-term rates of return on broad equity and bond indices and consideration of the actual annualized
rate of return. The Company, with the assistance of external consultants, utilizes this information in developing assumptions for
returns, and risks and correlation of asset classes, which are then used to establish the asset allocation ranges.

The following table sets forth the assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31:

Postretirement
2014 2013
Health care cost trend rate assumed fOr NEXE YEAT () .....eeuveuereerireririieieieete sttt et nee e eene N/A 7.00%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate) (a)........ccecveeereeirerienererenennne N/A 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate (2)........cccveveeeeiieriiiiie et N/A 2017

(a) The entire postretirement medical plan was contributed to Rayonier Advanced Materials as a result of the spin-off of the
Performance Fibers business.
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Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the postretirement benefit plans. The
following table shows the effect of a one percentage point change in assumed health care cost trends as of December 31, 2013:

1 Percent
Effect on: Increase  Decrease
Total of service and interest COSt COMPONENLS (Q) ..cuveevrerreerirrieriieiesieeieriesieeresteetesseessesseensessesseessesseensenes $253 $(208)
Accumulated postretirement benefit Obligation (8).........ceveiriririiieieeeeee e 1,389 (1,183)

(a) The entire postretirement medical plan was contributed to Rayonier Advanced Materials as a result of the spin-off of the
Performance Fibers business.

Investment of Plan Assets

The Company’s pension plans’ asset allocation (excluding short-term investments) at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and target
allocation ranges by asset category are as follows:

Percentage of Plan Assets A{f(?gagtei:)n
Asset Category 2014 2013 Range
DOMESHIC EQUILY SECUTTLIES ...vuvevinrviieuirieiirteteietetere ettt sttt ettt st saeae bt sbeseebennerenees 42% 42% 35-45%
International €qUILY SECUTTHES ... .cvirttertiriertieieriteste ettt ettt sttt st e bt et sbe et e e beeaees 23% 26% 20-30%
Domestic fiXed INCOME SECUTTHIES ... .eevirureriieieriierieetesieeieetesieete st ebe e sbeestesaeensesaeeneeenees 27% 25% 25-29%
International fixed INCOME SECUITHIES .....c.verveerieeieriieresiieie ettt eee st ete e sae e e seeebeseeeneeennes 4% 4% 3-7%
Real €State fUNd........ccoviieieiieieec ettt eneas 4% 3% 2-4%

TOTAL. .ttt ettt ettt 100% 100%

The Company’s Pension and Savings Plan Committee and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors oversee the pension
plans’ investment program which is designed to maximize returns and provide sufficient liquidity to meet plan obligations while
maintaining acceptable risk levels. The investment approach emphasizes diversification by allocating the plans’ assets among asset
categories and selecting investment managers whose various investment methodologies will be minimally correlative with each
other. Investments within the equity categories may include large capitalization, small capitalization and emerging market securities,
while the international fixed income portfolio may include emerging markets debt. Pension assets did not include a direct investment
in Rayonier common stock at December 31, 2014 or 2013.

Fair Value Measurements

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy (see Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies for definition), the assets of the plans as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Fair Value at December 31, 2014 Fair Value at December 31, 2013

Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 Total

Domestic equity SECUTTHIES ......cvevevieerirerieiereereerereeeenine $4,557  $18326  $22,883  $29,293 $110,401 $139,694
International equity SECUTIIHIES .......ccvveverveerieeiereereeeene 6,277 6,488 12,765 55,692 31,347 87,039
Domestic fixed IncoOme SECUrities .........coevevevvreereneeenne.. — 14,643 14,643 — 85,222 85,222
International fixed income securities...........cc...ceveeeene... 2,428 — 2,428 15,134 — 15,134
Real estate fund..........ccceeeeeiveiiiiieiiiecceee e 1,887 — 1,887 9,678 — 9,678
Short-term INVEStMENTS ........c.oeeevvvvieeerieeeieeeeeireeeereeeenns — 940 940 879 4,259 5,138
TOtAL ettt $15,149  $40,397  $55,546 $110,676 $231,229 $341,905
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The valuation methodology used for measuring the fair value of these asset categories was as follows:
Level 1 — Net asset value in an observable market.

Level 2— Assets classified as level two are held in collective trust funds. The net asset value of a collective trust is calculated
by determining the fair value of the fund’s underlying assets, deducting its liabilities, and dividing by the units outstanding
as of the valuation date. These funds are not publicly traded; however, the unit price calculation is based on observable
market inputs of the funds’ underlying assets.

There have been no changes in the methodology used during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.
Cash Flows

Expected benefit payments for the next 10 years are as follows:

Pension Postretirement

Benefits Benefits
20 S et et e e et e e et e e e et —ae e e abeeetbaeeetbeeearbaeeetaeeeaareearreeeanraeenn $2,729 $25
20T6 e e e et e e et e e e tae e e e taeeeattaaeabteeeartaeeetaaeeaaeeeatraeeataeean 2,866 27
20T e e et et e e e ete e e e et —e e e et—eeeetaeeaatteeeataeeetaeeeataeeeartaeearaaean 3,041 28
208 e et e e e te e e e —eeeeet—eeeetaeeeatteeeetaeeeataeeeetaeeeatreeeeraaean 3,231 30
2009 ettt b et h et s h e bt et e eheen b e h e et e e et e s bt enaeeat e besatenbeennes 3,450 33
2020 = 2024ttt e ettt e e e et e e e e tba e e e b bt e etbaeeatbaeeanbae e e taeeeanareeenraeeanraaens 20,807 201

The Company has no mandatory pension contribution requirements in 2015, but may make discretionary contributions.
Defined Contribution Plans

The Company provides defined contribution plans to all of its hourly and salaried employees. Company contributions charged
to expense for these plans were $1.6 million, $4.4 million and $2.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Rayonier Hourly and Salaried Defined Contribution Plans include Rayonier common stock with a fair market value
of $16.3 million and $73.2 million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

As discussed above, all defined benefit pension plans are currently closed to new employees. Employees not eligible for the
pension plans are immediately eligible to participate in the Company’s 401(k) plan and receive an enhanced contribution. Company
contributions related to this plan enhancement for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were $0.5 million, $1.1
million and $1.0 million, respectively.
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23. QUARTERLY RESULTS FOR 2014 and 2013 (UNAUDITED)

(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 Total Year
2014
SAlES .. $143,187 $163,145 $149,829  $147,360 $603,521
Cost 0f 5aleS....ceeuirieiriiinieirieeeeene 115,900 123,096 118,088 126,776 483,860
Income from continuing operations......... 10,335 4,024 32,059 8,025 54,443
Income from discontinued operations ..... 31,008 12,084 — 311 43,403
NEt iNCOME.......eeuereeeieeiieerieeeerieeee e 41,343 16,108 32,059 8,336 97,846
Net income attributable to Rayonier Inc. 41,426 16,353 32,701 8,857 99,337
Basic EPS attributable to Rayonier Inc.
Continuing Operations........................ $0.08 $0.03 $0.26 $0.07 $0.44
Discontinued Operations .................... 0.25 0.10 — — 0.34
Net INCOmME......ooveeeeieeeeieiceeeee e $0.33 $0.13 $0.26 $0.07 $0.78
Diluted EPS attributable to Rayonier
Inc.
Continuing Operations..............c......... $0.08 $0.03 $0.25 $0.07 $0.43
Discontinued Operations .................... 0.24 0.09 — — 0.33
Net INCOME....ovrveeeiiieieireeeeeeee $0.32 $0.12 $0.25 $0.07 $0.76
2013
SalES .. 107,053 154,889 159,261 238,515 659,718
Cost of sales 76,660 127,861 129,002 197,249 530,772
Income from continuing operations......... 19,028 39,631 (v) 15,040 32,144 105,843 (v)
Income from discontinued operations..... 128,707 (a) 48,260 43,327 47,661 267,955 (a)
Net INCOME.....emevieeiirieerieireeeeereee e 147,735 (a) 87,891 (b) 58,367 79,805 373,798 (a) (b)
Net income attributable to Rayonier Inc. 147,735 (a) 87,164 (b) 57,345 79,652 371,896 (a) (b)
Basic EPS attributable to Rayonier Inc.
Continuing Operations..............c......... $0.15 $0.31 $0.11 $0.25 $0.83
Discontinued Operations .................... 1.04 0.38 0.34 0.38 2.13
Net INCOME....evreeeeiiieieiireeeeeee $1.19 $0.69 $0.45 $0.63 $2.96
Diluted EPS attributable to Rayonier
Inc.
Continuing Operations........................ $0.15 $0.30 $0.11 $0.25 $0.80
Discontinued Operations .................... 0.98 0.37 0.33 0.37 2.06
Net InCome.........coooveveveueeeereecreeeenne $1.13 $0.67 $0.44 $0.62 $2.86

(a) Income from discontinued operations, Net income and Net income attributable to Rayonier Inc. included a $43 million gain
on the sale of Wood Products for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 and the year ended December 31, 2013.

(b) Income from continuing operations, Net income and Net income attributable to Rayonier Inc., for the quarter ended June 30,
2013 and year ended December 31, 2013, included a $16 million gain related to the consolidation of the New Zealand JV.

Rayonier completed the spin-off of its Performance Fibers business on June 27, 2014 and completed the sale of its Wood
Products business on March 1, 2013, as discussed at Note 3 — Discontinued Operations. Accordingly, the operating results of
these businesses are reported as discontinued operations in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income for all periods presented, including the quarterly periods shown above.
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Subsequent to the filing of its second quarter 2014 Form 10-Q, the Company identified issues related to its historical timber
harvest levels, its estimate of merchantable timber inventory and the effect of such estimate on its calculation of depletion expense
in each of the quarterly periods ended March 31,2014 and June 30,2014. As a result, the Company concluded that it had understated
its depletion expense “Cost of sales” in the Company’s consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income by
approximately $2.0 million for each period. As a result, the amounts in the previous table have been restated from amounts
previously reported. See Item 2 — Management Discussion and Analysis — Overview — Background in Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2014, as filed with the SEC on November 14, 2014 for further discussion.

The following tables summarize the effect of the discontinued operations reclassification and the restatement for the period
ended March 31, 2014 and the effect of the restatement for the period ended June 30, 2014. 2013 is excluded from the reconciliations
below as all changes from amounts originally reported in 2013 are solely attributable to discontinued operations reclassifications.

Quarter Ended March 31, 2014

As Discontinued
Previously Operations As
Reported Reclassification Restatement Restated

SALES ..t ean $386,686 $(243,499) — $143,187
COSt OF SALES ... 302,650 (184,801) (1,949) 115,900
Income from Continuing Operations.............cceccverveeveereerveneennenns 43,292 (31,008) (1,949) 10,335
Income from Discontinued Operations .............ccecceecvereevvereennenns — 31,008 — 31,008
NEt INCOME ..ottt 43,292 — (1,949) 41,343
Net Income Attributable to Rayonier Inc. ..........ccccevvevierierieiennens 43,375 — (1,949) 41,426
Basic Earnings Per Share Attributable to Rayonier Inc.

Continuing Operations..............cccveveveeeeeereeeereeeereeresereeeeeenans $0.34 $(0.25) $(0.01) $0.08

Discontinued OPerations .............cceceevvereerieseesreecreseesseseenneens — 0.25 — 0.25

NEt INCOME. ......ooveveeeevieieeeeeeeeeeeee et $0.34 — $(0.01) $0.33
Diluted Earnings Per Share Attributable to Rayonier Inc.

Continuing OPerations..............cccveveveeeeeereeeeeeeereereeeeeeereaeans $0.34 $(0.24) $(0.02) $0.08

Discontinued OPerations .............cceeeevuereerieseesreecreseesseseenneens — 0.24 — 0.24

NEt INCOME. ......ooveveeivieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et $0.34 — $(0.02) $0.32

Quarter Ended June 30, 2014
As
Previously As
Reported Restatement Restated

SALES ..ottt ettt ettt e ettt et e et e e et enes $163,145 — $163,145
COSE OF SALES ..ottt e e et e eaae e e enaeeeenes 121,105 1,991 123,096
Income from Continuing OPerations............ccevveeceereerieseesieeresreesseeeeseessesseesseeenens 6,056 (2,032) 4,024
Income from Discontinued OPerations ..............ceceeeeeereeviieiesreeniesreesieeeeereenesveenns 12,084 — 12,084
NEE INCOMIE ..ottt be e 18,140 (2,032) 16,108
Net Income Attributable to Rayonier INC. ........ccccvvvevieiienienieiieieieceeiesceie s 18,385 (2,032) 16,353
Basic Earnings Per Share Attributable to Rayonier Inc.

ContinUiNg OPETALIONS ........ccveviererererereeereeeeeeeeseeeeeereereereereeseereereereereereereans $0.05 $(0.02) $0.03

Discontinued OPErations...........ccvevververierierierieierieeeteeeseeeeesaeseesesseesessessessessens 0.10 — 0.10

NEE IICOME ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ne e ereereeneere e $0.15 $(0.02) $0.13
Diluted Earnings Per Share Attributable to Rayonier Inc.

ContinUiNg OPETALIONS ........ccvevievereiereietereeseeeee et eeeeereereereereeseereereereereereereans $0.05 $(0.02) $0.03

Discontinued OPErations............c.evverververierierieiesieeeeeeeseeeeesaessesessessessessessessens 0.09 — 0.09

NEE IICOMIE ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ne e e ereeneere e $0.14 $(0.02) $0.12
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24, CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The condensed consolidating financial information below follows the same accounting policies as described in the consolidated
financial statements, except for the use of the equity method of accounting to reflect ownership interests in wholly-owned subsidiaries,
which are eliminated upon consolidation, and the allocation of certain expenses of Rayonier Inc. incurred for the benefit of its subsidiaries.

In August 2009, Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. issued $172.5 million of 4.50% Senior Exchangeable Notes due August 2015. The
notes are guaranteed by Rayonier Inc. as the Parent Guarantor and Rayonier Operating Company LLC (“ROC”) as the Subsidiary
Guarantor. In connection with these exchangeable notes, the Company provides the following condensed consolidating financial
information in accordance with SEC Regulation S-X Rule 3-10, Financial Statements of Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Securities
Registered or Being Registered.

The subsidiary issuer and subsidiary guarantor are wholly-owned by the Parent Company, Rayonier Inc. The notes are fully and
unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis by the guarantor subsidiary and Rayonier Inc.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Rayonier Inc. ROC Rayonier TRS
(Parent (Subsidiary Holdings Inc. Non- Consolidating Total
Guarantor) Guarantor) (Issuer) guarantors Adjustments  Consolidated
SALES.....oo e _ _ _ $603,521 _ $603,521
Costs and Expenses

Cost 0f SALES ...cvveeiieeieeieeeeeeeeceees _ _ _ 483,860 _ 483,860

Selling and general expenses ................... _ 14,578 _ 33,305 _ 47,883

Other operating expense (income), net ... — 3,275 — (29,786) — (26,511)

— 17,853 — 487,379 — 505,232

OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME..................... _ (17,853) _ 116,142 _ 98,289

INterest EXPENSe. .....c.evveueeuerieuerierieierineeeeeeseeeeneas (13,247) (445) (23,126) (7,430) — (44,248)
Interest and miscellaneous income (expense),

DICL. ettt ettt ettt b e 9,186 (566) (2,534) (15,285) — (9,199)
Equity in income from subsidiaries .................... 103,398 122,425 (15,697) _ (210,126) _
INCOME FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME

TAXES ..o 99,337 103,561 (41,357) 93,427 (210,126) 44842

Income tax (expense) benefit......................... — (163) 9,366 398 — 9,601
INCOME FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS ..o, 99,337 103,398 (31,991) 93,825 (210,126) 54,443
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET
Inqome from discontinued operations, net of

INCOME TAX ceiiiiiiiieeeieeiiiiiiiee e e eeerrreieee e eeeeenes _ . _ 43,403 _ 43,403
NETINCOME .........cccoooovviiiieeeceee, 99,337 103,398 (31,991) 137,228 (210,126) 97,846
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling

INEETEST ..ottt — — — (1,491) — (1,491)
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO

RAYONIER INC.......ccoooiiiieiieeieee 99,337 103,398 (31,991) 138,719 (210,126) 99,337
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Foreign currency translation adjustment....... (11,525) (11,526) (894) (15,847) 23,945 (15,847)
New Zealand joint venture cash flow hedges (1,206) (1,206) (1,206) (1,855) 3,618 (1,855)
Net gain from pension and postretirement
PlanS..c.coviiiici e 54,046 54,046 88,174 88,174 (230,394) 54,046
Total other comprehensive income.......... 41,315 41,314 86,074 70,472 (202,831) 36,344
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME....................... 140,652 144,712 54,083 207,700 (412,957) 134,190
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to

noncontrolling interest ..........oeevveereereeerueens _ — _ (6,462) — (6,462)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC...  §140,652 $144,712 $54,083 $214,162  $(412,957) $140,652
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Costs and Expenses
Cost of sales .......cccoviviiiiiiiiiiicicce

Selling and general expenses .........c..c.cccee...

Other operating (income) expense, net..........

Equity in income of New Zealand joint venture......

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE
GAIN RELATED TO CONSOLIDATION
OF NEW ZEALAND JOINT VENTURE.......

Gain related to consolidation of New Zealand
JOINE VENTUIE ...eoveneieeeeieieie et

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)......cccceovrruenennn
Interest EXPense ........cccveeveeriierieeneeniereenee st
Interest and miscellaneous income (expense), net...
Equity in income from subsidiaries ...........c.ccceeuee

INCOME FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME

Income tax benefit.............ccoevvevvivieiiieieies

INCOME FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS ..o,

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET

Income from discontinued operations, net of
TNCOME tAX ...t

NET INCOME .........ccccooiiiiiiiinncinnceeeeieene

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling
INEETEST. ...ttt

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO
RAYONIER INC..........cccoovvimimnnnnnnnnnne

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Foreign currency translation adjustment............
New Zealand joint venture cash flow hedges.....
Net gain from pension and postretirement plans

Total other comprehensive income...............

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME.............cccoceuvunenee

Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to
noncontrolling interest..........oeveererveeereneeennene.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013
Rayonier Inc. ROC Rayonier TRS
(Parent (Subsidiary Holdings Inc. Non- Consolidating Total
Guarantor) Guarantor) (Issuer) guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
— — — $659,718 — $659,718
— — — 530,772 — 530,772
— 9,821 — 45,612 — 55,433
(1,701) 4,730 — (21,516) — (18,487)
(1,701) 14,551 — 554,868 — 567,718
— — — 562 — 562
1,701 (14,551) — 105,412 — 92,562
— — — 16,098 — 16,098
1,701 (14,551) — 121,510 — 108,660
(13,088) 914) (27,516) 577 — (40,941)
9,828 3,237 (7,534) (3,092) — 2,439
373,455 384,567 245,126 — (1,003,148) —
371,896 372,339 210,076 118,995 (1,003,148) 70,158
— 1,116 11,895 22,674 — 35,685
371,896 373,455 221,971 141,669 (1,003,148) 105,843
— — — 267,955 — 267,955
371,896 373,455 221,971 409,624 (1,003,148) 373,798
— — — 1,902 — 1,902
371,896 373,455 221,971 407,722 (1,003,148) 371,896
(1,915) (1,915) (72) (5,710) 3,902 (5,710)
3,286 3,286 637 3,629 (7,209) 3,629
61,869 61,869 20,589 20,589 (103,047) 61,869
63,240 63,240 21,154 18,508 (106,354) 59,788
435,136 436,695 243,125 428,132 (1,109,502) 433,586
— — — (1,550) — (1,550)
$435,136 $436,695 $243,125 $429,682  $(1,109,502) $435,136
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Rayonier Inc. ROC Rayonier TRS
(Parent (Subsidiary Holdings Inc. Non- Consolidating Total
Guarantor) Guarantor) (Issuer) guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
SALES ..ot _ _ _ $378,608 _ $378,608
Costs and Expenses
Cost 0f SALES ..evveeeeeeeecceeeee e — _ — 305,479 — 305,479
Selling and general expenses .........c..c.eee... _ 10,575 _ 48,057 _ 58,632
Other operating expense (income), net......... 110 962 — (18,083) — (17,011)
110 11,537 — 335,453 — 347,100
Equity in income of New Zealand joint venture...... — — — 550 — 550
OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME.............cccoeuvneen. (110) (11,537) _ 43,705 — 32,058
Interest EXPense .......coeeeeverierenieeienieneneeeeeeeaens (10,717) (941) (37,971) 6,803 — (42,826)
Interest and miscellaneous income (expense), net... 6,638 5,519 (3,334) (8,341) — 482
Equity in income from subsidiaries.............cccooen.... 282,874 289,486 232,871 — (805,231) —
INCOME FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES.. 278,685 282,527 191,566 42,167 (805,231) (10,286)
Income tax benefit.........cccccooveieiiniciiincces — 347 15,076 11,637 — 27,060
INCOME FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS ......ccociiiiininiincccncneenees 278,685 282,874 206,642 53,804 (805,231) 16,774
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET
Income from discontinued operations, net of
TNCOME TAX..ceiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeiiiiiiee e e eeeetennnie e e eeeeenanes — — — 261,911 — 261,911
NET INCOME ........ccocoooieiiiieieeeeeeeeee e 278,685 282,874 206,642 315,715 (805,231) 278,685
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(LOSS)
Foreign currency translation adjustment............ 4352 4352 3) 4,353 (8,702) 4352
New Zealand joint venture cash flow hedges..... 213 213 _ 213 (426) 213
Net loss from pension and postretirement plans (496) (496) (450) (450) 1,396 (496)
Total other comprehensive income (loss)........ 4,069 4,069 (453) 4,116 (7,732) 4,069
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME...............cceueen. $282,754 $286,943 $206,189 $319,831 $(812,963) $282,754
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2014
Rayonier Inc. ROC Rayonier TRS
(Parent (Subsidiary Holdings Inc. Non- Consolidating Total
Guarantor) Guarantor) (Issuer) guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents.............ccccervenenee. $102,218 $11 $8,094 $51,235 _ $161,558
Accounts receivable, less allowance for
doubtful accounts...........ccccceveucieeiccnennnnne — — 1,409 22,609 — 24,018
INVeNtory ..cc.coveveeieiiirccecccece _ _ _ 9,042 — 9,042
Prepaid logging roads..........ccooeveeveenieienennnne _ _ _ 12,665 _ 12,665
Prepaid and other current assets.................... — 2,003 6 5,071 — 7,080
Total current assets...........ccceeeveerennenes 102,218 2,014 9,509 100,622 — 214,363
TIMBER AND TIMBERLANDS, NET OF
DEPLETION AND AMORTIZATION............... — — — 2,083,743 — 2,083,743
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT.... _ 433 — 6,273 — 6,706
INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES ...........cccc... 1,463,303 1,923,185 640,678 _ (4,027,166) _
INTERCOMPANY NOTES RECEIVABLE.......... 248,233 — 21,500 — (269,733) _
OTHER ASSETS 2,763 16,610 1,759 127,171 — 148,303
TOTAL ASSETS $1,816,517  $1,942,242 $673,446  $2,317,809  $(4,296,899)  $2,453,115
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable.........cccooeeeirieninineieinne _ $2,687 $123 $17,401 _ $20,211
Current maturities of long-term debt ............ _ _ 129,706 _ _ 129,706
ACCTUC TAXES .nvvevinreierieieiieieeceeie e — 11 — 11,394 — 11,405
Accrued payroll and benefits ..........c.cccoeueuee _ 3,253 _ 3,137 _ 6,390
Accrued INLErest ......eoveueeverreienereeeeeerieeeieeene 3,047 (3) 2,520 31,281 (28,412) 8,433
Other current liabilities ...........cocccvvenecininnens — 928 145 24,784 — 25,857
Total current liabilities............ccccveeenn. 3,047 6,876 132,494 87,997 (28,412) 202,002
LONG-TERM DEBT 325,000 — 31,000 265,849 — 621,849
PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT
BENEFITS....coooiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeee — 34,161 — (684) — 33,477
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES .............. _ 6,436 _ 14,200 _ 20,636
INTERCOMPANY PAYABLE...........cccooooinrr. _ 431,466 — (153,754) (277,712) _
TOTAL RAYONIER INC. SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY oottt 1,488,470 1,463,303 509,952 2,017,520 (3,990,775) 1,488,470
Noncontrolling interest ...........ecevveveererereriereeennene — — — 86,681 — 86,681
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY................. 1,488,470 1,463,303 509,952 2,104,201 (3,990,775) 1,575,151
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY .ottt $1,816,517 $1,942,242 $673,446 $2,317,809  $(4,296,899) $2,453,115
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2013
Rayonier Inc. ROC Rayonier TRS
(Parent (Subsidiary Holdings Inc. Non- Consolidating Total
Guarantor) Guarantor) (Issuer) guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents...........c.ccccerueneenne. $130,181 $304 $10,719 $58,440 — $199,644
Accounts receivable, less allowance for
doubtful accounts............ocovevverveererennnnn. — 10 2,300 92,646 — 94,956
INventory ......cooeeviinienicie — — — 138,818 — 138,818
Current deferred tax assets..........cccccceeeveennenne — — 681 38,419 — 39,100
Prepaid logging roads..........ccccceveeveveniennenne. — — — 12,992 — 12,992
Prepaid and other current assets.................... — 2,363 6 31,215 — 33,584
Total current assets.........ccocecevverveuenene 130,181 2,677 13,706 372,530 — 519,094
TIMBER AND TIMBERLANDS, NET OF

DEPLETION AND AMORTIZATION............... — — — 2,049,378 — 2,049,378
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT.... — 2,612 — 858,209 — 860,821
INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES .......ccccccveuenee 1,627,315 1,837,760 1,148,221 — (4,613,296) —
INTERCOMPANY NOTES RECEIVABLE.......... 228,032 — 20,659 — (248,691) —
OTHER ASSETS....cciiiiieireneieencereneeeenne 3,689 32,519 3,739 216,261 — 256,208
TOTAL ASSETS ..ot $1,989,217 $1,875,568 $1,186,325 $3,496,378  $(4,861,987) $3,685,501
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable .........c.ccoeriirieiiniiiinns — $1,522 $1,564 $66,207 — $69,293
Current maturities of long-term debt ............ — — 112,500 — — 112,500
ACCTUCA TAXES .ot — 4,855 — 3,696 — 8,551
Uncertain taX poSitionS..........ccceveceeverveeeeuenene — 5,780 — 4,767 — 10,547
Accrued payroll and benefits ..........c..cceeuee — 11,382 — 13,566 — 24,948
Accrued INTETESt .....eveeerverreierireeerenieieieene 3,047 538 2,742 22,816 (19,612) 9,531
Accrued customer incentives ........................ — — — 9,580 — 9,580
Other current liabilities — 2,985 — 21,342 — 24,327
Current liabilities for dispositions and
discontinued operations.............ccceeveeruneee — — — 6,835 — 6,835
Total current liabilities. 3,047 27,062 116,806 148,809 (19,612) 276,112
LONG-TERM DEBT ......ccooceiririeieieeeeieeeeine 325,000 — 847,749 288,975 — 1,461,724
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FOR

DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED

OPERATIONS......comrrvimmreirreereeeeseeessesesseseeons — — — 69,543 — 69,543
PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT

BENEFITS....coooiiiiineinienenceneeceneeeeiee — 91,471 — 4,183 — 95,654
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES .............. — 11,493 — 15,732 — 27,225
INTERCOMPANY PAYABLE......ccccccoviniininne — 118,227 — 125,921 (244,148) —
TOTAL RAYONIER INC. SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY oottt 1,661,170 1,627,315 221,770 2,749,142 (4,598,227) 1,661,170
Noncontrolling interest ..........ccceeveeerereeereneerennennes — — — 94,073 — 94,073
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY.....cccccveueneee 1,661,170 1,627,315 221,770 2,843,215 (4,598,227) 1,755,243
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY oottt $1,989,217 $1,875,568 $1,186,325 $3,496,378  $(4,861,987) $3,685,501
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING
ACTIVITIES ......ooiiiiiiiiciieceeeeene

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditures ..........oceeeeeveieenereeenienneennene
Purchase of timberlands..............c.ccocoovveeiiieiennnnn.
Change in restricted cash........ccccoecveencrniencinenne

Investment in Subsidiaries..........c.ccoceevieeieeeeeneenn.n.

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY
INVESTING ACTIVITIES .......ccoovniiiniiinn

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of debt .......cccoveevivieirineiiincrcrceene
Repayment of debt........ccoceveirineininiiienieeene
Dividends paid........coccecevveenniicnneenneciseeene
Proceeds from the issuance of common shares .......

Repurchase of common shares

Debt iSSUANCE COSES .......eovierieiiccieeerieereeerie e

Purchase of timberland deeds for Rayonier
Advanced Materials..........cccooeeivnicinneicinnecns

Debt issuance funds distributed to Rayonier
Advanced Materials............cccoccoenrciinniicinncne

Proceeds from spin-off of Rayonier Advanced
Materials ........ccooveeiiiiiecee e

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY
FINANCING ACTIVITIES......ccooiiiiieieiiin

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
ONCASH ..o

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Change in cash and cash equivalents.......................

Balance, beginning of year

Balance, end of year

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Rayonier Inc. ROC Rayonier TRS

(Parent (Subsidiary Holdings Inc. Non- Consolidating Total
Guarantor) Guarantor) (Issuer) guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
$269,653 $293,193 — $43,858 $(290,157) $316,547
— (400) — (123,289) — (123,689)
— — — (130,896) — (130,896)
— — — 62,256 — 62,256
— — 798,875 — (798.875) —
— — — (478) — (478)
— (400) 798,875 (192,407) (798,875) (192,807)
— — 201,000 1,225,464 — 1,426,464
— — (1,002,500) (287,137) — (1,289,637)
(257,517) — — — — (257,517)
5,579 — — — — 5,579
(1,858) — — — — (1,858)
— — — (12,380) — (12,380)
(12,677) — — — — (12,677)
(924,943) — — — — (924,943)
906,200 — — — — 906,200
(12,400) — — 12,400 — —
— (293,086) — (795,946) 1,089,032 —
— — — (680) — (680)
(297,616) (293,086) (801,500) 141,721 1,089,032 (161,449)
_ _ - (377) — (377)
(27,963) (293) (2,625) (7,205) — (38,086)
130,181 304 10,719 58,440 — 199,644
$102,218 $11 $8,094 $51,235 — $161,558
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING

ACTIVITIES .......coiiiiiiiiccicceeee

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditures ..........cccevvereeervererenierieenenens

Purchase of additional interest in New Zealand
joint venture...................

Purchase of timberlands

Jesup mill cellulose specialties expansion.............

Proceeds from disposition of Wood Products

DUSINESS ...veeevieiiiceieeeieere ettt

CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES. ...

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of debt .......cccoeveerenieininieireeeceee
Repayment of debt..........ocecerviicinncccnnicininenene
Dividends paid.........ccceveeievenirenieeeseeeeee
Proceeds from the issuance of common shares .....
Excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation...

Repurchase of common shares ...........cccoeeeennenee

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY

FINANCING ACTIVITIES........cccoviiinne

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES

ON CASH ..o

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Change in cash and cash equivalents....................
Balance, beginning of year .........c.ccccevevvevreeeiens

Balance, end of year ..........ccccoevereneicncnecneeenn

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Rayonier Inc. ROC Rayonier TRS
(Parent (Subsidiary Holdings Inc. Non- Consolidating Total

Guarantor) Guarantor) (Issuer) guarantors Adjustments Consolidated

. $407,712 $417,074 $84,000 $491,762 $(855,375) $545,173
- — (663) — (161,520) — (162,183)
— — — (139,879) — (139,879)

— — — (20,401) — (20,401)

- — — — (148,262) — (148,262)
. — — — 62,720 — 62,720
- — — — (58,385) — (58,385)
. (138,178) (138,178) (247,114) — 523,470 —
- — 1,701 — 4,231) — (2,530)
. (138,178) (137,140) (247,114) (469,958) 523,470 (468,920)
- 175,000 — 390,000 57,885 — 622,885
-~ (325,000) — (151,525) (72,960) — (549,485)
- (237,016) — — — — (237,016)
- 10,101 — — — — 10,101
— — — 8,413 — 8,413

- (11,326) — — — — (11,326)
- (4,000) — — 4,000 — —
- — (283,596) (84,000) 35,691 331,905 —
- — — — (713) — (713)
. (392,241) (283,596) 154,475 32,316 331,905 (157,141)
.. — — — (64) — (64)
- (122,707) (3,662) (8,639) 54,056 — (80,952)
- 252,888 3,966 19,358 4,384 — 280,596
- $130,181 $304 $10,719 $58,440 — $199,644
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING
ACTIVITIES ......ooiiiiiiiiciieceeeeene

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditures

Purchase of timberlands
Jesup mill cellulose specialties expansion...............

Change in restricted cash........c.cooceceereiniineininne

CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES......
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of debt ........cecevveenniiiiinnccnccseeene
Repayment of debt........coovevevivirieieeeeeeeeee
Dividends paid.........ccceeeveievienieieieieseeeeeee e
Proceeds from the issuance of common shares .......
Excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation...
Debt 1SSUANCE COSES ....euveurrrireririenieiieriicerienieerenenene
Repurchase of common shares ............ccccevveevenennen.
Issuance of intercompany Notes...........cccceververerennene
Intercompany distributions ............cceceeevveerierieennne

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES.......ccccooveinieinnnne

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
ON CASH ..o

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Change in cash and cash equivalents..

Balance, beginning of year .........c.cccocevevvevevvennenene

Balance, end of year ..........cccoceeveinineneneneeene

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Rayonier Inc. ROC Rayonier TRS

(Parent (Subsidiary Holdings Inc. Non- Consolidating Total
Guarantor) Guarantor) (Issuer) guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
$90,456 $138,149 $41,000 $423,784 $(247,475) $445,914
— (354) — (155,166) — (155,520)
— — — (106,536) — (106,536)
— — — (198,341) — (198,341)
- — — (10,559) — (10,559)
— — (142,508) — 142,508 —
_ — — (1,945) — (1,945)
— (354) (142,508) (472,547) 142,508 (472,901)
475,000 — 740,000 15,000 — 1,230,000
(120,000) (30,000) (638,110) (25,500) — (813,610)
(206,583) — — — — (206,583)
25,495 — — — — 25,495
— — — 7,635 — 7,635
(3,697) (1,219) — (1,219) — (6,135)
(7,783) — — — — (7,783)
— (14,000) — 14,000 — —
— (97,587) (41,000) 33,620 104,967 —
162,432 (142,806) 60,890 43,536 104,967 229,019
— — — (39) — (39)
252,888 (5,011) (40,618) (5,2606) — 201,993
— 8,977 59,976 9,650 — 78,603
$252,888 $3,966 $19,358 $4,384 — $280,596
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

In March 2012, Rayonier Inc. issued $325 million of 3.75% Senior Notes due 2022. In connection with these notes, the Company
provides the following condensed consolidating financial information in accordance with SEC Regulation S-X Rule 3-10, Financial
Statements of Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Securities Registered or Being Registered.

The subsidiary guarantors, ROC and Rayonier TRS Holdings, Inc., are wholly-owned by the Parent Company, Rayonier, Inc. The
notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis by the guarantor subsidiaries.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
SALES ..ot _ _ $603,521 _ $603,521
Costs and Expenses
Cost of sales — — 483,860 — 483,860
Selling and general eXPenses. ........cccevvevrervereeerienieceeneeeneenns _ 14,578 33,305 _ 47,883
Other operating expense (INCOME), NEt ..........c.ocveeveerveeeereneans — 3,275 (29,786) — (26,511)
— 17,853 487,379 — 505,232
OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME..........cocovviieieieeeeeeeeee _ (17,853) 116,142 — 98,289
INLEIESt EXPENSE. ..c..euvinriririieiieiieteie ettt (13,247) (23,571) (7,430) — (44,248)
Interest and miscellaneous income (eXpense), Net..........cceeververeevennene 9,186 (3,100) (15,285) — 9,199)
Equity in income from subsidiaries ..........cccevvrververenererieeeneeneeneen 103,398 138,719 — (242,117) —
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
INCOME TAXES........ccoi oottt 99,337 94,195 93,427 (242,117) 44,842
Income tax benefit..........cocooeriiiriciieeee e — 9,203 398 — 9,601
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS....................... 99,337 103,398 93,825 (242,117) 54,443
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax.................. _ _ 43,403 _ 43,403
NET INCOME 99,337 103,398 137,228 (242,117) 97,846
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest ........................ — — (1,491) — (1,491)
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC........... 99,337 103,398 138,719 (242,117) 99,337
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Foreign currency translation adjustment ...........c.coceeeevereneenennene (11,525) (11,527) (15,847) 23,052 (15,847)
New Zealand joint venture cash flow hedges..........ccoeveveieenene (1,206) (1,206) (1,855) 2,412 (1,855)
Net gain from pension and postretirement plans..............ceceeenene 54,046 54,046 88,174 (142,220) 54,046
Total other comprehensive iNCOme ..........cecvvveereeeervereeriennnne 41,315 41,313 70,472 (116,756) 36,344
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ...........ccoooviiiieieeeceeeeee 140,652 144,711 207,700 (358.,873) 134,190
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest..... _ _ (6,462) _ (6,462)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO
RAYONIER INC.....ccooiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee et $140,652 $144,711 $214,162 $(358,873) $140,652
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
SALES ..ot _ _ $659,718 _ $659,718
Costs and Expenses
COSt O SAIES ...vevvieiectecteceeeeee e _ _ 530,772 _ 530,772
Selling and general eXPenses. ........ccceveererveeeerieniecneneeeneenns _ 9,821 45,612 — 55,433
Other operating (income) eXpense, Net ...........ccccceueueurueecununnes (1,701) 4,730 (21,516) — (18,487)
(1,701) 14,551 554,868 — 567,718
Equity in income of New Zealand joint venture.............cccccceeeeennee — — 562 — 562
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE GAIN
RELATED TO CONSOLIDATION OF NEW
ZEALAND JOINT VENTURE ........c.ccccooiniiiiiinniiineene 1,701 (14,551) 105,412 _ 92,562
Gain related to consolidation of New Zealand joint venture.............. _ _ 16,098 _ 16,098
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)...c..coiiieieieeeceeieese e 1,701 (14,551) 121,510 — 108,660
INtErest EXPEISE. ..cooueiiiiiiiriiiiieciee ettt (13,088) (28,430) 577 _ (40,941)
Interest and miscellaneous income (expense), net.........ccecvevereennenee. 9,828 (4,297) (3,092) — 2,439
Equity in income from subsidiaries ..........ccccoeveverieineneeneneenennene 373,455 407,722 _ (781,177) —
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
INCOME TAXES.......cooi ittt 371,896 360,444 118,995 (781,177) 70,158
Income tax benefit.........c.ccoeeiiiniiinniicccecce — 13,011 22,674 — 35,685
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS..........cco.c....... 371,896 373,455 141,669 (781,177) 105,843
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax.................. _ _ 267,955 _ 267,955
NET INCOME ........ooiiiiieeeeeeeeeee et 371,896 373,455 409,624 (781,177) 373,798
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest................... — — 1,902 — 1,902
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAYONIER INC........... 371,896 373,455 407,722 (781,177) 371,896
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Foreign currency translation adjustment ............cocoeeeereriecinennne (1,915) (1,915) (5,710) 3,830 (5,710)
New Zealand joint venture cash flow hedges...........cccvverveiennnnne 3,286 3,286 3,629 (6,572) 3,629
Net gain from pension and postretirement plans............ccecvenee.. 61,869 61,869 20,589 (82,458) 61,869
Total other comprehensive inCOMe ..........cecvevvereeeeverieriennenne 63,240 63,240 18,508 (85,200) 59,788
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ...........ccooooviiiieieieeeeeeeee 435,136 436,695 428,132 (866,377) 433,586
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest..... _ _ (1,550) _ (1,550)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO
RAYONIER INC........ccociiiiiiiiiiiiiiineietceeeseeeseeee e $435,136 $436,695 $429,682 $(866,377) $435,136
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
SALES ..ot _ _ $378,608 _ $378,608
Costs and Expenses
COSt OF SALES ..o _ — 305,479 — 305,479
Selling and general eXPenses. ........ccceveererveeeerieniecneneeeneenns _ 10,575 48,057 — 58,632
Other operating expense (INCOME), NEt ..........c.ocveeveereeerrenean. 110 962 (18,083) — (17,011)
110 11,537 335,453 — 347,100
Equity in income of New Zealand joint venture.............c.cccceceeeeneee — — 550 — 550
OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME..........cccoceimiiinieincneceienne (110) (11,537) 43,705 — 32,058
INtErest EXPENSE. ...oouiiiiiiiiriiiieiieete ettt (10,717) (38,912) 6,803 — (42,826)
Interest and miscellaneous income (expense), net..........ceceevereennenee. 6,638 2,185 (8,341) — 482
Equity in income from subsidiaries ..........cccoervrverierereneneeeeeeneenee 282,874 315,715 — (598,589) —
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
INCOME TAXES........cooi oottt 278,685 267,451 42,167 (598,589) (10,286)
Income tax benefit...........cooovviiiiiiiiiiiiiieece e — 15,423 11,637 — 27,060
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS..........cco.c...... 278,685 282,874 53,804 (598,589) 16,774
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax.................. _ _ 261,911 _ 261,911
NET INCOME 278,685 282,874 315,715 (598.,589) 278,685
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Foreign currency translation adjustment ............ccccoecevvecveneenennen. 4352 4352 4353 (8,705) 4,352
New Zealand joint venture cash flow hedges..........c.ccocvevverrennenee. 213 213 213 (426) 213
Net loss from pension and postretirement plans..........c.cccceceeueneee (496) (496) (450) 946 (496)
Total other comprehensive iNCoOme ...........cccceveererereenenencns 4,069 4,069 4,116 (8,185) 4,069
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ..........cccoooviiiiieeeneeceeeee $282.754 $286,943 $319,831 $(606,774) $282,754
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2014

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents.........ccceeererereerieneneeeeieeee e $102,218 $8,105 $51,235 — $161,558
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts.... _ 1,409 22,609 — 24,018
INVENLOTY .ot — — 9,042 — 9,042
Prepaid 10gging roads.........ccoceeeeierierenenieieereseeeee e — — 12,665 — 12,665
Prepaid and other current assets.........cocveeveevererenerceerierienens _ 2,009 5,071 _ 7,080
Total Current assetsS........coceveeeueeereeeieeieeeeeie e eereenens 102,218 11,523 100,622 — 214,363
TIMBER AND TIMBERLANDS, NET OF DEPLETION
AND AMORTIZATION. ..ottt _ _ 2,083,743 _ 2,083,743
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT.........ccccvverieinrennne — 433 6,273 — 6,706
INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 1,463,303 2,053,911 _ (3,517,214) _
INTERCOMPANY NOTES RECEIVABLE.........cccoceviniiiiinnne. 248,233 21,500 _ (269,733) —
OTHER ASSETS ..ottt 2,763 18,369 127,171 — 148,303
TOTAL ASSETS. ..ottt $1,816,517 $2,105,736 $2,317,809  $(3,786,947) $2,453,115
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable .........ceveirireniiineeee e _ $2,810 $17,401 _ $20,211
Current maturities of long-term debt...........cecoeeveeereniecinennns _ 129,706 _ _ 129,706
ACCTUCH TAXES .evvenveeeieieeiesiesteeeeetete sttt see e eneeneeaeneenne — 11 11,394 — 11,405
Accrued payroll and benefits..........ccoovveeecievieninieicieieee — 3,253 3,137 — 6,390
ACCTUEA INTETESE.....vevieeieeiiieeieeteeieeie sttt ae e 3,047 2,517 31,281 (28,412) 8,433
Other current liabilities. .........cccoveveeviivieieieieiececceeeeeieie _ 1,073 24,784 _ 25,857
Total current Habilities.........cocvvereeeiereririeieieieeeene 3,047 139,370 87,997 (28,412) 202,002
LONG-TERM DEBT......cooiiiiiiiiiiiieieieeiteeeeeee e 325,000 31,000 265,849 — 621,849
PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS........... _ 34,161 (684) _ 33,477
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES.......ccceoteiinininiiieieenee. — 6,436 14,200 — 20,636
INTERCOMPANY PAYABLE.......ccctiieeeeeeeeeeeee e — 431,466 (153,754) (271,712) —
TOTAL RAYONIER SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY......ccccevienienne 1,488,470 1,463,303 2,017,520 (3,480,823) 1,488,470
Noncontrolling INEIESt ........coerueereerieireieiirieieerieetesieeee e _ _ 86,681 _ 86,681
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY ....ccoviiiiieiiieeieeiecieeieeieeieees 1,488,470 1,463,303 2,104,201 (3,480,823) 1,575,151
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY............ $1,816,517 $2,105,736 $2,317,809  $(3,786,947) $2,453.115
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ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents.........ccceeererereerieneneeeeieeee e
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts....
INVENLOTY .ot

Current deferred tax asset.......cccoceevveeeiieciieciieneeneeeeeeeeeeeen,

Prepaid 10gging roads.........coeveeeieriereeieieiee e
Prepaid and other current assets ..........ccccocevveerereereneenennene
Total CUITent aSSELS .........eoveueruereererieieiieieieese e

TIMBER AND TIMBERLANDS, NET OF DEPLETION
AND AMORTIZATION......cociiiiiiiiiiniiicincecesceeeee s

NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT......ccccccevivviiinne.
INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES........cccoceceiiiiiiiiiiririninneens
INTERCOMPANY NOTES RECEIVABLE.........ccccoetntnnrninrennne
OTHER ASSETS ..ottt et
TOTAL ASSETS...cooiiiiiiceeeeccceceecee e
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Current maturities of long-term debt..........ccooeerniicnnecne
ACCTUCH TAXES ..ottt ettt et
Uncertain tax POSIHONS......ecverveererrerieneeieterereeneeseeeeessessensens
Accrued payroll and benefits..........oceoeoerenieinineineneeene
ACCTUR INLEIESL......eeiveiiiiciieieic st
Accrued cuStomer INCENTIVES ....c..ceeveveeruereinreniererieneeeerenne
Other current Habilities........ccceverirerienrenenieineeeneeceene

Current liabilities for dispositions and discontinued
OPETALIONS ..evveerenieteeeierteniestesteeseestessesseeseeseesensesseeseennensensens

Total current liabilities...........cccoevieeieeiiieciieieeceeereene,
LONG-TERM DEBT

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FOR DISPOSITIONS AND
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS .......ccccoviiiiiiiiiiiciccee

PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS...........
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES.......ccccccoeciniiinineinene
INTERCOMPANY PAYABLE.......coceoitiiiiiiniieineiceneneceene
TOTAL RAYONIER SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY.......cccccrverurenne
NONCONrOIlING INEEIESE .....eveueeeireieiirieieiieieieieee et
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY.....cccoeoiniieiniieincniccnrenne
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY............

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2013

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
$130,181 $11,023 $58,440 — $199,644
— 2,310 92,646 — 94,956
— — 138,818 — 138,818
— 681 38,419 — 39,100
— — 12,992 — 12,992
— 2,369 31,215 — 33,584
130,181 16,383 372,530 — 519,094
— — 2,049,378 — 2,049,378
— 2,612 858,209 — 860,821
1,627,315 2,764,211 — (4,391,526) —
228,032 20,659 — (248,691) —
3,689 36,258 216,261 — 256,208
$1,989,217 $2,840,123 $3,496,378  $(4,640,217) $3,685,501
— $3,086 $66,207 — $69,293
— 112,500 — — 112,500
— 4,855 3,696 — 8,551
— 5,780 4,767 — 10,547
— 11,382 13,566 — 24,948
3,047 3,280 22,816 (19,612) 9,531
— — 9,580 — 9,580
— 2,985 21,342 — 24,327
— — 6,835 — 6,835
3,047 143,868 148,809 (19,612) 276,112
325,000 847,749 288,975 — 1,461,724
— — 69,543 — 69,543
— 91,471 4,183 — 95,654
— 11,493 15,732 — 27,225
— 118,227 125,921 (244,148) —
1,661,170 1,627,315 2,749,142 (4,376,457) 1,661,170
— — 94,073 — 94,073
1,661,170 1,627,315 2,843,215 (4,376,457) 1,755,243
$1,989,217 $2,840,123 $3,496,378  $(4,640,217) $3,685,501
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CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES..................
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital eXpenditures...........cveveeverrereeieieneseseeeee e
Purchase of timberlands............ocooeererieinineireeeeeeeene
Change in restricted cash ..........ccoveeeinieinnicnccceceee

Investment in SubSIAIArIES ........cveevieiieiieieceeie e

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES.
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of debt.......

Repayment of debt

Dividends Paid ........ccooeeeirieieieeeee e
Proceeds from the issuance of common shares...........c.cccccvveenennnnee
Repurchase of common Shares............cocveevevereeieieneneneeeeeeeee,
Debt 1SSUANCE COSES ...cuvunrviieririiieieierienieteeteeeie ettt ebeeene
Purchase of timberland deeds for Rayonier Advanced Materials......
Debt issuance funds distributed to Rayonier Advanced Materials ....
Proceeds from spin-off of Rayonier Advanced materials..................

Issuance of iNtercompany NOLES ..............eceuerveueueieiereereeeeeneeeeeeeseeeas

Intercompany diStribUtIONS ..........ccceerierieirierieereieceeeeee e

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES.
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH..........
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Change in cash and cash equivalents

Balance, beginning of Year ..........ccccevcveeeverenenieieeseseseeeee e

Balance, end of Year..........coccoueiriiirieneieiee e

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
$269,653 $293,193 $43,858 $(290,157) $316,547
— (400) (123,289) — (123,689)
— — (130,896) — (130,896)
— — 62,256 — 62,256
— 798,875 — (798,875) —
— — (478) — (478)
— 798,475 (192,407) (798,875) (192,807)
— 201,000 1,225,464 — 1,426,464
— (1,002,500) (287,137) — (1,289,637)
(257,517) — — — (257,517)
5,579 — — — 5,579
(1,858) — — — (1,858)
— — (12,380) — (12,380)
(12,677) — — — (12,677)
(924,943) — — — (924,943)
906,200 — — — 906,200
(12,400) — 12,400 — —
— (293,086) (795,946) 1,089,032 —
— — (680) — (680)
(297,616) (1,094,586) 141,721 1,089,032 (161,449)
— — (377) — (377)
(27,963) (2,918) (7,205) — (38,086)
130,181 11,023 58,440 — 199,644
$102,218 $8,105 $51,235 — $161,558
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CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES..................
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital eXpenditures...........cveveeverrereeieieneseseeeee e
Purchase of additional interest in New Zealand joint venture............
Purchase of timberlands............c.cocoeeoinncinniicecee

Jesup mill cellulose specialties expansion..............cccocveveireeecncnenes

Proceeds from disposition of Wood Products business.....................

Change in restricted cash ..........ooeeeererieinireree e

Investment in SUbSIAIATIES ..........ceevieieeieiiirieiecice e

CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES ......c.cccceoniniiine
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of debt.........cciviiueiriniciiriicc e
Repayment of debt........ocvvieieiirieeee e
Dividends Paid ......c.ccevveeirieieierieeeee e
Proceeds from the issuance of common shares...............cccoevevenneee.
Excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation............c.cceeecvevenee
Repurchase of common Shares............cocvevvevererieieneneneeceeeeee,
Issuance of INtercomMpPany NOLES ........coervererrererrerierierirrerieerenieesreneene

Intercompany diStribUtIONS ..........ccceerveieiirierieireieceeeese e

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES.
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH..........
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Balance, beginning of Year ..........cccecevevieinineenenieinccencneceene

Balance, end of Year........c.coccoveiniiririeneieie e

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
$407,712 $417,074 $491,762 $(771,375) $545,173
— (663) (161,520) — (162,183)
— — (139,879) — (139,879)
— — (20,401) — (20,401)
— — (148,262) — (148,262)
— — 62,720 — 62,720
— — (58,385) — (58,385)
(138,178) (385,292) — 523,470 —
— 1,701 (4,231) — (2,530)
(138,178) (384,254) (469,958) 523,470 (468,920)
175,000 390,000 57,885 — 622,885
(325,000) (151,525) (72,960) — (549,485)
(237,016) — — — (237,016)
10,101 — — — 10,101
— — 8,413 — 8,413
(11,326) — — — (11,326)
(4,000) — 4,000 — —
— (283,596) 35,691 247,905 —
— — (713) — (713)
(392,241) (45,121) 32,316 247,905 (157,141)
— — (64) — (64)
(122,707) (12,301) 54,056 — (80,952)
252,888 23,324 4,384 — 280,596
$130,181 $11,023 $58,440 — $199,644




RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES..................
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital eXpenditures...........cveveeverrereeieieneseseeeee e
Purchase of timberlands............cocooevirerieiinineneeeeeeeee
Jesup mill cellulose specialties eXpansion ..............eceeereecerereereeennne
Change in restricted Cash ........cccovevirieiererereeeee e

Investment in SubSIAIAries ........cc.eevvieiieeeiieciecieecieeceeeeeeee e

CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES .......ccocceoinieiiinne
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of debt

Repayment of debt ........cco.eveieiriiiirieieee e
Dividends Paid .......coceeveieirieieieieieeeee e
Proceeds from the issuance of common shares.........c..ccccvverecinennene
Excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation.............ccccvevvenenee.
Dbt iSSUANCE COSES ..euvunrriienieriieieterieietteteeesesieeese ettt sieseeneebeneene
Repurchase of common shares............ccceeveveveninieieneneneeeee,
Issuance of Intercompany NOtES .........cveverververereeeerereneereeeeseeneeees
Intercompany diStribUtIONS .......c..coceerieieirienirineieieeeeneseceeene
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) FINANCING ACTIVITIES.
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH..........
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Change in cash and cash equivalents............ccccceeeeeririneinieeene.
Balance, beginning of Year ..........cccoceverieireneinenieieeeereeceene

Balance, end of Year.........ocoeveiiiininieeee e

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Rayonier Inc.

(Parent Subsidiary Non- Consolidating Total
Issuer) Guarantors guarantors Adjustments Consolidated
$90,456 $138,149 $423,784 $(206,475) $445.914
— (354) (155,166) — (155,520)
— — (106,536) — (106,536)
— — (198,341) — (198,341)
— — (10,559) — (10,559)
— (142,508) — 142,508 —
— — (1,945) — (1,945)
— (142,862) (472,547) 142,508 (472,901)
475,000 740,000 15,000 — 1,230,000
(120,000) (668,110) (25,500) — (813,610)
(206,583) — — — (206,583)
25,495 — — — 25,495
— — 7,635 — 7,635
(3,697) (1,219) (1,219) — (6,135)
(7,783) — — — (7,783)
— (14,000) 14,000 — —
— (97,587) 33,620 63,967 —
162,432 (40,916) 43,536 63,967 229,019
— — (39 — (39
252,888 (45,629) (5,266) — 201,993
— 68,953 9,650 — 78,603
$252,888 $23,324 $4,384 — $280,596




RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012

(In Thousands)
Additions
Balance Charged
at to Cost Balance
Beginning and at End
Description of Year Expenses Deductions of Year
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Year ended December 31, 2014..........ocooveveveeeeeeereereeenennns $673 $134 $(765) (a) $42
Year ended December 31, 2013......cccoveeiieiieeiieie e, 417 855 (b) (599) (¢ 673
Year ended December 31, 2012.......cccvvieireieieeieieeieee 399 67 (49) (¢ 417
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance:
Year ended December 31,2014 ..........ooooviviveeeeeieeeeeeenee. $33,889 $13,289 (d) $(33,534) (e) $13,644
Year ended December 31, 2013......ccoovviiiiiviiiiieeeeeeeeee, 19,294 14,595 () — 33,889
Year ended December 31, 2012......cccceeevieiiieeciieiecieeeeeee. 18,811 572 (g) (89) (h) 19,294

(a) The 2014 decrease is largely related to the spin-off of the Performance Fibers business.

(b) The 2013 increase is primarily related to the consolidation of the New Zealand JV.

(¢) The deductions are primarily payments and adjustments to required reserves.

(d) The 2014 increase is primarily related to the Company’s limited potential use of the CBPC prior to its expiration in 2017.

(e) The decrease is primarily related to deferred tax assets contributed to Rayonier Advanced Materials in the spin-off. The
decrease also reflects the utilization and expiration of RNZ NOL carryforwards, of which $355 thousand was recorded as

income tax expense.

(f) The 2013 increase is primarily Georgia investment tax credits earned on the CSE project.

(g) The 2012 increase is primarily attributable to state NOLs and Georgia investment tax credits and training credits.

(h) The 2012 decrease relates to RNZ NOL carryforwards.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

RAYONIER INC.

By: /s/y MARK MCHUGH

Mark McHugh
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Duly Authorized Officer, Principal Financial Officer)

March 2, 2015

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ DAVID L. NUNES President and Chief Executive Officer March 2, 2015

David L. Nunes
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ MARK MCHUGH Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer March 2, 2015

Mark McHugh
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ H. EDWIN KIKER Chief Accounting Officer March 2, 2015

H. Edwin Kiker
(Principal Accounting Officer)

* Chairman of the Board

Richard D. Kincaid

* Director
John A. Blumberg

* Director

Dod A. Fraser

* Director

Scott R. Jones

* Director
Blanche L. Lincoln

* Director
V. Larkin Martin

* Director
David W. Oskin

*By: /s/ CHRISTOPHER A. VAN TUYL March 2, 2015

Christopher A. Van Tuyl
Attorney-In-Fact




EXHIBIT INDEX

The following is a list of Exhibits filed as part of the Form 10-K. The documents incorporated by reference are located in the SEC’s
Public Reference Room in Washington D.C. in SEC File no. 1-6780.

As permitted by the rules of the SEC, the Company has not filed certain instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt
of the Company or consolidated subsidiaries under which the total amount of securities authorized does not exceed 10 percent of the total
assets of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries. The Company agrees to furnish to the SEC, upon request, a copy of any omitted

instrument.

Exhibit No.

2.1

2.2

3.1

3.2

33

4.1

4.2

43

44

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

Description

Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreement dated December 18,
2003 by and among Rayonier Inc., Rayonier Timberlands Operating
Company, L.P., Rayonier Timberlands, L.P., Rayonier Timberlands
Management, LLC, Rayonier Forest Resources, LLC, Rayland, LLC,
Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., Rayonier Minerals, LLC, Rayonier Forest
Properties, LLC, Rayonier Wood Products, LLC, Rayonier Wood
Procurement, LLC, Rayonier International Wood Products, LLC, Rayonier
Forest Operations, LLC, Rayonier Properties, LLC and Rayonier
Performance Fibers, LLC

Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated May 28, 2014, by and between

Rayonier Inc. and Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc.**

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation

By-Laws

Limited Liability Company Agreement of Rayonier Operating Company
LLC

Note Purchase Agreement dated as of October 25, 1999 between Rayonier
Timberlands Operating Company, L.P. and Timber Capital Holdings LLC.

Form S-4 Registration Statement

Amendment No. 1 to Form S-4 Registration Statement

Purchase Agreement dated as of October 10, 2007 among Rayonier TRS
Holdings Inc., Rayonier Inc. and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as
representative of the several purchasers named therein

Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2009, among Rayonier TRS
Holdings Inc. and Rayonier Inc. and Credit Suisse (USA) LLC, Merrill
Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.

Indenture related to the 3.75% Senior Exchangeable Notes due 2012, dated
as of October 16, 2007, among Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., as issuer,
Rayonier Inc., as guarantor, and The Bank of New York Trust Company,
N.A., as trustee.

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 29, 2010, to the Indenture
related to the 3.75% Senior Exchangeable Notes due 2012 dated as of
October 16, 2007, among Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., Rayonier Inc.,

Rayonier Operating Company LLC and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company, N.A., as trustee.

Indenture related to the 4.50% Senior Exchangeable Notes due 2015, dated
as of August 12, 2009, among Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., as issuer,
Rayonier Inc., as guarantor, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as trustee.

Location

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s January 15, 2004
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1
to the Registrant’s May 30, 2014 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Registrant’s May 23, 2012 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2
to the Registrant’s October 21, 2009
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2010 Form

10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2
to the Registrant’s September 30, 1999
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to the
Registrant’s April 26, 2004 S-4 Filing

Incorporated by reference to the
Registrant’s May 6, 2004 S-4/A Filing

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Registrant’s October 17, 2007
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2
to the Registrant’s October 17, 2007
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.10 to the Registrant’s June 30, 2010
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form
8-K



Exhibit No.

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

424

Description

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 29, 2010, to the Indenture
related to the 4.50% Senior Exchangeable Notes due 2015 dated as of August
12, 2009, among Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., Rayonier Inc., Rayonier
Operating Company LLC and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as trustee.

Indenture relating to the 3.75% Senior Notes due 2022, dated March 5, 2012,
between Rayonier Inc., as issuer, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as trustee

First Supplemental Indenture relating to the 3.75% Senior Notes due 2022,
dated March 5, 2012, among Rayonier Inc., as issuer, the subsidiary
guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as trustee

Second Supplemental Indenture relating to the 3.75% Senior Notes due
2022, dated March 5, 2012, among Rayonier Inc., as issuer, the subsidiary
guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as trustee

Form of Note for 3.75% Senior Notes due 2022 (contained in Exhibit A to
Exhibit 4.12)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 16, 2007 among Rayonier
TRS Holdings Inc., Rayonier Inc. and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC,
as representative of the several purchasers named herein.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 12, 2009, among
Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. and Rayonier Inc. and Credit Suisse Securities
(USA) LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and J.P.
Morgan Securities Inc.

Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction Confirmation, dated October 10, 2007
between Credit Suisse Capital LLC, as dealer, represented by Credit Suisse
Securities (USA) LLC, as agent, and Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc.

Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction Confirmation, dated October 10, 2007
between JP Morgan Chase Bank, National Association, London Branch and
Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc.

Base Exchangeable Note Hedge Transaction Confirmation, dated as of
August 6, 2009, between Credit Suisse Capital LLC, as dealer, represented
by Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as agent, and Rayonier TRS
Holdings Inc.

Base Exchangeable Note Hedge Transaction Confirmation, dated as of
August 6, 2009, between Bank of America, N.A., as dealer, and Rayonier
TRS Holdings Inc.

Base Exchangeable Note Hedge Transaction Confirmation, dated as of
August 6, 2009, between JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association,
London Branch, as dealer, and Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc.

Additional Exchangeable Note Hedge Transaction Confirmation, dated as of
August 7, 2009, between Credit Suisse Capital LLC, as dealer, represented
by Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as agent, and Rayonier TRS
Holdings Inc.

Additional Exchangeable Note Hedge Transaction Confirmation, dated as of
August 7, 2009, between Bank of America, N.A., as dealer, and Rayonier
TRS Holdings Inc.

Additional Exchangeable Note Hedge Transaction Confirmation, dated as of
August 7, 2009, between JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association,
London Branch, as dealer, and Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc.

Issuer Warrant Transaction Confirmation dated October 10, 2007 between
Credit Suisse Capital LLC, as dealer, represented by Credit Suisse Securities
(USA) LLC, as agent, and Rayonier Inc.

Location

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.11 to the Registrant’s June 30, 2010
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Registrant’s March 5, 2012 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2
to the Registrant’s March 5, 2012 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Registrant’s October 17,2012
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2
to the Registrant’s March 5, 2012 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3
to the Registrant’s October 17, 2007
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2
to the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4
to the Registrant’s October 17, 2007
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5
to the Registrant’s October 17, 2007
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5
to the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
to the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7
to the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6
to the Registrant’s October 17, 2007
Form 8-K



Exhibit No.

4.25

4.26

4.27

4.28

4.29

4.30

431

4.32

433

4.34

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

Description

Location

Issuer Warrant Transaction Confirmation dated October 10, 2007 between JP Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7

Morgan Chase Bank, National Association, London Branch, as dealer, and
Rayonier Inc.

Issuer Warrant Transaction Amendment dated October 15, 2007 between
Rayonier Inc. and Credit Suisse Capital LLC, as dealer, represented by
Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as agent.

Issuer Warrant Transaction Amendment dated October 15, 2007 between
Rayonier Inc. and JP Morgan Chase Bank, National Association, London
Branch, as dealer.

Base Issuer Warrant Transaction Confirmation dated as of August 6, 2009,
between Credit Suisse Capital LLC, as dealer, represented by Credit Suisse
Securities (USA) LLC, as agent, and Rayonier Inc.

Base Issuer Warrant Transaction Confirmation, dated as of August 6, 2009,
between Bank of America, N.A., as dealer, and Rayonier Inc.

Base Issuer Warrant Transaction Confirmation, dated as of August 6, 2009,
between JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, London Branch, as
dealer, and Rayonier Inc.

Additional Issuer Warrant Transaction Confirmation, dated as of August 7,
2009, between Credit Suisse Capital LLC, as dealer, represented by Credit
Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as agent, and Rayonier Inc.

Additional Issuer Warrant Transaction Confirmation, dated as of August 7,
2009, between Bank of America, N.A., as dealer, and Rayonier Inc.

Additional Issuer Warrant Transaction Confirmation, dated as of August 7,
2009, between JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, London
Branch, as dealer, and Rayonier Inc.

Indenture among Rayonier A.M. Products Inc., the guarantors party thereto
from time to time and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee,
dated as of May 22, 2014.

Rayonier 1994 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended*

Form of Rayonier 1994 Incentive Stock Non-qualified Stock Option Award
Agreement*

Rayonier Inc. Executive Severance Pay Plan (f/k/a Rayonier Supplemental
Senior Executive Severance Pay Plan), as amended*

Rayonier Investment and Savings Plan for Salaried Employees*

Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees of Rayonier Inc. effective as of
March 1, 1994, Amended and Restated January 1, 2000 and Further
Amended Through October 19, 2001*

Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees effective as of
January 1, 2002*

Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees effective as of
January 1, 2003*

to the Registrant’s October 17, 2007
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8
to the Registrant’s October 17, 2007
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9
to the Registrant’s October 17, 2007
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8
to the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9
to the Registrant’s August 12, 2009 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.10 to the Registrant’s August 12,
2009 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.11 to the Registrant’s August 12, 2009
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.12 to the Registrant’s August 12,
2009 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.13 to the Registrant’s August 12,
2009 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Registrant’s May 22, 2014 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2006 Form

10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.18 to the Registrant’s December 31,
1995 Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2007
Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Registrant’s December 31, 1997
Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2001
Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2003
Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2003
Form 10-K



Exhibit No.

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

Description

Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees effective as of
January 1, 2004 dated October 10, 2003*

Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees effective as of
January 1, 2004 dated December 15, 2003 *

Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees effective as of
August 1, 2013 dated July 18, 2013*

Rayonier Inc. Excess Benefit Plan, as amended*

Amendment to Rayonier Inc. Excess Benefit Plan dated August 18, 1997*

Form of Rayonier Inc. Excess Savings and Deferred Compensation Plan
Agreements*

Rayonier Inc. Excess Savings and Deferred Compensation Plan, as
amended*

Rayonier Incentive Stock Plan, as amended*

Form of Rayonier 2004 Incentive Stock and Management Bonus Plan Non-
Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement*

Form of Rayonier 2004 Incentive Stock and Management Bonus Plan
Restricted Share Award Agreement*

Form of Rayonier Incentive Stock Plan Non-Qualified Stock Option Award
Agreement*

Form of Rayonier Incentive Stock Plan Restricted Share Award Agreement*

Form of Rayonier Incentive Stock Plan Supplemental Terms Applicable to
the 2014 Equity Award Grant*

Rayonier Non-Equity Incentive Plan*
Form of Rayonier Outside Directors Compensation Program/Cash Deferral
Option Agreement™

Trust Agreement for the Rayonier Inc. Legal Resources Trust™®

Annual Corporate Bonus Program*

Location

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2003
Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8
to the Registrant’s December 31, 2003
Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s September 30, 2013
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2010 Form

10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7
to the Registrant’s December 31, 1997
Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2010 Form

10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2010 Form

10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form

10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.22 to the Registrant’s December 31,
2003 Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.23 to the Registrant’s December 31,
2003 Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.19 to the Registrant’s December 31,
2008 Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.21 to the Registrant’s December 31,
2013 Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.23 to the Registrant’s December 31,
2013 Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Appendix B
to the Registrant’s March 31, 2008 Proxy
Statement

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.24 to the Registrant’s December 31,
2006 Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s September 30, 2014
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.24 to the Registrant’s December 31,
2010 Form 10-K



Exhibit No.

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

Description

Master Shareholder Agreement in Relation to Matariki Forests, dated July

15, 2005, by and among SAS Trustee Corporation, Deutshe Asset
Management (Australia) Limited, Rayonier Canterbury LLC, Rayonier New
Zealand Limited, Cameron and Company Limited, Matariki Forests Australia
Pty Limited, Matariki Forestry Group and Matariki Forests

Deed of Amendment and Restatement of Shareholder Agreement, dated April
22,2014, by and among Rayonier Canterbury LLC, Waimarie Forests Pty
Limited, Matariki Forestry Group, Matariki Forests and Phaunos Timber
Fund Limited

Agreement for the Sale and Purchase of Assets, dated July 15, 2005, between
Rayonier New Zealand Limited, as seller, and Matariki Forests, as purchaser

Description of Rayonier 2012 Performance Share Award Program*

Description of Rayonier 2013 Performance Share Award Program*

Description of Rayonier 2014 Performance Share Award Program*

Election Form for the Performance Share Deferral Program

Amended and Restated Five Year Revolving Credit Agreement dated
October 11, 2012 among Rayonier Inc., Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. and
Rayonier Operating Company LLC, as Borrowers, Credit Suisse AG, as
Administrative Agent, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as Sole
Bookrunner, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and J.P.
Morgan Securities LLC, as Co-Syndication Agents, SunTrust Bank, US
Bank, N.A., TD Bank, N.A. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
Co-Documentation Agents and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as Joint Lead Arrangers

Incremental Assumption Agreement dated August 30, 2011 among Rayonier
Inc., Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., Rayonier Operating Company LLC and
Rayonier Forest Resources, L.P., as Borrowers, Credit Suisse AG as
Administrative Agent and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as Sole Lead
Arranger and Sole Bookrunner

Amended and Restated Guarantee Agreement dated October 11, 2012 among
Rayonier Inc., Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. and Rayonier Operating
Company LLC, as Guarantors, and Credit Suisse AG as Administrative
Agent

First Amendment and Restatement Agreement dated October 11, 2012
among Rayonier Inc., Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., Rayonier Forest
Resources, L.P. and Rayonier Operating Company LLC, as Borrowers, the
Consenting Lenders, the Non-Consenting Lenders, the Existing Lenders and
Regions Bank, Branch Banking and Trust Company, U.S. Bank, National
Association and TD Bank, N.A., as Assignees, and Credit Suisse AG, as
Administrative Agent

Term Credit Agreement dated December 17, 2012 among Rayonier Inc.,
Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. and Rayonier Operating Company LLC, as
Borrowers, COBANK, ACB, as Administrative Agent, COBANK, ACB, as
Sole Bookrunner, and COBANK, ACB and FARM CREDIT EAST, ACA, as
Joint Lead Arrangers

Compensation Arrangement for Lee M. Thomas and Paul G. Boynton*

Location

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.38 to the Registrant’s June 30, 2005
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.11 to the Registrant’s June 30, 2014
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.39 to the Registrant’s June 30, 2005
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.29 to the Registrant’s December 31,
2011 Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.29 to the Registrant’s December 31,
2012 Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.10 to the Registrant’s June 30, 2014
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2010 Form

10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s October 17,2012
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Registrant’s September 30, 2011
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Registrant’s October 17, 2012
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Registrant’s October 17,2012
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s December 19, 2012
Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to the
Registrant’s December 16, 2011 Form
8-K



Exhibit No.

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

12

21

23.1
24

Description

Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreement, dated as of July 29,
2010, between Rayonier Inc. and Rayonier Operating Company LLC relating
to the Restructuring.

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of September 16, 2011 between
Joshua Timberlands LLC, as Seller and Rayonier Inc., as Buyer

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of September 16, 2011 between
Oklahoma Timber, LLC, as Seller and Rayonier Inc., as Buyer

Summary of Bonus Award to Charles Margiotta*

Form of Transaction Bonus Agreement and Schedule of Executive Officer
Transaction Bonus Amounts*

Trust Agreement for the Rayonier Inc. Executive Severance Pay Plan*

Amendment to Trust Agreement for the Rayonier Inc. Executive Severance
Plan*

Amendment No. | to the Amended and Restated Five-Year Revolving Credit
Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2014, among Rayonier Inc., Rayonier TRS
Holdings Inc., Rayonier Operating Company LLC, the lenders party thereto
and Credit Suisse AG, as administrative agent

First Amendment Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2014, among Rayonier Inc.,
Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., Rayonier Operating Company LLC, the lenders
party thereto and CoBank ACB, as administrative agent, amending that
certain Credit Agreement among such parties dated as of December 17, 2012
Agreement between Rayonier Advanced Materials, Inc. and Paul G. Boynton
regarding special stock grant, dated May 28, 2014*

Transition Services Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2014, by and between
Rayonier Inc. and Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc.

Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2014, by and among Rayonier
Inc., Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc., Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. and
Rayonier A.M. Products Inc.

Employee Matters Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2014, by and between
Rayonier Inc. and Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc.

Intellectual Property Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2014, by and between
Rayonier Inc. and Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc.

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Rayonier Inc. and its Officers
and Directors*

Statements re computation of ratios

Subsidiaries of the registrant

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

Powers of attorney

Location

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2010 Form

10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Registrant’s September 30, 2011
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Registrant’s September 30, 2011
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2013 Form

10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s March 31, 2014 Form

10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.26 to the Registrant’s December 31,
2001 Form 10-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Registrant’s September 30, 2014
Form 10-Q

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s May 7, 2014 Form 8-
K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Registrant’s May 7, 2014 Form 8-
K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s May 30, 2014 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form
8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8
to the Registrant’s June 30, 2014 Form

10-Q

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith



Exhibit No.
31.1

31.2

32

101

Description Location

Chief Executive Officer’s Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Filed herewith
and pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Chief Financial Officer’s Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14-(a) Filed herewith
and pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Periodic Financial Reports Under Section 906 of the Furnished herewith
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The following financial information from our Annual Report on Form Filed herewith
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, formatted in Extensible

Business Reporting Language (“XBRL”), includes: (i) the Consolidated

Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended

December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012; (ii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets as

of December 31, 2014 and 2013; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Cash

Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012; and (iv) the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

* Management contract or compensatory plan.

** Certain schedules and similar attachments have been omitted from this filing pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K.
Rayonier will furnish supplemental copies of any such schedules or attachments to the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request.



EXHIBIT 12

RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(Unaudited, thousands of dollars)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Earnings:
Income from continuing Operations.............c.cceeeveveverereerennns $ 54443 §$ 105,843 $ 16,774 $ 58345 §$ 49325
Income tax benefit...........ccocveeiieieniiciiiceceee e (9,601) (35,685) (27,060) (48,273) (42,448)
Pre-tax income from continuing operations...............ccecueevue. 44,842 70,158 (10,286) 10,072 6,877
Add:

INLEIeSt EXPENSE ....vevvieireiieieciieie ettt 44,248 40,941 42,826 45,879 45,481

Interest factor attributable to rentals..............ccocovevvrevennnnnn. 301 540 424 461 354

Fixed Charges........ccocveieieiiiiniiiecieieieieee et 44,549 41,481 43,250 46,340 45,835
Earnings as adjusted...........cccoooveiiveiiiieeeeceeeeeeeeeeeea $ 89,391 $ 111,639 $ 32964 §$§ 56,412 $ 52,712
Fixed Charges: .......cocceveeeieriieieeieie et m m m m m
Ratio of earnings as adjusted to total fixed charges............... T 201 269 076 122 115

DEfiCIENCY ..ottt — — (10,286) — —



SUBSIDIARIES OF RAYONIER INC.

As of 12/31/2014

Name of Subsidiary

Matariki Forests

Matariki Forestry Group

Rayonier Forest Resources, L.P.
Rayonier Gulf Timberlands, LLC
Rayonier Louisiana Timberlands, LLC
Rayonier Mississippi Timberlands Company
Rayonier Operating Company LLC
Rayonier TRS Operating Company
Rayonier TRS Forest Operations, LLC
Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc.
TerraPointe LLC

Rayonier Atlantic Timber Company
Rayonier Washington Timber Company

EXHIBIT 21

State/Country of
Incorporation/Organization

New Zealand
New Zealand
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements of Rayonier Inc.:

1))
2)
3)
4)

5)
6)
7)

8)
9)

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-52857)
Registration Statement (Form S-4 Amendment No. 1 to No. 333—114858),
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333—129175) pertaining to the Rayonier 1994 Incentive Stock Plan,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333—129176) pertaining to the 2004 Rayonier Incentive Stock and
Management Bonus Plan,

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-143150),
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-148525),

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333—-152505) pertaining to the Rayonier Inc. Savings Plan for Non-
Bargaining Unit Hourly Employees at Certain Locations and Rayonier Investment and Savings Plan for Salaried
Employees.

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-162959),
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-167011), and

10) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-179784);

of our reports dated March 2, 2015, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Rayonier Inc. and
subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Rayonier Inc. and subsidiaries, included in this
Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Rayonier Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Jacksonville, FL
March 2, 2015



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, David L. Nunes, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared,

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 2, 2015

/s/ DAVID L. NUNES

David L. Nunes
President and Chief Executive Officer, Rayonier Inc.




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Mark McHugh, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared,

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 2, 2015

/s MARK MCHUGH

Mark McHugh
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer, Rayonier Inc.




EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATION

The undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that
to our knowledge:

1. The Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended December 31, 2014 (the
"Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

2. The information in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

March 2, 2015

/s/ DAVID L. NUNES /s’ MARK MCHUGH

David L. Nunes Mark McHugh

President and Chief Executive Officer, Senior Vice President and

Rayonier Inc. Chief Financial Officer, Rayonier Inc.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Rayonier and will be retained by
Rayonier and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Headquarters
Rayonier Inc.

225 Water Street, Suite 1400
Jacksonwville, FL 32202
904.357.9100
www.rayonier.com

Investor Relations

Mark D. McHugh

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Media Relations

Michael M. Bell

Director, Economic Development
and Public Affairs

Form 10-K

Additional copies of this report
and Rayonier’s report on Form10-K
are available without charge upon
written request to:

Rayonier Inc.

Investor Relations

225 Water Street, Suite 1400
Jacksonville, FL 32202

Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

Ernst & Young LLP

1 Independent Drive, Suite 1701
Jacksonville, FL 32202

Stock Information

Listed: New York Stock Exchange
Symbol: RYN

CUSIP: 754 907 103

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Rayonier Inc.

c/o Computershare

P.O. Box 30170

College Station, TX 77842-3170
800.659.0158

201.680.6578
www.computershare.com/investor

CORPORATE LEADERSHIP

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Richard D. Kincaid [A, C]
Chairman of the Board
President and Founder
BeCause Foundation

David L. Nunes
President and

Chief Executive Officer
Rayonier Inc.
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Co-founder and Principal
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Co-Founder and Chairman
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Former U.S. Senator
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David W. Oskin [C, N]
President
Four Winds Ventures
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